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PART I

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as @erhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersagthe “Operating Partnership,” (3) the
Company’s common stock as “Common Stock,” (4) tiper@ting Partnership’s common partnership inter@st<ommon Units,” and (5) the Operating
Partnership’s preferred partnership interests asféfred Units.”

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

The Company is a self-administered and self-managedy REIT that began operations through a prestear in 1978. Since the Company’s initial
public offering in 1994, we have evolved into ori¢h® largest owners and operators of suburbanenffndustrial and retail properties in the soustea anc
midwestern United States. At December 31, 2003, we:

« owned 465 i-service office, industrial and retail propertiesc@mpassing approximately 34.9 million rentableasquieet and 213 apartment un

« owned an interest (50.0% or less) in 65 in-seraffice and industrial properties, encompassimy@pmately 6.8 million rentable square feet and
418 apartment unit

* owned 1,305 acres of undeveloped land whichitalsie to develop approximately 14.3 million rertabquare feet of office, industrial and retail
space; ani

« were developing an additional seven propertieschviill encompass approximately 959,000 rentablesgfeet (including three propert
encompassing 357,000 rentable square feet thatengeaeloping with a 50.0% joint venture partn

The Company conducts substantially all of its atigig through, and substantially all of its intdeeis the properties are held directly or indingdty,
the Operating Partnership. The Company is thegaheral partner of the Operating Partnership. Atdbsber 31, 2003, the Company owned 100.0% of the
Preferred Units and 88.9% of the Common Units en@perating Partnership. Limited partners (inclgdiertain officers and directors of the Companyhow
the remaining Common Units. Holders of Common Units/ redeem them for the cash value of one shated€ompany’s Common Stock or, at the
Company’s option, one share of Common Stock. Tleéefred Units in the Operating Partnership wereddgo the Company in connection with the
Company’s three Preferred Stock offerings that oeclin 1997 and 1998.

The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 199 Dperating Partnership was formed in North Caaollh 1994. Our executive offices are
located at 3100 Smoketree Court, Suite 600, Ral®ghth Carolina 27604, and our telephone numbg18) 872-4924. We maintain offices in each of our
primary markets.

In addition to this Annual Report, we file quarjeaind special reports, proxy statements and ottfiermation with the SEC. All documents that we file
with the SEC are made available as soon as reagqguraisticable free of charge on our corporate vtepwhich is http://www.highwoods.com. The
information on this website is not and should n@tbnsidered part of this annual report on FornK Ehd is not incorporated by reference in this coent.
This website is only intended to be an inactiveuakreference. You may also read and copy anyrdeatithat we file at the public reference facifitef the
SEC at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.2%®Please call the SEC at (800) 732-0330 for &urihformation about the public reference facititie
These documents also may be accessed through @ie 8Ectronic data gathering, analysis and resisystem (“EDGAR?”) via electronic means, including
the SEC’s home page on the Internet (http://wwwg®g. In addition, since some of our securitiesleted on the New York Stock Exchange, you cand re
our SEC filings at the offices of the New York Stdexchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New Yorkd®0
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Customers
The following table sets forth information concagithe 20 largest customers of our wh-owned properties as of December 31, 2(

Annualized Percent of Total

Rental Rental Revenue Annualized Average

Square Remaining Least
Customer Feet @ Rental Revenuel?) Term in Years

(in thousands)

Federal Governmel 639,88. $ 13,971 3.3%% 6.€
AT&T 612,09: 11,49 2.74 3.6
PricewaterhouseCoope 297,79: 6,957 1.6€ 6.3
State of Georgi 359,56! 6,85¢ 1.64 5.4
Sara Lee 1,198,53 4,697 1.12 3.€
IBM 194,93 4,097 0.9¢ 1.c
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.87 4.2
Volvo 267,71 3,431 0.8z 5.5
Lockton Companie 132,71¢ 3,29¢ 0.7¢ 11.2
US Airways 295,04¢ 3,217 0.77 4.C
BB&T 241,07! 3,18¢ 0.7€ 7.2
ITC Deltacom@ 147,37¢ 2,947 0.7¢C 1.4
Hartford Insuranc: 129,64: 2,861 0.6€ 2.2
T-Mobile USA 120,56: 2,801 0.67 2.t
WorldCom and Affiliates 144,62: 2,781 0.67 2.5
Bank of Americe 146,84: 2,70 0.6E 5.3
lkon 181,36: 2,531 0.6C 3.8
Carlton Fields 95,77: 2,43k 0.5¢ 0.5
Ford Motor Compan' 125,98¢ 2,42¢ 0.5¢ 6.1
CHS Professional Servic 145,78: 2,38( 0.57 3.3
Total 572330 $ 88,72¢ 21.1% 4.7

@  Annualized Rental Revenue is December 2003 reevainue (base rent plus operating expense passyttgpmultiplied by 12.

@ ITC Deltacom (formerly Business Telecom) is located property that, as of December 31, 2003, deugontract for sale. Although no assurances
can be made, the sale is expected to close inrgief second quarter of 20C

Operating Strategy

Efficient, Customer Service-Oriented Organization . We provide a complete line of real estate sesvioeour tenants and third parties. We believe
that our in-house development, acquisition, com$itn management, leasing and property managereeritss allow us to respond to the many demands of
our existing and potential tenant base. We prowigtetenants with cost-effective services such dslbo-suit construction and space modificatiorglimding
tenant improvements and expansions. In additianbteadth of our capabilities and resources previdewith market information not generally avaiéalWe
believe that the operating efficiencies achievedugh our fully integrated organization also prevacompetitive advantage in setting our lease @aid
pricing other services.

Capital Recycling Program.Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitaagiin markets where we believe our extensival@&nowledge gives
us a competitive advantage over other real estateldpers and operators. Through our capital réay@rogram, we generally seek to:
e engage in the development of office and indusgriajects in our existing geographic markets, prilpam suburban business parl

* acquire selective suburban office and induspiiaperties in our existing geographic markets miegrbelow replacement cost that offer attractive
returns; anc

« selectively dispose of n-core properties or other properties in order totheeet proceeds for investments or other purp

4



Table of Contents

Our capital recycling activities benefit from oorchl market presence and knowledge. Our divisifioest have significant real estate experience in
their respective markets. Based on this experiemedelieve that we are in a better position tdueta capital recycling opportunities than manyof
competitors. In addition, our relationships withr tenants and those tenants at properties for wkechonduct third-party fee-based services may tead
development projects when these tenants seek resve sp

The following summarizes our capital recycling marg during the three years ended December 31, 2003:

2003 2002 2001
Office, Industrial and Retail Properties:
(rentable square feet in thousan
Dispositions (3,299 (2,270 (26¢)
Contributions to Joint Venture (297) — (11¢)
Developments Placed-Service 191 2,21¢ 1,351
Redevelopmer (227) (52 —
Acquisitions (including 1,319 from a joint ventuire2003) 1,42¢ — 72
Net Change of Ir-Service Properties (2,190 (10&) 1,033
Apartment Properties:
(in units)
Dispositions — — (1,672

Flexible Capital Structure . We are committed to maintaining a flexible capstaucture that: (1) allows growth through devet@mt and acquisition
opportunities; (2) promotes future earnings growti (3) provides access to the private and pebjigty and debt markets on favorable terms. Accofigi
we expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirensethrough a combination of any one or more of:

« cash flow from operating activitie

« borrowings under our unsecured and secured reypbriedit facilities;

¢ theissuance of unsecured de¢

e theissuance of secured de

« the issuance of equity securities by both the Campaad the Operating Partnerst

« the selective disposition of n-core properties or other properties; i

e private equity capital raised from unrelated joienture partners which may involve the sale artidoution of our wholly-owned properties,
development projects and development land to jentures formed with unrelated investc

Geographic Diversification. Since the Company’s initial public offering in98 we have significantly reduced our dependencanyrparticular
market. We initially owned a limited number of afi properties located in North Carolina, most ofchlwere in the Research Triangle. Today, includiog
various joint ventures, our portfolio consists paiity of office properties throughout the Southesasd retail and office properties in Kansas Citysdduri,
including one significant mixed retail and officeoperty.

Competition

Our properties compete for tenants with similapgmies located in our markets primarily on theidaslocation, rent, services provided and the
design and condition of the facilities. We also pete with other REITS, financial institutions, pemsfunds, partnerships, individual investors atfteos
when attempting to acquire, develop and operategrties.

Employees
As of December 31, 2003, the Company employed &Fdops.
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Risk Factors

An investment in our equity and debt securitieolags various risks. All investors should carefudbnsider the following risk factors in conjuncti
with the other information contained in this Ann&aport before trading in our securities. If anyradse risks actually occur, our business, opeya#aults,
prospects and financial condition could be harmed.

Our Performance is Subject to Risks Associated witReal Estate Investment We are a real estate company that derives masirahcome from
the ownership and operation of our properties. &laee a number of factors that may adversely affecincome that our properties generate, inclutieg
following:

¢ Economic Downturns. Downturns in the national economy, particulanyhe Southeast, generally will negatively impaet demand for oL
properties

«  Oversupply of Space. An oversupply of space in our markets would tgfliccause rental rates and occupancies to decfin&ing it more
difficult for us to lease space at attractive rerates.

«  Competitive Properties. If our properties are not as attractive to tesdimt terms of rents, services or location) as mopineperties that are
competitive with ours, we could lose tenants tathproperties or suffer lower rental ra

¢ Renovation Costs. In order to maintain the quality of our propestand successfully compete against other propevieperiodically have to
spend money to maintain, repair and renovate mpepties

e Customer Risk. Our performance depends on our ability to colteat from our customers. While no customer inantfolio currently accounts
for more than 3.4% of our annualized rental reveoue financial position may be adversely affeddgdinancial difficulties experienced by a
major customer, or by a number of smaller custoniectuding bankruptcies, insolvencies or genembiaturns in busines

* Reletting Costs. As leases expire, we try to either relet the sga@an existing customer or attract a new custdmeccupy the space. In either
case, we likely will incur significant costs in theocess, including potentially substantial tenemgrovement expense. In addition, if market rents
have declined since the time the expiring leaseeméared into, the terms of any new lease sighketyliwill not be as favorable to us as the terms
of the expiring lease, thereby reducing the incemmed from that spac

¢ Regulatory Costs. There are a number of government regulationsydineg zoning, tax and accessibility laws that gpplthe ownership and
operation of office buildings. Compliance with kg and newly adopted regulations may requireouspend a significant amount of money on
our properties

« Fixed Nature of Costs. Most of the costs associated with owning and atp®g our properties are not necessarily reducezhveircumstances
such as market factors and competition cause atiedun rental revenues from the prope

*  Environmental Problems. Federal, state and local laws and regulatiorading to the protection of the environment may fexja current or
previous owner or operator of real property to stigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substargastroleum product releases at the property.
The clean up can be costly. The presence of arréaib clean up contamination may adversely affectability to sell or lease a property or to
borrow funds using a property as collate

«  Competition . A number of other major real estate investorswignificant capital compete with us. These cortqstinclude publicl-traded
REITs, private REITSs, private real estate investnd private institutional investment funi
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Future acquisitions and development activities mafail to perform in accordance with our expectationsand may require development and
renovation costs exceeding our estimaten the normal course of business, we typically eat# potential acquisitions, enter into non-bindetters of
intent, and may, at any time, enter into contréz@cquire additional properties. However, changiragket conditions, including competition from athe
may diminish our opportunities for making attraetacquisitions. Once made, our investments maydaierform in accordance with our expectations. In
addition, the renovation and improvement costsneeriin bringing an acquired property up to maskahdards may exceed our estimates. Although we
anticipate financing future acquisitions and renimre through a combination of advances under exslving loans and other forms of secured or unsetu
financing, no assurance can be given that we wilelthe financial resources to make suitable aitiguis or renovations.

In addition to acquisitions, we periodically corsidleveloping and constructing properties. Risks@ated with development and construction
activities include:

« the unavailability of favorable financin

e construction costs exceeding original estime

« construction and lea-up delays resulting in increased debt service esgpand construction costs; ¢

« insufficient occupancy rates and rents at a newippleted property causing a property to be unabolt

If new developments are financed through constadtians, there is a risk that, upon completionasfstruction, permanent financing for newly
developed properties may not be available or magvadable only on disadvantageous terms. Developm&ivities are also subject to risks relatingto
inability to obtain, or delays in obtaining, allagssary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy dneraequired governmental and utility company
authorizations.

Because holders of our Common Units, including sonaf our officers and directors, may suffer adverséax consequences upon the sale of some
of our properties, it is possible that the Companynay sometimes make decisions that are not in yourebt interest.Holders of Common Units may
suffer adverse tax consequences upon the Compsalg ®f certain properties. Therefore, holdersah@on Units, including certain of our officers and
directors, may have different objectives regardimgappropriate pricing and timing of a propergese. Although we are the sole general partnenef t
Operating Partnership and have the exclusive aitigitorsell all of our individual wholly-owned prepties, officers and directors who hold Common §nit
may influence us not to sell certain propertiesa¥such sale might be financially advantageoustézkholders or to enter into tax deferred exckangth
the proceeds of such sales when such a reinvestnight not otherwise be in the best interests ef@ompany.

The success of our joint venture activity dependspon our ability to work effectively with financiall y sound partners.Instead of owning
properties directly, we have in some cases investedl may continue to invest, as a partner or aecdrer. Under certain circumstances, this type of
investment may involve risks not otherwise presiatuding the possibility that a partner or co-tterr might become bankrupt or that a partner er co
venturer might have business interests or goatmsistent with ours. Also, such a partner or colwen may take action contrary to our instructions
requests or contrary to provisions in our jointtuee agreements that could harm us, including jebpag our qualification as a REIT.

Our insurance coverage on our properties may be irdequate.We carry comprehensive insurance on all of our @rigs, including insurance for
liability, fire and flood. Insurance companies amtly, however, limit coverage against certain g/pelosses, such as losses due to terroristraatsed
windstorms and toxic mold. Thus we may not haverasce coverage against certain types of losseerahere may be decreases in the limits of instegan
available. Should an uninsured loss or a loss @@sxof our insured limits occur, we could loseoak portion of the capital we have invested pr@perty or
properties, as well as the anticipated future raednom the property or properties. If any of ouperties were to experience a catastrophic lossyid
disrupt our operations, delay revenue and resudtriie expenses to repair or rebuild the prop&teh events could adversely affect our abilityag p
dividends to our stockholders. Our existing insaeapolicies expire on June 30, 2004. We anticipattewing or replacing these coverages at that time.
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Our use of debt to finance our operations could hava material adverse effect on our cash flow and dity to make distributions. We are subject
to risks normally associated with debt financing;tsas the insufficiency of cash flow to meet reegiipayment obligations, difficulty in complying ti
financial ratios and other covenants and the iitghid refinance existing indebtedness. Approxirha$i 3.1 million of principal payments on our exisf
long-term debt is due in 2004. If we fail to complith the financial ratios and other covenantsluding our revolving loan, we would likely not bbla to
borrow any further amounts under the revolving |oglnich could adversely affect our ability to fuadr operations, and our lenders could acceleratelabt
outstanding thereunder. If our debt cannot be pafthanced or extended at maturity, in additionto failure to repay our debt, we may not be ableay
dividends to stockholders at expected levels atlaFurthermore, if any refinancing is done ath@ginterest rates, the increased interest expansd
adversely affect our cash flow and ability to payidends to stockholders. Any such refinancing daalko impose tighter financial ratios and otharecants
that could restrict our ability to take actionsttbauld otherwise be in our stockholders’ bestriggg such as funding new development activity, ingak
opportunistic acquisitions, repurchasing our s¢i@srior paying distributions. If we do not meet mwrtgage financing obligations, any propertiesiseg
such indebtedness could be foreclosed on, whicHdlmave a material adverse effect on our cash #od/ability to make distributions.

We may be subject to taxation as a regular corpor&n if we fail to maintain our REIT status . Our failure to qualify as a REIT would have ses
adverse consequences to our stockholders. Mameattuirements for taxation as a REIT, however haghly technical and complex. The determination
that we are a REIT requires an analysis of varfaatial matters and circumstances that may nodtiaéiyt within our control. For example, to qualig a
REIT, at least 95.0% of our gross income must ctrora certain sources that are itemized in the Riakllaws. We are also required to distribute to
stockholders at least 90.0% of our REIT taxableiine, excluding capital gains. The fact that we foidassets through the Operating Partnershiptand i
subsidiaries further complicates the applicatiothefREIT requirements. Even a technical or inavemistake could jeopardize our REIT status.
Furthermore, Congress and the IRS might changtathlaws and regulations, and the courts mightisgw rulings that make it more difficult, or
impossible, for us to remain qualified as a REIT.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would be sulijéz federal income tax at regular corporate radso, unless the IRS granted us relief under gerta
statutory provisions, we would remain disqualifeeda REIT for four years following the year wefffigled to qualify. If we failed to qualify as aHRT, we
would have to pay significant income taxes and wahérefore have less cash available for investsn@nto pay dividends to stockholders. This woikdly
have a significant adverse effect on the valueuofsecurities. In addition, we would no longer bguired to pay dividends to stockholders.

Because provisions contained in Maryland law, ourltarter and our bylaws may have an anti-takeover effct, investors may be prevented from
receiving a “control premium” for their shares. Provisions contained in our charter and bylawsyelsas Maryland general corporation law, may hant-
takeover effects that delay, defer or prevent adakr attempt, and thereby prevent stockholders fexeiving a “control premium” for their sharesrF
example, these provisions may defer or preventaieoffers for our common stock or purchases ofddiigcks of our common stock, thus limiting the
opportunities for our stockholders to receive axpeen for their common stock over then-prevailingrked prices. These provisions include the following

e Ownership limit . Our charter prohibits direct or constructive ovatép by any person of more than 9.8% of our ontiitey capital stock. Any
attempt to own or transfer shares of our capitadistn excess of the ownership limit without th@sent of our Board of Directors will be vo

«  Preferred stock. Our charter authorizes our Board of Directorissue preferred stock in one or more classes aastéblish the preferences and
rights of any class of preferred stock issued. &tetions can be taken without soliciting stockbolpproval. The issuance of preferred stock
could have the effect of delaying or preventing sone from taking control of us, even if a changeadntrol were in our stockholders’ best
interests

«  Staggered board. Our Board of Directors is divided into three elas. As a result each director generally servea foree-year term. This
staggering of our Board may discourage offers fooumake an acquisition of us more difficult, evamen an acquisition is in the best interest of
our stockholders
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« Maryland control share acquisition statute. Maryland law limits the voting rights of “contrshares” of a corporation in the event of a “cantro
share acquisitio”

« Maryland unsolicited takeover statute.Under Maryland law, our Board of Directors couldptivarious an-takeover provisions without tt
consent of stockholders. The adoption of such nreaszould discourage offers for us or make an aagpn of us more difficult, even when an
acquisition is in the best interest of our stockleos.

« Anti-Takeover Protections of Operating Partnership Agrement. Upon a change in control of the Company, thetéohpartnership agreement
of the Operating Partnership contains provisio@as téquire certain acquirors to maintain an UPR&fTicture with terms at least as favorable to
the limited partners as are currently in place.iRstance, the acquiror would be required to prestre limited partner’s right to continue to hold
tax-deferred partnership interests that are redekenfiar capital stock of the acquiror. These primris may make a change of control transaction
involving the Company more complicated and theefaight limit the possibility of such a transactimerurring, even if such a transaction would
be in the best interest of the Comp’'s stockholders

« Dilutive Effect of Shareholders Rights Plan. We currently have in effect a shareholder rigités pursuant to which our existing shareholders
would have the ability to acquire additional comnstock at a significant discount in the event aperor group attempts to acquire us on tern
which our current board does not approve. Thesegiare designed to deter a hostile takeover bg@sing the takeover cost. As a result, such
rights could discourage offers for us or make aquaition of us more difficult, even when an acdfios is in the best interest of our stockholders.
The rights plan should not interfere with any mermyeother business combination the Board of Daecaipproves since we may generally
terminate the plan at any time at nominal ¢
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
General

As of December 31, 2003, we owned 46-service office, industrial and retail propertiesc@mpassing approximately 34.9 million rentableasq
feet, and 213 apartment units. The following tadgts forth information about our wholly-owned imdee properties at December 31, 2003:

Percentage of Annualized Rental Revenué

Rentable Oceupancy
Market Square Feet Office @ Industrial Retail Total
Research Triangl® 4,706,001 80.£% 15.7% 0.2% — 15.%%
Atlanta 6,919,00! 78.4 11.t 3.2 — 14.¢
Tampa 4,441,001 63.4@ 13.C — — 13.C
Kansas City 2,433,000 92.7 4.1 — 8.6% 12.7
Nashville 2,869,00! 91.t 11.2 — — 11.2
Piedmont Triad® 6,688,001 90.C 6.4 4.C — 10.4
Richmond 1,852,001 91.t 7.1 — — 7.1
Charlotte 1,655,00! 79.€ 4.4 0.3 — 4.7
Memphis 1,216,001 81.C 4.€ — — 4.€
Greenville 1,318,00! 80.2 3.7 0.1 — 3.
Columbia 426,00( 57.¢ 0.8 — — 0.8
Orlando 299,00( 44 ¢ 0.€ — — 0.€
Other 100,00( 64.1 0.4 — — 0.4
Total 34,922,00 81.59% O 83.5% 7.%% 8.6% 100.(%

@  Annualized Rental Revenue is December 2003 reet@nue (base rent plus operating expense pasgtigpmultiplied by 12.
@ Substantially all of our office properties are ltezhin suburban areas.
®) Includes properties located in the Raleigh/Durhastrapolitan area.

“  Tampa’'s occupancy would be 77.8% if the 816,00@mxtoot Highwoods Preserve campus where Intern{#disldCom) rejected its lease was
excluded

©) Excludes basement space of 418,000 square feet.
) Includes properties located in the Greensboro/Wim&alem metropolitan area.

m  Total occupancy would have been 83.4% if the 81® tfuare foot Highwoods Preserve campus wherentetdin (WorldCom) rejected its lease was
excluded
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The following table sets forth information about etholly-owned in-service and development propertie of December 31, 2003 and 2002:

December 31, 200: December 31, 200
Percent Percent
Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec Square Feet Pre-Leasec
In-Service:
Office 25,303,000 79.2% 25,342,000 82.7% M
Industrial 8,092,00! 85.7 10,242,00 86.2
Retail@ 1,527,001 96.2 1,528,001 97.C
Total or Weighted Average 34,922,00 81.5% 37,112,00 84.(% ®
Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized
Office 140,00( 36.(% 231,00( 61.2%
Industrial — — 60,00( 50.C
Total or Weighted Average 140,00( 36.(% 291,00( 59.(%
In Process
Office 112,00( 100.(% 40,00( 0.C%
Industrial 350,00( 100.C — —
Total or Weighted Average 462,00( 100.% 40,00( 0.C%
Total:
Office 25,555,000 25,613,000
Industrial 8,442,001 10,302,00
Retail@ 1,527,001 1,528,001
Total or Weighted Average 35,524,00 37,443,00

@  The occupancy percentages have been reduced sslteofehe rejection of the 816,000 square foterimedia (WorldCom) lease on December 31,
2002. The impact of the rejection on Office occugyaand Total occupancy in 2002 was 3.2% and 2.2%pactively

@ Excludes basement space of 418,000 square feet.

Development Land

We estimate that we can develop approximately aliion square feet of office, industrial and réspace on our whollpwned development land. /
of this development land is zoned and availableffice, industrial or retail development, substalhy all of which has utility infrastructure alrdg in place.
We believe that our commercially zoned and unenaretbland in existing business parks gives us aldpment advantage over other commercial real
estate development companies in many of our marRetsfuture development, however, is dependertherdemand for office, industrial or retail space i
the area, the availability of favorable financinglather factors, and no assurance can be giveéanlyaconstruction will take place on the develophiand.
In addition, if construction is undertaken on tlewelopment land, we will be subject to the risksoagated with construction activities, including ttisk that
occupancy rates and rents at a newly completecepgomay not be sufficient to make the propertyfipaible, construction costs may exceed original
estimates and construction and lease-up may noorio@leted on schedule, resulting in increased siefyice expense and construction expense. We reay al
dispose of certain parcels of development landdbatot meet our development criteria and we magld@ properties other than office, industrial aethil
on certain parcels with unrelated joint venturetipans.
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As of December 31, 2003, we owned an interest ¢o@0less) in 65 in-service office and industriedgeerties, encompassing approximately 6.8
million rentable square feet and 418 apartmensufiite following table sets forth information abthse properties at December 31, 2003:

Rentable

Square Fee Occupancy
Market
Des Moines 2,245,001 95.9% ©®
Orlando 1,764,00! 85.¢
Atlanta 650,00( 86.7
Research Triangl 455,00( 98.7
Kansas City 427,00( 87.¢
Piedmont Triac 364,00( 100.(
Tampa 205,00( 92.1
Charlotte 148,00( 100.(
Richmond 412,00( 99.C
Other 110,00( 100.(
Total 6,780,00! 92.2%

Percentage of Annualized Revenue — Highwoods’ Sha@nly @

Office Industrial Retail
Multi -Family Total
33.5% 4.2% 1.2% 4.3% 43.2%
17.¢ — — — 17.¢
11.€ — — — 11.€
4.2 — — — 4.2
4.2 — — — 4.2
4.7 — — — 4.7
2.5 — — — 2E
1.C — — — 1.
9.¢ — — — 9.c
0.€ — — — 0.€
90.2% 4.2% 1.2% 4.3% 100.(%

@  Annualized Rental Revenue is December 2003 reet@nue (base rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12

@ Excludes Des Moines’ apartment units.

©) Excludes Des Moines’ apartment occupancy percertbg§6.0%.
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Lease Expirations

The following tables set forth scheduled leaseratioins for existing leases at our wh-owned properties (excluding apartment units) d3exfembe
31, 2003. The table includes the effects of anlyeanewals exercised by tenants as of Decembe2®13.

Office Properties:

Lease Expiring®

2004®)
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereaftel

Industrial Properties:

Lease Expiring®

2004@
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
Thereaftel

Percent of
Percentage Average Annualized
of Leased Annualized Annual Rental
Square Rental Revenue
Footage Rental Rate Per Represente(
SRL?Q::?:'Zet Representes Revenue Square
Squbject to by Expiring Under Foot for by Expiring
Expiring Expiring Expirations
Leases Leases Leases® Leases?)
($ in thousands)
2,803,871 14.(% $51,01C $ 18.1¢ 14.€%
3,538,101 17.€ 63,79( 18.0¢ 18.1
3,095,69 15.4 56,91 18.3¢ 16.Z
1,779,65! 8.C 29,63% 16.6¢ 8.5
3,117,53. 15.8 48,55¢ 15.5¢ 13.€
1,802,30: 9.C 28,59¢ 15.87% 8.2
1,243,67 6.2 24,50( 19.7C 7.C
1,092,04 54 20,81¢ 19.0¢ 5.¢
522,04. 2.€ 10,73¢ 20.5% 3.1
548,87¢ 2.7 9,26¢ 16.8¢ 2.€
543,88 2.7 6,191 11.3¢ 1.8
20,087,70. 100.(% $350,01: $ 17.4: 100.(%
Percent of
Percentage Average Annualized
og:ﬁi‘gd Annualized Annual Rental
Rental Revenue
Rentable Footage Rental Rate Per Represente(
Sg::tre Represente Revenue Square
. - Under Foot for by Expiring
Slzlgﬁ?r:g}o by Expiring Expiring Expirations
Leases Leases Leases® Leases?)
($ in thousands)
1,652,55. 23.8% $ 7,97( $ 4.8 24.2%
1,289,76! 18.€ 5,92¢ 4.5¢ 18.C
887,00° 12.¢ 4,44, 5.01 13t
1,677,69 24.2 7,28: 4.34 22.2
384,01. 5.8 1,862 4.8t 5.7
380,34¢ 5.8 2,40¢ 6.35 7.3
104,57( 1.t 43z 413 1.3
66,34: 1.C 35¢€ 5.37 1.1
44,44 0.€ 261 5.87 0.8
102,38 1.t 61z 5.9¢ 1.¢
348,39 5.C 1,301 3.7¢ 4.C
6,937,511 100.(% $ 32,85¢ $ 4.7/ 100.(%

@ 2004 and beyond expirations that have been renaveereflected based on the renewal’s expiratioa.dat

@  Annualized Rental Revenue is December 2003 reet@nue (base rent plus operating expense pasgtigpmultiplied by 12.

@) Includes 96,000 square feet of leases that arenoorgh to month basis or 0.4% of total annualizacnue

@ Includes 165,000 square feet of leases that agernanth to month basis or 0.2% of total annualizsenue.
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Retail Properties:

Lease Expiring®

2004®

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

Thereaftel

Total:

Lease Expiring®

2004@®

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

Thereaftel

Percentage Average ,’-'\:)ner:ﬁzl?igtfi
Og:ﬁ:?:d Annualized ,;nm:all RRental
Rseqnjgt)ée Re':p)org;aégnie( Rental Ra?g ger Re;r\éesgﬁ?e(
Feet RSXSQ? ¢ l:Sch‘outE}:)er by Expiring
SE”ijﬁiC; to by Expiring Expiring Expirations
Lgase% Leases Leases® Leases?
($ in thousands)
201,84¢ 13.7% $ 2,69 $ 13.3¢ 7.5%
152,28( 10.£ 2,92¢ 19.2: 8.2
91,82: 6.2 2,23¢ 24.3¢ 6.2
92,81 6.2 2,39( 25.7¢ 6.7
144,70( 9.¢ 4,58¢ 31.6¢ 12.¢
169,80¢ 11.€ 4,881 28.7¢ 13.€
85,38t 5.€ 2,34 27.4¢ 6.5
57,78 3. 1,86¢ 32.3¢ 5.2
97,13: 6.€ 2,23¢ 22.9¢ 6.2
132,37 9.C 3,35¢ 25.3¢ 9.3
242,08 16.5 6,372 26.32 17.€
1,468,03! 100.(% $ 35,89: $ 24.4¢ 100.(%
Percentage Average ,’-'\:)ner:ﬁzl?igtfi
of Leased Annualized Annual Rental
Fsc?c?tzrgee Rental Revenue
Rentable Represente: RRental RSate Per Represente(
Square Feet - Srﬁg?e Fc)c‘outf}:)er by Expiring
SEubeﬁiC; to by Expiring Expiring Expirations
Lgaseg Leases Leases® Leases®
($ in thousands)
4,658,27. 16.2% $ 61,677 $ 13.2¢ 14.7%
4,980,141 17.4 72,64¢ 14.5¢ 17.c
4,074,52 14.c 63,597 15.61 15.2
3,550,16! 12.5 39,31( 11.0% 9.4
3,646,24. 12.¢ 55,00¢ 15.0¢ 13.1
2,352,46! 8.2 35,88¢ 15.2¢ 8.€
1,433,63. 5.C 27,27 19.0: 6.5
1,216,17. 4.2 23,04 18.9¢ 5.t
663,62: 2.2 13,23: 19.9¢ 3.2
783,64( 2.8 13,23 16.8¢ 3.2
1,134,35 4.C 13,86¢ 12.2:2 3.3
28,493,24 100.(% $418,76: $ 14.7(C 100.(%

2004 and beyond expirations that have been renaveeckflected based on the renewal’s expiratioa.dat

Annualized Rental Revenue is December 2003 reat&nue (base rent plus operating expense pasgtigpmultiplied by 12.

Includes 34,000 square feet of leases that arenoorgh to month basis or 0.1% of total annualizagnue.

Includes 295,000 square feet of leases that aeemonth to month basis or 0.7% of total annualiss@nue.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a party to a variety of legal proceedingsray in the ordinary course of our business. Webe that we are adequately covered by insur:
and indemnification agreements. Accordingly, nohsuzh proceedings are expected to have a matehalrse effect on our business, financial condiod
results of operations.

We incurred $2.7 million in year ended DecemberZ0D2 for litigation expense related to variouslggoceedings from previously completed
mergers and acquisitions. These claims were feltifexl by early 2003.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The following table sets forth information with pest to our executive officer

Name

Ronald P. Gibso

Edward J. Fritscl

Gene H. Anderso

Michael F. Beale

Michael E. Harris

Carman J. Liuzz:

Mack D. Pridgen Il

Terry L. Steven:

Age

59

45

58

50

54

43

54

55

Position and Background

Director and Chief Executive Office
Mr. Gibson is one of our founders and served apoeaiecessor’'s managing partner since its formatid®78. Mr. Gibson
served as President until December 2(

Director, President and Chief Operating Offic
Mr. Fritsch joined us in 1982 and was a partneswfpredecessor. Mr. Fritsch became President aemDber 2002

Director and Senior Vice Preside
Mr. Anderson manages the operations of our Gegngiperties and the Piedmont Triad division of Na#rolina. Mr.
Anderson was the founder and president of AndelPsoperties, Inc. prior to its merger with the Comy:

Senior Vice Presiden
Mr. Beale is responsible for our operations in iélar Prior to joining us in 2000, Mr. Beale wasevigresident of Koge
Equity, Inc.

Senior Vice Presiden

Mr. Harris is responsible for our operations in iessee, Missouri, Kansas and Charlotte. Mr. Harais executive vice
president of Crocker Realty Trust prior to its mergith us. Before joining Crocker Realty Trust,.Miarris served as
senior vice president, general counsel and chmefitial officer of Towermarc Corporation, a privgtewned real estate
development firm. Mr. Harris is a member of the Advy Board of Directors at SouthTrust Bank of Mdrispand Allen &
Hoshall, Inc.

Vice President of Investments and Strategic Anal'

Mr. Liuzzo served as our vice president, chieffiicial officer and treasurer from 1994 until Decem2@03. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Liuzzo was vice president and chief accimgnofficer for Boddie-Noell Enterprises, Inc. aBdddie-Noell
Restaurant Properties, Inc. Mr. Liuzzo is a cedfpublic accountan

Vice President, General Counsel and Secre
Prior to joining us in 1997, Mr. Pridgen was a partwith Smith Helms Mulliss & Moore, L.L.P. andrto that a partner
with Arthur Andersen & Co. Mr. Pridgen is an atteyrand a certified public accounta

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and TreasL

Prior to joining us in December 2003, Mr. Steversswxecutive vice president, chief financial offiaad trustee for Crown
American Realty Trust, a public company. Beforaijog Crown American Realty Trust, Mr. Stevens wisalor of
financial systems development at AlliedSignal, llaclarge multi-national manufacturer. Mr. Steveras also an audit
partner with Price Waterhouse. Mr. Stevens curyesgtves as trustee, chairman of the Audit Comméated member of the
Compensation Committee of First Potomac RealtyfTeupublic company. Mr. Stevens is a certifiedljgudccountant
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The Common Stock has been traded on the New YatkSExchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “HIW” sindte Company'’s initial public offering.
The following table sets forth the quarterly higiddow stock prices per share reported on the N¥8Ehe quarters indicated and the dividends paid p
share during such quarter.

2003 2002
Dividend Dividend

Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $22.3t  $20.0C $ .58t $28.3( $25.3¢ $ .58t
June 3( 22.71 20.17 42t 29.3¢ 26.0( .58t
September 3 23.9i 22.31 A28 26.6¢ 23.0( .58t
December 3: 26.0z 24.3:2 42t 23.3( 18.7( .58t

On February 25, 2004, the last reported stock mricke Common Stock on the NYSE was $26.00 peresiiad the Company had 1,455 stockholders
of record.

The Company intends to continue to pay quarteriddinds to holders of shares of Common Stock aiden® of Common Units. Future dividend
payments by the Company will be at the discretibtihe Board of Directors and will depend on theuatfunds from operations of the Company, its firiah
condition, capital requirements, the annual divitleequirements under the REIT provisions of therimal Revenue Code and such other factors as thelBo
of Directors deems relevant. See “Management’sudision and Analysis of Financial Condition and Rssaf Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources
—Stockholder Dividends.”

During 2003, the Company’s Common Stock dividemdaléd $1.86 per share, $1.18 of which represemeterdn of capital for income tax purposes.
The minimum dividend per share of Common Stock iregto maintain REIT status (excluding any netigdgains) was approximately $0.07 per share in
2003 and $0.90 per share in 2002.

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and StaothBse Plan under which holders of Common Stogketext to automatically reinvest their
dividends in additional shares of Common Stockmag make optional cash payments for additionaleshaf Common Stock. The Company may issue
additional shares of Common Stock or repurchaser@mmiStock in the open market for purposes of gatigfits obligations under the Dividend
Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan.

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plati fortive employees. At the end of each threetmoffering period, each participastaccoun
balance is applied to acquire shares of Commork&tba cost that is calculated at 85.0% of the fovi¢he average closing price on the NYSE on e f
consecutive days preceding the first day of thetquar the five days preceding the last day ofgharter. A participant may contribute up to 25.68their
pay. During 2003, employees purchased 50,812 sb&@smmon Stock under the Employee Stock PurcRése

The section under the heading entitled “Equity Cengation Plan Information” of the Proxy Statemerihcorporated herein by reference.

During the three months ended December 31, 20@3Ctmpany issued 257,508 shares of Common Stduiders of Common Units in the Operat
Partnership upon the redemption of such CommonrsUmiprivate offerings pursuant to Section 4(2)h&f Securities Act. Each of the holders of the Camm
Units was an accredited investor under Rule 5ah@®Securities Act. The Company has registerededale of such shares under the Securities Act.

17



Table of Contents

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financiadl @perating information for the Company as of fordhe years ended December 31, 2003, 2
2001, 2000 and 1999 ($ in thousands, except pee simounts):

Year Ended December 31

20031 2002®) 20010 2000 19991
Rental revenue $ 422,06: $ 433,06! $ 449,92¢ $ 490,37¢ $ 531,03!
Operating expenses
Rental propert 147,38( 137,71 139,18( 145,49¢ 162,31
Depreciation and amortizatic 129,22} 121,74¢ 109,14t 109,21 105,86¢
General and administrative (includes $3,700 nonrey
compensation expense in 20l 24,81°¢ 24,57¢ 21,39( 21,84 22,33¢
Litigation expenst — 2,70C — — —
Cost of unsuccessful transactic — — — — 1,50(
Total operating expens 301,42( 286,73 269,71t 276,55: 292,01°
Interest expens 114,27: 110,90! 107,49¢ 115,81¢ 124,47!
Interest and other incon 16,66¢ 21,62¢ 33,33¢ 22,84« 17,76¢
Income before gain on disposition of land and dispsition and
impairment of depreciable assets, minority interesand
discontinued operations 23,031 57,04’ 106,05! 120,84¢ 132,30°
Gain on disposition of land and disposition andamment of
depreciable assets, r 3,77¢ 11,39¢ 16,17: 4,65¢ 8,67¢
Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations 26,81: 68,44: 122,22 125,50¢ 140,98t
Minority interest (3,009 (8,296 (15,500 (15,63)) (18,44()
Income from continuing operations 23,81( 60,14" 106,72° 109,87 122,54¢
Discontinued operations, net of minority inter 31,88t 33,31« 24,48¢ 23,61( 15,547
Net income 55,69t 93,46 131,21: 133,48 138,09:
Dividends on preferred stox (30,857 (30,85 (31,500 (32,580 (32,58()
Net income available for common stockholder $ 24,84: $ 62,60¢ $ 99,71 $ 100,90° $ 105,51
Net (loss)/income per common shar- basic:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatic $ 01y % 0.5¢ $ 1.3¢ $ 1.31 $ 1.4¢€
Net income $ 0.47 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.84 $ 1.7C $ 1.72
Net (loss)/income per common shar- diluted:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatic $ 01y % 0.5¢ $ 1.3¢ $ 1.3C $ 1.4¢€
Net income $ 0.47 $ 1.17 $ 1.8¢ $ 1.7¢C $ 1.71
Dividends declared per common shar: $ 1.8¢€ $ 2.3¢ $ 2.31 $ 2.2t $ 2.1¢
Balance Sheet Data
Net real estate ass¢ $ 2,982,30; $ 2,966,26: $ 3,214,75: $ 3,062,98: $ 3,609,07.
Total asset $ 3,326,80! $ 3,395,36! $ 3,648,28! $ 3,701,60: $ 4,016,19
Total mortgages and notes paya $ 1,558,75! $ 1,528,721 $ 1,719,231 $ 1,587,01! $ 1,766,17
Cumulative redeemable preferred she $ 377,44! $ 377,44! $ 377,44! $ 397,50( $ 397,50(
Other Data:
Cash flows provided by operating activit $ 153,25: $ 201,10 $ 248,41! $ 251,68¢ $ 225,27¢
Cash flows provided by/(used in) investing actes $ 65,51 $ 195,58 $ (139,64) $ 286,21 $ 160,36:
Cash flows used in financing activiti $ (211,219 $ (386,25) $ (212,979 $ (467,61) $ (382,58)
Funds from operations after minority inter@st $ 133,12 $ 162,40! $ 205,21t $ 214,35¢ $ 203,81(
Number of wholl-owned ir-service propertie 46E 49: 49¢ 492 563
Total rentable square fe 34,922,00 37,112,00 37,221,00 36,183,00 38,976,00

@ In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement No."Ad4ounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets” (“SFAS 144") which requires
assets classified as held for sale or sold asudt ifdisposal activities initiated subsequeniamuary 1, 2002 to be reported as discontinuecatipes.
Thus, in all periods presented above, we havessifiad the operations and/or gain/(loss) from désp of those properties to discontinued operations
and those long-lived assets sold or held for ssalesult of disposal activities initiated priordanuary 1, 2002 remain classified within continuing
operations
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@  We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) iea@f several indicators of the performance of antgdREIT. FFO can facilitate comparisons of
operating performance between periods and betwiben REITs because it excludes factors, such agdgion, amortization and gains and losses
from sales of real estate assets, which are basadtwrical cost and may be of limited relevantevaluating current performance. FFO as disclosed
by other REITs may not be comparable to our catimriaof FFO. FFO is a non-GAAP financial measurd does not represent net income or cash
flows from operating, investing or financing acties as defined by GAAP. It should not be considere an alternative to net income as an indicdtor o
our operating performance or to cash flows as asareeof liquidity. For a reconciliation of FFO tetrincome, see “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems— Funds from Operations and Cash Available for Chstibn”

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion and anslysconjunction with the accompanying consoliddieancial statements and related nc
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on FobAK1

D ISCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD -L OOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report omd.0-K may contain forwartboking statements. Such statements include, iticpdar, statemen
about our plans, strategies and prospects undeséistion and under the heading “Business”. Youaeamtify forward-looking statements by our use of

n o ”ow " ou ” o«

forward-looking terminology such as “may”, “will*expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “continue” ottleer similar words. Although we believe that ouains,
intentions and expectations reflected in or suggeby such forward-looking statements are reasenald cannot assure you that our plans, intentions
expectations will be achieved. When considerindigoowvard-looking statements, you should keep indithe following important factors that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from thasmtained in any forward-looking statement:

« speculative development activity by our competitarsur existing markets could result in an exocessupply of office, industrial and ret:
properties relative to tenant dema

« the financial condition of our tenants could detsate;

e we may not be able to complete development, adgisreinvestment, disposition or joint venturejpcts as quickly or on as favorable term:
anticipated

e we may not be able to lease or release space yuickin as favorable terms as old lea

e anunexpected increase in interest rates wouléaser our debt service cos

e we may not be able to continue to meet our -term liquidity requirements on favorable terr
« we could lose key executive officers; ¢

« our southeastern and midwestern markets may sadfgitional declines in economic grow

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, @ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also retie other cautionary statements we make in
“Business — Risk Factors” set forth elsewhere is #nnual Report.

Given these uncertainties, we caution you notagelundue reliance on forward-looking statements ufertake no obligation to publicly release the
results of any revisions to these forward-lookitegements that may be made to reflect any futueatsvor circumstances or to reflect the occurrerfice
unanticipated events.
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O VERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered REi@ttprovides leasing, management, developmentireation and other customer-related services for
our properties and for third parties. As of Decengie 2003, we own or have an interest in 536dnvice office, industrial and retail properties@mpassiny
approximately 41.7 million square feet. We also aw805 acres of development land which is suitebldevelop approximately 14.0 million rentable sgua
feet of office, industrial and retail space. We laased in Raleigh, North Carolina, and our properéind development land are located in Floridar@@o
lowa, Kansas, Maryland, Missouri, North Carolinauth Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia.

Results of Operations

During 2003, approximately 82.5% of our rental mave was derived from our office properties (SeesNoto our Consolidated Financial Statements
for further discussion on the accounting for ountaérevenue). As a result, while we own and opeaaimited number of industrial and retail propestour
operating results depend heavily on successfudigitey our office properties. Furthermore, sincetrbsur office properties are located in Flori@Ggorgia
and North Carolina, employment growth in thoseestad and will continue to be an important deteatiire factor in predicting our future operatinguis.

The key components affecting our revenue streamaaege occupancy and rental rates. During thiespasral years, as the average occupancy ¢
portfolio has decreased, our same property reet@nue has declined. Average occupancy generaligases during times of improving economic grows
our ability to lease space outpaces vacanciedttatr upon the expirations of existing leases, availerage occupancy generally declines during tohes
slower economic growth, when new vacancies teralitpace our ability to lease space. Asset acquisitand dispositions also impact our rental revenue
and could impact our average occupancy, depengiog the occupancy percentage of the propertiesateadcquired or sold.

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagepsncy proportionally depends upon whether remieunew leases are higher or lower than the
rents under the previous leases. During 2003,\beage rate per square foot on a GAAP basis onleases was only 0.7% lower than the average rate pe
square foot on the expired leases. A further irtdicaf the predictability of future revenues is theected lease expirations of our portfolio. Owarage
suburban office lease term, excluding renewal pisrie 4.5 years. In 2004, leases on approximat@lynllion square feet of space will expire that@aot
been renewed as of December 31, 2003. This sqoatage represents approximately 14.7% of our aimeghievenue. As of February 19, 2004, we have
renewed or signed new leases aggregating 1.5 mihpare feet of space with 2004 start dates, O98df the square footage expiring during 2004aAs
result, in addition to seeking to increase our ageroccupancy by leasing current vacant spacelseerast concentrate our leasing efforts on rengwin
leases on expiring space. For more informationroiigg our lease expirations, see “Properties —é&&agirations.”

Our expenses primarily consist of depreciation amartization, general & administrative expensestaleoroperty expenses and interest expense.
Depreciation and amortization is a non-cash expasseciated with the ownership of real property genkrally remains relatively consistent each year,
unless we buy or sell assets, since we depreaiatproperties on a straighihe basis. General and administrative expensegfreanounts capitalized, cons
primarily of management and employee salaries #mer @ersonnel costs, corporate overhead and &rngihcentive compensation, and generally remain
relatively consistent from period to period andéaanged from 5.7% to 6.2% of our total expenses the past few years. Rental property expenses are
expenses associated with our ownership and opgratirental properties and include variable expsnsech as common area maintenance and utilitiels, a
fixed expenses, such as property taxes and insewr&uwene of these variable expenses may be lowarras/erage occupancy declines, while the fixed
expenses remain constant regardless of averagpaoy Interest expense depends upon the amoont dorrowings, the weighted average interest rates
on our debt and the amount capitalized on developprjects.

Under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (&%), certain expenses related to the development, emtistn and leasing of properties, sucl
construction costs, interest costs, real estatstaalaries and other costs relating to suchitesivare capitalized rather than expensed asreduAs a
result, during times of increased development, taogon and successful leasing activity, certdiowr general and administrative expenses may by toa
lower because some fixed overhead costs are pyogegritalized, and then amortized over the livegasfous projects rather than expensed during ¢nieg
incurred.
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We also record income from our investments in usobdated affiliates, which are our joint ventur€bese joint ventures are not consolidated on our
balance sheet. We record in “equity in earningsnmonsolidated affiliates” our proportionate shafréhe joint venture’s net income or loss as pafother
income.” During 2003, income earned from our jeiehtures accounted for approximately 8.5% of otal toet income.

Additionally, SFAS 144 requires us to record nebime received from properties sold or held for sefgarately as “income from discontinued
operations.” As a result, we separately recordmags and expenses from these properties. During, 20@me, including gains and losses from the shle
properties, from discontinued operations accoufdedpproximately 57.2% of our total net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our proee to successfully compete against other
properties. Tenant improvements are the costsnexdjtn customize the space for the specific neétiteeacustomer. Lease commissions are costs irgttore
find the customer for the space. Building improvatsere recurring capital costs not related tostatuer to maintain the buildings. As leases expie,
either attempt to relet the space to an existirgjorner or attract a new customer to occupy theesgaenerally, customer renewals require lower tegpsi
capital than reletting to a new customer. Howermtket conditions such as supply of available sjpacite market, as well as demand for space, dove
only customer rental rates but also tenant impr@remosts. Leasing capital expenditures are aneortixer the term of the lease and building impromers
are depreciated over the appropriate useful lifltnefassets acquired. Both are included in depiegiand amortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under thezdktax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of REiT taxable income to our stockholders. We
generally use rents received from customers to éumcbperating expenses, recurring capital expereditand stockholder dividends. To fund property
acquisitions, development activity or building reations, we incur debt from time to time. As of Betber 31, 2003, we had approximately $823.8 miltit
secured debt outstanding and $735.0 million of ces=l debt outstanding. Our debt consists of mgegkebt, unsecured debt securities and borrowings
under our revolving loan. As of March 3, 2004, veerd $133.4 million of additional borrowing availlidyi under our revolving loan. As of the date oith
filing, our short-term cash needs include the fagdif $28.8 million in development activity and $L3nillion in principal payments due on our longne
debt in the next year.

Our revolving loan and the indenture governing autstanding long-term unsecured debt securities esguire us to satisfy various operating and
financial covenants and performance ratios. Assalteto ensure that we do not violate the provisiof these debt instruments, we may from timéte be
limited in undertaking certain activities that matherwise be in the best interest of our stockhsldauch as repurchasing capital stock, acquiriditianal
assets, increasing the total amount of our debhooeasing stockholder dividends. We review ourent and expected operating results, financiatltamn
and planned strategic actions on an ongoing basthé purpose of monitoring our continued comm@awith these covenants and ratios. While we are
currently in compliance with these covenants atidsand expect to remain so for the foreseealleduwe cannot provide any assurance of suchracedi
compliance and any failure to remain in compliacgeld result in an acceleration of some or allaf debt, severely restrict our ability to incur dtbechal
debt to fund short- and long-term cash needs,sultrén higher interest expense.

To generate additional capital to fund our growtid ather strategic initiatives and to lessen thaarship risks typically associated with owning
100.0% of a property, we may sell some of our priigeor contribute them to joint ventures. Whenoreate a joint venture with a strategic partner, w
usually contribute one or more properties that wa and/or vacant land to a newly formed entity imak we retain an interest of 50.0% or less. Irhexge
for our equal or minority interest in the joint ware, we generally receive cash from the partndrratain all of the management income relatinghéo t
properties in the joint venture. The joint ventiiself will frequently borrow money on its own bédhi® finance the acquisition of and/or leverage thturn
upon the properties being acquired by the jointwenor to build or acquire additional buildinggitally on a non-recourse or limited recourse ©iddie
generally are not liable for the debts of our jaiahtures, except to the extent of our equity itmesit, unless we have directly guaranteed anyatfdabt. In
most cases, we and/or our strategic partners quéreel to guarantee customary exceptions to noodree liability in non-recourse loans.
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We have historically also sold additional commastktor preferred stock, or issued Common Unit$uital additional growth or to reduce our debt,
have limited those efforts during the past fivergdaecause of our ability to generally incur dela bbwer cost. We currently have an effective shel
registration statement with the SEC pursuant taivitie Company could sell up to $900.0 million ofrenon stock and the Operating Partnership could sel
up to $600.0 million of unsecured debt securities.

Management’s Analysis

In measuring, analyzing and comparing our opergigrormance, we use a number of different criténieluding GAAP financial measures, such as
net income, and non-GAAP financial measures, ssdrads from operations (“FFQO”). FFO does not repnd net income or cash flows from operating,
investing or financing activities as defined by GAAnd should not be considered as an alternativettimcome as an indicator of our operating penéorce
or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity. SeentiauFrom Operations and Cash Available for Distidms.” However, we believe that FFO is one of salve
indicators of the performance of an equity REITORan facilitate comparisons of operating perforagametween periods and between other REITSs because
it excludes factors, such as depreciation, amaitizand gains and losses from sales of real easstets, which are based on historical cost andomay
limited relevance in evaluating current performar€i€O as disclosed by other REITs may not be coatgparto our calculation of FFO.

In measuring, analyzing and comparing our finanoieddition, management uses a number of otherieriteuch as total debt as a percentage of total
market capitalization, the weighted average inteae of our secured and unsecured debt, ourwargocapacity and cash available for distributions
(“CAD"). CAD provides us with an additional bas@é¢valuate our ability to incur and service detmdf acquisitions, leasing and other capital expgares
and pay dividends to stockholders. CAD, which i®a-GAAP financial measure, does not represenineetme or cash flows from operating, investing or
financing activities as defined by GAAP. See “Fuiism Operations and Cash Available for Distribaitio
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R ESuULTS OF O PERATIONS

On January 1, 2002, we adopted Financial Accouritagdards Board Statement No. 144, “Accountingfferimpairment and Disposal of Lohg+ed
Assets”, (“SFAS 144"). As described in Note 12he Consolidated Financial Statements, we reclagsifie operations and/or gain/(loss) from dispokal
certain properties to discontinued operations flgpexiods presented if the properties were eittedd during 2003 and 2002 or were held for salestembe
31, 2003 and met certain conditions as stipulaje8PAS 144. Accordingly, the operations and gaisg) from those properties disposed of during 200l

certain properties disposed of during 2002 wereedassified to discontinued operations.

Comparison of 2003 to 2002

The following table sets forth information regagliour results of operations for the years endeceBéer 31, 2003 and 2002 ($ in millions):

Rental revenue
Operating expenses
Rental propert
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative (includes $3.7 nonréegicompensation expense in 20
Litigation expenst

Total operating expens

Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Other income:
Interest and other incon
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income before gain on disposition of land and deprable assets, minority interest and discontinue
operations
Gain on disposition of lan
Gain on disposition of depreciable as:

Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations
Minority interest

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariterest
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomiiy interest

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net income available for common stockholder

23

Year Ended % of

December 31, 2003 %0
to 2002 Change

2003 2002 $ Change
$422.1 $433.1 $ (11.0 (2.5%

147 .« 137.% 9.7 7.C
129.2 121.% 7.5 6.2
24.¢ 24.€ 0.2 0.8
— 2.7 (2.7 (100.0
301.¢ 286.7 14.7 5.1
111.2 109.5 1.7 1.€
3.1 1.4 1.7 121.¢
114.% 110.¢ 34 3.1
11.¢€ 13.€ 1.7 (12.5)
4.6 8.C (3.2 (40.0
16.7 21.€ (4.9 (22.9)
23.1 57.1 (34.0 (59.5)
3.7 6.€ (3.2 (46.4)
— 4.5 (4.5) (100.0
3.7 11.4 (7.7) (67.5)
26.¢ 68.t (41.7) (60.9)
(3.0 8.3 5.3 63.€
23.€ 60.2 (36.9) (60.5)
14.c 21.7 (7.9) (34.)
17.¢ 11.€ 6.C 51.7
31.¢ 33.: (1.9 4.2
b5.7 93.t (37.9) (40.9)

(30.99 (30.9 — —

$24¢ $62€ $ (37.9 (60.9%
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Rental Revenue

The decrease in rental revenue from continuingaijmers was primarily a result of a decrease inayeioccupancy rates from 85.9% for the year €
December 31, 2002 to 81.6% for the year ended DieeeB1, 2003. The decrease in average occupares/wats primarily a result of the bankruptcies of
WorldCom and US Airways, which decreased averagemsncy rates by 2.8% and rental revenue from wointy operations by $15.4 million. Same
property rental revenue decreased by $12.0 mil({®ee below for additional discussion on same ptgppental revenue). Partly offsetting these desesa
during 2002, approximately 2.0 million square fektievelopment properties were placedérvice and, as a result, increased rental revefmmscontinuing
operations by approximately $8.6 million. In adulitj the acquisition of certain MG-HIW, LLC asseatsluly 2003 have increased rental revenues by $8.7
million. (See Note 3 to the Consolidated Finan8i@tements for further discussion). Recovery inctnora certain operating expenses have decreasée in
year ended December 31, 2003 due to lower occupancy

Same property rental revenue generated from ther8illion square feet of our 426 wholly-ownedsarvice properties that were owned throughou
period from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 208&;ehsed $27.4 million, or 6.4%, for the year erldedember 31, 2003 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. This decrease is primarily altre§lower same property average occupancy, wiatreased from 88.3% in 2002 to 84.2% in 2003
decrease in same property average occupancy waarpyi a result of the bankruptcies of WorldCom &i8l Airways, which decreased same property
average occupancy rates by 2.9% and same progetsl revenue from continuing operations by $15I#amn.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, 954 segeneration leases representing 7.6 million sqfesteof office, industrial and retail space were
executed. The average rate per square foot on aRa#eais over the lease term for leases executhe iyear ended December 31, 2003 was only 0.7%rlowe
than the rent paid by previous customers.

As of the date of this filing, we are beginningsie a modest improvement in employment trenddeémaf our markets and an improving economic
climate in the Southeast. However, we expect d&geen positive employment growth and positiveogtiton of office space due to the significant amtou
of vacancies, under-utilized space and space &lifar sublease in our markets.

We anticipate that occupancy in our in-servicefptia will decrease slightly in the first half 0DR4 and increase slightly in the second half 0f42200
This outlook is based on the level of leasing digtiwe have experienced over the past 12 monthghaukie expect to continue through 2004, our expkcte
renewal rates and other factors. In 2004, leasegpproximately 4.7 million square feet of spacd asbire that have not been renewed as of DeceBther
2003. This square footage represents approximateRpo of our annualized revenue. As of February2094, we have renewed or signed new leases
aggregating 1.5 million square feet of space wiii®start dates, or 32.0% of the square footageiegmuring 2004. Because of an oversupply ofaeffi
space in many of our southeastern markets, werngntb expect straight-line rents under new letissbs lower than the straight-line rents underekgiring
leases. As noted above, during 2003, the averag@ea square foot on a GAAP basis on new leassenlg 0.7% lower than the average rate per square
foot on the expired leases.

Operating Expenses

The increase in rental operating expenses fromiragng operations (real estate taxes, utilitiesuiiance, repairs and maintenance and other preperty
related expenses) was a result of an increaseatmirtéixed operating expenses that do not varjrwit changes in our occupancy percentages, sueilas
estate taxes, insurance and utility rate changebsana increase in operating expenses which resintiedthe acquisition of certain MG-HIW assets liyJ
2003. In addition, we had 2.0 million square fefet@velopment properties placed in service durid@2which resulted in an increase in rental opegati
expenses from continuing operations.

Rental operating expenses as a percentage of rem&adue increased from 31.8% for the year endegidber 31, 2002 to 34.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The increase was a result dfitheases in rental operating expenses as dedatms/e and a decrease in rental revenue, printhrdy
to lower average occupancy, as described above.
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Same property rental operating expenses, whictharexpenses related to the wholly-owned in-sempioperties that were owned throughout the
period from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 20@3eased $1.0 million, or 1.0%, for the year endedember 31, 2003, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase was a result cfases in certain fixed operating expenses thabtlwary with net changes in our occupancy pergasa
such as real estate taxes, insurance and utitéyckaanges.

Same property rental operating expenses as a pageeof related revenue increased from 31.9% fy#&ar ended December 31, 2002 to 34.3% for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The increabese £xpenses as a percentage of related revesweresult of the increase in same property rental
operating expenses as described above and a deanesssne property rental revenue, primarily dudhébankruptcies of WorldCom and US Airways, as
previously discussed. In addition, operating expsrog $0.6 million that would have been paid by WGom if the leases were not rejected were paidsy
and included in same property operating expensesglthe year ended December 31, 2003.

We expect property operating expenses to incramgelyg in 2004 due to inflationary increases alamith increases in certain fixed operating expenses
that do not vary with occupancy such as real estas and utility rate changes.

The increase in depreciation and amortization fcomtinuing operations related to buildings, leasiaogymissions and tenant improvement
expenditures for properties placed in-service @du#ii02 and the write-off of deferred leasing cests tenant improvements for customers who vacesd t
space prior to lease expiration. In addition, thereéase resulted from the acquisition of certain-MI®/ assets in July 2003 and depreciation and aratitn
on 2.0 million rentable square feet of developnmnperties placed in service during 2002.

General and administrative expenses from continapeyations, net of amounts capitalized, as a ptage of the aggregate of rental revenues, and
interest and other income for both continuing aisdahtinued operations and equity in earnings ebusolidated affiliates, was 5.3% for the year ende
December 31, 2003 and 4.8% for the year ended Deee®1, 2002. The increase was primarily attriblgtéds a decrease of capitalization of general and
administrative costs due to the decrease in der@apand leasing activity in 2003 and an increaderigterm incentive compensation expense as a res
the issuance of restricted and phantom stock d@@@® and 2003. In 2003, general and administratkgenses also included higher expenses related to
employee compensation. In addition, rental reveanekinterest and other income decreased for theeyeked December 31, 2003 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2002. Partly offsetting these@ses was a $3.7 million non-recurring compensakpense in 2002.

We incurred $2.7 million in the year ended Decenigr2002 for litigation expense related to variagal proceedings from previously completed
mergers and acquisitions. These claims were feltifexl by early 2003.

In 2004, general and administrative expenses greated to increase due to inflationary increasesimpensation, benefits and other expenses related
to the implementation of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Interest Expense

As a result of decreased development activity iB32@apitalized interest decreased from $7.0 milfar the year ended December 31, 2002 to $1.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2003, tesyin an increase in interest expense from comgpoperations in 2003. Partly offsetting thisrerase
was a decrease in the average outstanding delicleaté $65.7 million from 2002 to 2003 and a desecia average interest rates from 7.0% in 20029%06
in 2003. Interest expense for the years ended Deee81, 2003 and 2002 included $3.1 million andi$iillion, respectively, of amortization of defedre
financing costs. The increase of $1.7 million wemgrily a result of financing costs incurred imeection with the refinancing of the MandatOry Pat
Remarketed Securities (“MOPPRS"). See “Liquiditgl@@apital Resources” for further discussion onréfimancing.

Interest expense is expected to decline in 2004aily due to the December 1, 2003 refinancingesfain long term debt, see — “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” for further discussion of this refinagcioffset by any increases in average debt batamsilting from acquisitions or other activities.
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Interest and Other Income

The decrease in interest and other income is piliyrratated to the collection of a legal settlemestdorded in the year ended December 31, .
related to previously completed mergers and adiprisi along with a decrease in interest incometduke collection of notes receivable during tharge
ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 and lower interest earned on cash reserves. Leasing fee inandhdevelopment fee income decreased in the year
ended December 31, 2003 due to lower demand foestate slightly offset by an increase in managsrfee income due to the Company retaining the
management of some of our properties that weretedhird parties or contributed to joint venturksing the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003.

The decrease in equity in earnings from continwipgrations of unconsolidated affiliates was pritgairesult of a charge of $2.4 million, which
represents our proportionate share of the impaittoss of $12.1 million recorded by the MG-HIW, LL@int venture in the year ended December 31, 2003,
related to our acquisition of the assets of the MI®/, LLC joint venture and lower occupancy in 20@8 certain joint ventures. Partly offsetting these
decreases was an increase of $0.5 million in edguigarnings in 2003 related to a charge of $0IBanitaken in 2002 due to an early extinguishmafdebt
loss taken by a certain joint venture and an irs@eéa equity in earnings in 2003 of $0.2 millionsaesult of a gain recognized by a certain joerture
related to the disposition of land in 2003.

Gain on Disposition of Land and Depreciable Assets

In 2003, the majority of the gain was compriseé &3.2 million gain related to the disposition 6815 acres of land and a gain of approximately
million related to the condemnation of 4.0 acrefanfl. Partly offsetting these gains was an impaitioss of $0.5 million related to three land pisdeld
for sale at December 31, 2003. In 2002, the mgjofithe gain was comprised of a $15.6 million gatated to the disposition of 533,263 square déet
office properties, that did not meet certain caodi to be classified as discontinued operatiorgeasribed in Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements, and a $6.9 million gain related tadibposition of 112.7 acres of land. The gains vpently offset by an impairment loss of approximatgd.1
million recorded in 2002 related to a property thas been demolished and will be redeveloped ictass A suburban office property.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, we classified netime®f $14.3 million and $21.7 million, net of miitgrinterest, as discontinued operations for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectiMadse amounts pertained to 5.5 million squaredegroperty, four apartment units and 122.8 aofes
revenue-producing land sold during 2002 and 20@3488,073 square feet of property and 88 apartungte held for sale at December 31, 2003. We also
classified as discontinued operations gain on &éfe af these properties of $17.8 million and $1&ilion, net of minority interest, in 2003 and 2002
respectively. Partly offsetting these gains werpaimment charges of $0.3 million and $3.6 milliaef of minority interest, in 2003 and 2002, resjpety. In
addition, in accordance with SFAS 66, “Accounting $ales of Real Estate,” we deferred the recagnitif an additional gain of $6.9 million relatirgthe
disposition to a third party buyer of 225,220 sguiet during the fourth quarter of 2002 for whieh guaranteed the buyer up to $20.5 million ofaknt
shortfalls or re-tenanting costs. Additionally, 2603 we have deferred the recognition of additigaah of $6.8 million relating to the dispositiotasthird
party buyers of approximately 2.3 million rentabtpiare feet for which we have guaranteed the bwgetain rental shortfalls and re-tenanting cqSee
Note 15 of the Consolidated Financial Statementfuither discussion

Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $30.9 million in preferred stock divids in each of the years ended December 31, 20D3G02.
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Net Income

We recorded net income in 2003 of $55.7 millionjekhwas a 40.4% decrease from net income of $98l®min 2002, primarily due to a decrease
rental revenues as a result of lower occupancyttemtankruptcies of WorldCom and US Airways, thepdsition of certain properties under our capital
recycling plan, an increase in rental property apeg expenses, an increase in depreciation andtiaat®mn and a decrease in gain on the disposafdand
and depreciable assets. In 2004, we expect neniedo be lower as compared with 2003 due to flataye occupancy and pressure on rental rates,rhighe
depreciation and amortization, higher property atieg costs, and higher general and administratsts, offset by lower interest expense.

Comparison of 2002 to 2001
The following table sets forth information regagliour results of operations for the years endece®eer 31, 2002 and 2001 ($ in million

Year Ended
December 31, 2002
— 102001 % of
2002 2001 $ Change Change
Rental revenue $433.1 $450.C $ (16.9 (3.9%
Operating expenses
Rental propert 137.% 139.2 1.5 (1.3
Depreciation and amortizatic 121.% 109.2 12.t 115
General and administrative (includes $3.7 nonréegicompensation expense in 20 24.¢ 21.4 3.2 15.C
Litigation expenst 2.7 — 2.7 100.C
Total operating expens 286.71  269.¢ 16.¢ 124.¢
Interest expense:
Contractua 109.f 105.f 4.C 3.8
Amortization of deferred financing cos 1.4 2.C (0.6) (30.0
110.¢  107.t 34 3.2
Other income:
Interest and other incon 13.€ 24 4 (20.§) (44.3)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 8.C 8.¢ 0.9) (10.3)

21€ 33 (117  (35.])

Income before gain on disposition of land and depmable assets, minority interest anc

discontinued operations 57.1 106.( (48.9) (46.7)
Gain on disposition of lan 6.S 4.7 2.2 46.¢
Gain on disposition of depreciable as: 4.t 11t (7.0 (60.9)
11.4 16.2 (4.6 (29.6)
Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations 68.t 122.2 (53.7) (43.9
Minority interest 8.3 (15.5 7.2 46.5
Income from continuing operations 60.z 106.% (46.5) (43.6)
Discontinued operation

Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariteresi 21.7 24t (2.9 (11.9
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomiiy interest 11.€ — 11.€ 100.C
33.8 24.F 8.8 35.¢
Net income 93.t 131.2 (37.9) (28.7)
Dividends on preferred stox (30.99 (315 0.€ 1.6

Net income available for common stockholder $626 $997 $ (37.) (37.9)%
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Rental Revenue

The decrease in rental revenue from continuingaijmers was primarily due to a decrease in averagapancy rates from 91.6% for the year er
December 31, 2001 to 86.0% for the year ended DieeeB1, 2002. The average occupancy decreasedyndai@lto tenant rollover and early lease
terminations at various properties where vacantespas not re-leased due to the lack of demandffice space coupled with an increasing supply of
competitive space. During 2002, approximately 2illion square feet of development properties wdeegd in-service which have leased-up slower than
expected and as a result, have also adverselytedféte occupancy of our overall portfolio. Rem&alenue also decreased due to the impact of digpusi
during 2002 and 2001 that were not classified asatitinued operations as more fully described iteN@ of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, as a result of the bankruptcy of W@in and its affiliates, we wrote off approximat&B.1 million of accrued straight-line rent receileb
in the year ended December 31, 2002.

Same property rental revenue, generated from ti&er8Blion square feet of 460 wholly-owned in-seeviproperties that were owned throughout the
period from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2062rehsed $20.2 million for the year ended Dece®bgP002 compared to the year ended December 31,
2001. This decrease is primarily a result of logame store average occupancy, which decrease®Bdi#6 in 2001 to 88.0% in 2002, and a decrease in
straight-line rental income primarily as a resliltree bankruptcy of WorldCom and its affiliates.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, 840 segeneration leases representing 5.6 million sqigstof office, industrial and retail space were
executed at an average rate per square foot whastbvb% lower than the average rate per squar@fothte expired leases.

Operating Expenses

Rental operating expenses from continuing operat{ozal estate taxes, utilities, insurance, refaitsmaintenance and other property-related
expenses) as a percentage of rental revenue iedréasn 30.9% for the year ended December 31, 2031.8% for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
increase in these expenses as a percentage ofieewas a result of increases in repairs and maint@nand certain fixed operating expenses suakghs r
estate taxes that do not vary with net changesiiimocupancy average.

Same property rental operating expenses of therviee properties wholly-owned that were owned tigtwut the period from January 1, 2001 to
December 31, 2002, decreased $0.2 million or Of@#the year ended December 31, 2002, compardtetpaar ended December 31, 2001. Same property
rental operating expenses as a percentage ofdektenue increased 1.5% from 30.4% for the yede@iDecember 31, 2001 to 31.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase as a percentageasfue was a result of increases in repairs amst@nance and certain fixed operating expensesasich
real estate taxes that do not vary with net chairgear occupancy average.

The increase in depreciation and amortization fcomtinuing operations was due to an increase irrigation related to leasing commissions and
tenant improvement expenditures for propertiesquan-service during 2001 and 2002 and the wrifesb$5.8 million of deferred leasing costs prinhari
related to the leases rejected by WorldCom at Deeeid1, 2002. These increases were partially offfget decrease in depreciation for properties disg®!
during 2002 and 2001 that are not classified asodignued operations in accordance with SFAS 144.

General and administrative expenses from continapgyations, net of amounts capitalized, as a p&ge of the aggregate of rental revenues, interest
and other income for both continuing and discorgthoperations and equity in earnings of unconsilaffiliates was 4.8% in 2002 and 4.0% in 2001.
Included in general and administrative expens@902 was a nonrecurring compensation charge ofr#8lion related to the exercise of options. Such
exercises were recorded as compensation expense EABB Interpretation No. 44 (“Accounting For Gémt Transactions Involving Stock Options, An
Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25”"). We no lomgettle option exercises in a manner which woatfliire recognition of compensation expense under
FASB Interpretation No. 44. In the event we ded¢@espurchase shares after an option exercise,ilveequire the option holder to pay the cash fu strike
price and then separately repurchase a corresgpndimber of shares in the market under our stqukrobhase program.
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We incurred $2.7 million in the year ended Decen8ier2002 for litigation expense related to varimgal proceedings from previously completed
mergers and acquisitions. These claims were feltfez] in early 2003.

Interest Expense

Capitalized interest decreased from $16.9 milliontiie year ended December 31, 2001 to $7.0 mifbothe year ended December 31, 2002, resulting
in an increase in interest expense from continoperations in 2002. Partly offsetting this increase a decrease in average interest rates fromin.2201
to 7.0% in 2002. The average outstanding debt baleemained relatively consistent for 2002 and 20tt&rest expense for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001 included $1.4 million and $2.0 milicespectively, of amortization of deferred finimgccosts and costs related to our interest radgde
contracts.

Interest and Other | ncome

The decrease in interest and other income fromiroging operations primarily resulted from a deceeimsleasing and development fee income in the
year ended December 31, 2002 and a decrease iesntecome in the year ended December 31, 2002cdire collection of notes receivable during 2001
and 2002.

The decrease in equity in earnings of unconsolitatéliates was primarily a result of lower leasemination fees and lower property operating
expense reimbursements in 2002. The decreasernimgamvas partly offset by lower interest expemseiired during 2002 as a result of lower weighted
average borrowing rates and earnings from certéim yentures formed with unrelated investors dyi2002.

Gain on Disposition of Land and Depreciable Assets

In 2002, the majority of the gain was comprise@ gfain related to the disposition of 533,263 sqtegtof office properties that did not meet certai
conditions to be classified as discontinued openatas described in Note 12 of the Consolidatedrfeiial Statements and a gain related to the disposif
112.7 acres of land. The gain is partly offset byrapairment loss of approximately $9.1 millionoeded in 2002 related to a property that has been
demolished and will be redeveloped into a classildushan office property. In 2001, the majority loé fgain was comprised of a gain related to theogipn
of 1,672 apartment units and a gain related taifigosition of 180.3 acres of land.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, we classified netime®f $21.7 million and $24.5 million, net of miitgrinterest, as discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respgctivieich pertained to 5.5 million square feet adpperty, four apartment units and 122.8 acres of
revenue-producing land sold during 2002 and 20@3488,073 square feet of property and 88 apartongtg held for sale at December 31, 2003. We also
classified as discontinued operations in 2002 #ie gn the sale of these properties of $15.2 millitet of minority interest, partly offset by impaent
charges of $3.6 million, net of minority interelst.addition, in accordance with SFAS 66, “Accougtior Sales of Real Estate,” we deferred the reitiogn
of additional gain of $6.9 million, $6.1 million hef minority interest, relating to the disposititma third party buyer of 225,220 square feetrduthe fourth
quarter of 2002 for which we guaranteed the bupetou$20.5 million of rental shortfalls or re-tetiag costs. (See Note 15 of the Consolidated Filahnc
Statements for further discussion).

Preferred Stock Dividends

We recorded $30.9 million and $31.5 million in gneed stock dividends for each of the years endszkber 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
decrease resulted from the Company’s repurcha$2&%5 million of its preferred stock during 2001.
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L 1QuiDiTy AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dlsits based on operating activities, investingwvittés and financing activities. The following
table sets forth the changes in the Company’s ftasis from 2002 to 2003 ($ in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activiti $ 153,25: $ 201,10 $ (47,859
Cash Provided By Investing Activitie 65,51 195,58° (130,07¢)
Cash Used in Financing Activiti¢ (211,219 (386,25)) 175,03!
Total Cash Flow: $ 7,547 $ 10,441 $ (2,899

In calculating cash flow from operating activiti€AAP requires us to add depreciation and amoitizatvhich are non-cash expenses, back to net
income. As a result, we have historically generatsigynificant positive amount of cash from opergctivities. From period to period, cash flownfro
operations depends primarily upon changes in ouineeme, as discussed more fully above under “ResfiOperations,” changes in receivables and
payables, and net additions or decreases in oualbypertfolio, which affect the amount of deprd@a and amortization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesegally relates to capitalized costs incurred éasing and major building improvements, and our
acquisition, disposition and joint venture activiBuring periods of significant net acquisitionigity, our cash used in such investing activitie generally
exceed cash provided by investing activities, wityglically would consist of cash received upongh& of properties or distributions from our joientures
During 2003 and 2002, since our disposition anatjeenture activity slightly outpaced our acquésitiactivity, we recorded positive cash flow fromesting
activities in both years.

Cash used in financing activities generally relapestockholder dividends, incurrence and repayroédebt and sales or repurchases of common stock
and preferred stock. As discussed previously, veeausignificant amount of our cash to fund stocttbobividends. Whether or not we incur significaatv
debt during a period depends generally upon theffiedt of our acquisition, disposition, developrand joint venture activity. We use our revolviogn foi
working capital purposes, which means that durimggiven period, in order to minimize interest exge associated with balances outstanding under the
revolving loan, we will likely record significanepayments and borrowings under the revolving loan.

The decrease of $47.9 million in cash provided pgrating activities was primarily a result of lowest income due to the disposition of certain
properties under our capital recycling programeerease in average occupancy rates for our whaltyed portfolio and the bankruptcies of WorldCom and
US Airways. In addition, the level of net cash pd®d by operating activities is affected by theitignof receipt of revenues and payment of expenses.

The decrease of $130.1 million in cash providedhigsting activities was primarily a result of actease in proceeds from dispositions of real estate
assets of approximately $57.0 million and an inseda additions to real estate assets of approgign&72.5 million.

The decrease of $175.0 million in cash used imftiveg activities was primarily a result of a deseaf $161.4 million in net repayments on the
unsecured revolving loan, mortgages and notes [Egaldl a decrease of $29.4 million in distributipagd on Common Stock and Common Units, partly
offset by an increase of $14.2 million for the reghase of common stock and units and the settleofent interest rate swap agreement for $3.9 miffar
the year ended December 31, 2003.

In 2004, we expect to continue our capital recycjimogram of selectively disposing of non-core ntips or other properties in order to use the net
proceeds for investments or other purposes. At Bbee 31, 2003, we had 438,073 square feet of offioperties, 88 apartment units and 168.1 acré&madf
under letter of intent or contract for sale in vas transactions with a carrying value of $65.7iaml These transactions are subject to custonlasing
conditions, including due diligence and documeatatand are expected to close during 2004. Howewecan provide no assurance that these transaction
will be consummated.
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During 2004, we expect to have positive cash fllnem operating activities. The net cash flows frimwesting activities in 2004 could be positive or
negative, depending on the level and timing of propdispositions, property acquisitions and cdigiéal leasing and improvement costs. Any positiaghc
flows from investing activities in 2004 are expekte be used to pay stockholder and unitholderiligtons, required debt amortization, and recgrdapita
expenditures.

Capitalization
The following table sets forth our capitalizationa December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002tt®irsands, except per share amounts):

December 31 December 31
2003 2002

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $1,558,75: $1,528,72
Preferred stock, at redemption va $ 377,44! $ 377,44!
Common shares and units outstanc 59,67 60,37¢
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 25.4( $  22.1(
Market value of common equi 1,515,79! 1,334,28i
Total market capitalization with de $3,451,99 $3,240,45:

Based on our total market capitalization of appraately $3.5 billion at December 31, 2003 (at theddeber 31, 2003 per share stock price of $25.40
and assuming the redemption for shares of Commuek$if the 6.6 million Common Units of minority @rest in the Operating Partnership), our debt
represented approximately 45.2% of our total mackeitalization. Our total indebtedness at Decer8lieR003 was approximately $1.6 billion and was
comprised of $823.8 million of secured indebtedneisis a weighted average interest rate of 6.9%%#8b.0 million of unsecured indebtedness with a
weighted average interest rate of 6.2%. As of Ddmam31, 2003, our outstanding mortgage and loayalpa and the secured revolving loan were secwyed b
real estate assets with an aggregate carrying eélagproximately $1.4 billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exis§ecured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forra cmmplete discussion of our long-term liquidity
needs, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Qu@ad Future Cash Needs.”
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The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations at December 803($ in thousands):

Amounts due during year ending December 3:

Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt:®
Unsecured
Put Option Note: $ 100,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $100,00(
Notes 460,00( — — 110,00( — 100,00( 250,00(
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab® 755,04¢ 12,871 81,44 19,36: 79,38 13,96¢ 548,01¢
Total Fixed Rate Del 1,315,044 12,871 81,44° 129,36: 79,38¢ 113,96! 898,01¢
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured:
Term Loan 120,00( — 120,00( — — — —
Revolving Loar 55,00( — — 55,00( — — —
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab® 68,70¢ 23t 27¢ 64,96¢ 3,221 — —
Total Variable Rate Del 243,70¢ 23t 120,27¢ 119,96¢ 3,221 — —
Total Long Term Debt 1,558,75! 13,10¢ 201,72¢ 249,33( 82,61: 113,96! 898,01¢
Operating Lease Obligations:
Land Leasé® 48,90¢ 1,26¢ 1,27: 1,213 1,194 1,19¢ 42,76¢
Purchase Obligations:
MG-HIW, LLC @ 62,50( 62,50( — — — — —
MG-HIW, LLC Letter of Credit® 7,50C 7,50C — — — — —
MG-HIW Metrowest | and Il, LLG% 3,20( 3,20( — — — — —
Completion Contract® 18,107 18,10 — — — — —
Other Long Term Liabilities Reflected on the Balane
Sheet:
MG-HIW, LLC Lease Guarante@ 3,82¢ 3,82¢ — — — — —
Plaza Colonade Debt Repayment Guarafitee 2,46¢ — — 2,46¢ — — —
Plaza Colonnade Completion Guararitee 37¢€ — 37¢ — — — —
SF-HIW Harborview Lease Guarant®e 53¢ 134 137 14C 12¢ — —
Capital One Lease Guarant®e 6,917 — — 6,917 — — —
Capital One Lease Guarant®e 4,421 1,56¢ 1,42¢ 1,427 — — —
Industrial Portfolio Lease Guarantée 2,37 85C 991 532 — — —
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP Lease Guaranfe 6,57¢ 49E 50t 51€ 52€ 53€ 4,00(¢
Total $1,726,47. $112,55¢ $206,43¢ $262,54: $84,46( $115,69! $944,78!

@  The Operating Partnership’s unsecured notes of $5@0lion bear interest at rates ranging from 7 @98.125% with interest payable seamnually in
arrears. Any premium and discount related to theasce of the unsecured notes together with atbaance costs is being amortized over the life of
the respective notes as an adjustment to intexpsinge. All of the unsecured notes, except foPtlieOption Notes, are redeemable at any time powi
maturity at our option, subject to certain condiiancluding the payment of make-whole amounts. fded rate mortgage loans generally are either
locked out to prepayment for all or a portion adittterm, or are p-payable subject to certain conditions includingopsenent penaltie:

@  The mortgage loans payable were secured by resbesdsets with an aggregate carrying value obappately $1.4 billion at December 31, 2003.
®) See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther discussion.
@] See “Liquidity and Capital Resources — Off BalaBteet Arrangements.”

6 These liabilities represent gains that were defemeaccordance with SFAS 66 when we contributedehproperties to a joint venture or sold these
properties to a third party. We defer gains onssafereal estate up to our maximum exposure toirgent loss. For further discussion, see Note 15 to
the Consolidated Financial Stateme
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Refinancings in 2003

On February 3, 2003, the Operating Partnershiprobased 100.0% of the principal amount of the M#@daPar Put Remarketed Securit
(“MOPPRS") due February 1, 2013 from the sole hottiereof in exchange for a secured note in thecjral amount of $142.8 million. The secured note
bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.03% and haatanity date of February 28, 2013. This transactias accounted for as an exchange of indebtedmeles u
EITF 96-19, “Debtor’'s Accounting for a Modificatiar Exchange of Debt Instruments”. In accordandb ®ITF 96-19, the intermediaries acted as
principals and the present value of the cash flomder the terms of the new debt instrument usiegM®PPRS effective interest rate was less tharf40.0
different from the present value of the remainiagtcflows under the terms of the MOPPRS. Accorglirthe transaction was considered an exchangemot
extinguishment and no loss was recognized. Theoptiemium paid to the lender was $17.7 million wad recorded as a deferred financing cost andbe
amortized to interest expense over the remaining té the new debt. Fees paid by us to third paiech as legal fees) were expensed as incurred.

On July 17, 2003, we amended and restated ouiiraxigtvolving loan. The amended and restated $2%dlidn revolving loan (the “Revolving
Loan”) is from a group of ten lender banks, matumeduly 2006 and replaces our previous $300.0aniltevolving loan. The Revolving Loan carries an
interest rate based upon our senior unsecured cadidigs. As a result, interest currently accroe®orrowings under the Revolving Loan at a ratelBOR
plus 105 basis points. The terms of the Revolviogrirequire us to pay an annual facility fee etma?5% of the aggregate amount of the RevolvingrL.o
We currently have a credit rating of BBB- assighgdStandard & Poor’s and Fitch Inc. In August 200i8ody’s Investor Service downgraded our credit
rating from Baa3 to Bal. We cannot provide any @sstes Moody’s or the other rating agencies witlfaaher change our credit ratings. If Standard an
Poor’s or Fitch Inc. were to lower our credit rgsnwithout a corresponding increase by Moody’s,iherest rate on borrowings under our revolvirgnlo
would be automatically increased by 60 basis points

On December 1, 2003, $146.5 million of our 8.0%édsaind $100.0 million of our 6.75% Notes matured.rédfinanced $127.5 million with 10-year
secured debt at an effective rate of 5.25%. $1080ldn was refinanced with a two-year unsecureditéoan with a floating rate initially set at 1.3%er
LIBOR. The balance, equaling $19.0 million, wasaidpusing funds from our $250.0 million Revolvingdn.

Anticipated Refinancings in 2004

In 1997, a trust formed by the Operating Partnersbid $100.0 million of Exercisable Put Option @@ges due June 15, 2004 (“X-POS”). The assets
of the trust consist of, among other things, $100ildon of Exercisable Put Option Notes due JuBe2011 (the “Put Option Notes'lssued by the Operati
Partnership. The Put Option Notes bear an inteadstof 7.19% from the date of issuance througte Iy 2004. After June 15, 2004, the interesttmate
maturity on the Put Option Notes will be 6.39% plus applicable spread determined as of June TBL. 20 connection with the initial issuance of et
Option Notes, a counter party was granted an optigrurchase the Put Option Notes from the trustore 15, 2004 at 100.0% of the principal amotirihe
counter party elects not to exercise this optiba,®perating Partnership would be required to @mage the Put Option Notes from the Trust on J&ne 1
2004 at 100.0% of the principal amount plus acciardi unpaid interest.

We currently anticipate that no later than June2DB4 we will call or repurchase $100.0 millionteé X-POS and the third party purchase option. We
will exchange the X-POS for a similar amount of n@mds. We anticipate that these transactionsbeithiccounted for as an exchange of indebtedness und
EITF 96-19 and accordingly no gain or loss woulddxorded. Additionally, we anticipate the trangacwill have no material effect on future interest
expense assuming current market rates and corgliteonain constant. However, any such transactiimepend upon our ability to favorably access the
credit market and, accordingly, no assurances egrdwided that we will be successful in refinagcine Put Option Note on favorable terms, if at all
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Operating and Financial Covenants and Performance &tios

The terms of the revolving loan and the indenttinas govern our outstanding notes require us toptypmiith certain operating and financial covene
and performance ratios. We are currently in compglawith all such requirements. Although we expecemain in compliance with the covenants anasati
under our revolving loans for at least the nexesalvquarters, depending upon our future opergtérfprmance and property and financing transactiors
cannot assure you that we will continue to be imgiance.

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about the Company’s ratio and covenant canpé under the revolving loan as of December
31, 2003 and 2002. Certain of these definitions diffgr from similar terms used in the consolidafiedncial statements and may, for example, congide
proportionate share of investments in unconsoltlatéliates. For a more detailed description & tdovenants in our revolving loan, including deforis of
certain relevant terms, see the credit agreememgrgimg our revolving loan which is incorporatedrijerence in this Annual Report as Exhibit 10.13.

2003 2002
Total Liabilities Less Than or Equal to 57.5% oftdloAssets 53.(% 49.9%
Unencumbered Assets Greater Than or Equal to Ztiimsecured Del 2.2 2.2t
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 35% of Totaéts 28.5% 19.1%
Adjusted EBDITA Greater Than 2.10 times Interespénse 2.2C 2.5t
Adjusted EBDITA Greater Than 1.55 times Fixed Clea 1.62 1.8¢
Adjusted NOI Unencumbered assets GreThan 2.25 times Interest on Unsecured [ 2.4¢ 3.0
Tangible Net Worth Greater Than $1.574 Billi $1.7 billion  $1.7 billion
Restricted Payments, including distributions torshalders, Less Than or Equal to 95% of C 71.€% 92.7%

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about the Operating Partnership’s ratio amngnant compliance under the Operating
Partnership’s indenture as of December 31, 2003280&. Certain of these definitions may differ fraimilar terms used in the consolidated financial
statements and may, for example, consider our ptiopate share of investments in unconsolidateitiatés. For a more detailed discussion of the camgs
in our indenture, including definitions of certaglevant terms, see the indenture governing ougaured notes which is incorporated by referendhign
Annual Report as Exhibit 4.2.

2003 2002
Overall Debt Less Than or Equal to 60% of Adjustethl Asset: 40.€% 39.2%
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 40% of Adjuftedl Assets 21.€% 13.2%
Income Available for debt service Greater Than 1is@s Annual Service Chari 2.7 3.1

Total Unencumbered Assets Greater Than 200% ofdumed Deb 338.8% 294.2%

Current and Future Cash Needs

Historically, rental revenue has been the princgmairce of funds to meet our short-term liquida@guirements, which primarily consist of operating
expenses, debt service, stockholder dividendsgaayantee obligations and recurring capital exgerel. In addition, construction management,
maintenance, leasing and management fees havalpdosources of cash flow. Major capital improveradatthe existing properties total $18.1 millios, a
indicated in the Known Contractual Obligation Surmyn#n addition, we could incur tenant improvemeans! lease commissions related to any releasing of
space previously leased by WorldCom and US Airnaysther vacant space.

In addition to the requirements discussed abovesloort-term (within the next 12 months) liquidigguirements also include the funding of
approximately $28.8 million of our existing devetognt activity (as of the date of this filing) andsf generation tenant improvements and lease cesionis
on properties placed in-service that are not fidsed. We expect to fund our short-term liquidiigiuirements through a combination of working apit
cash flows from operations and the following:
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«  borrowings under our unsecured revolving loan Q$133.4 million of availability as of March 3, 200
« the selective disposition of n-core assets or other assi

« the sale or contribution of some of our wh-owned properties, development projects and devedopiand to strategic joint ventures to
formed with unrelated investors, which will have tiet effect of generating additional capital tllosuch sale or contributions; a

« the issuance of secured debt (at February 18, 20904ad $2.2 billion of unencumbered real estadetasat cost

Our longterm liquidity needs generally include the fundofgexisting and future development activity, selexasset acquisitions and the retiremer
mortgage debt, amounts outstanding under the twalviag loans and long-term unsecured debt. We nem@mmitted to maintaining a flexible capital
structure. Accordingly, we expect to meet our leegn liquidity needs through a combination of (1§ issuance by the Operating Partnership of additio
unsecured debt securities, (2) the issuance ofiaddi equity securities by the Company and ther@yey Partnership as well as (3) the sources estr
above with respect to our short-term liquidity. Beect to use such sources to meet our long-teuidity requirements either through direct paymenmts

repayment of borrowings under the unsecured renglidan. As mentioned above, we do not intenddemes funds to retire existing secured or unsecured
indebtedness upon maturity. Instead, we will sealetinance such debt at maturity or retire sudit tirough the issuance of equity or debt secastritie

We anticipate that our available cash and castvatgrits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings and other
sources, will be adequate to meet our capital iguidity needs in both the short and long term. ldeer, if these sources of funds are insufficient or
unavailable, our ability to pay dividends to stogkiers and satisfy other cash payments may be selyaaffected.

Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustidbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rakable income. REIT taxable income, the
calculation of which is determined by the fedesx laws, does not necessarily equal net incomertB4&P. We generally expect to use our cash flawfr
operating activities for dividends to stockholdansl for payment of recurring capital expendituFagure dividends will be made at the discretiothef our
Board of Directors. The following factors will affeour cash flows and, accordingly, influence teeisions of the Board of Directors regarding divide:

« debt service requirements after taking into accdebt covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain indebtednes
¢ scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

« changes in rents attributable to the renewal cfteyg leases or replacement lea:

« changes in occupancy rates at existing propentidseaecution of leases for newly acquired or dgvedioproperties; ar

e operating expenses and capital replacement neelisding tenant improvements and leasing c«
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has several off balance sheet jointtiverand guarantee arrangements. The joint venivges formed with unrelated investors
generate additional capital to fund property adtjaiss, repay outstanding debt or fund other striataitiatives and to lessen the ownership risksdally
associated with owning 100.0% of a property. Whercveate a joint venture with a strategic partwerusually contribute one or more properties that w
own to a newly formed entity in which we retainiaterest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for an equalinority interest in the joint venture, we geally
receive cash from the partner and retain the manageincome relating to the properties in the joitture.

As of December 31, 2003, our joint ventures hadd®Bnillion of total assets and $558.0 million ofal liabilities. During 2003, these joint ventures
earned $13.3 million of total net income, net &12.1 million impairment charge related to our fiage of the MG-HIW, LLC assets. We have a 34.3%
weighted average equity interest in these jointw&s. For a more detailed discussion of our jeariture activity, see Note 2 in the ConsolidatethRcial
Statements.

As required by GAAP, we have accounted for ourtjgenture activity using the equity method of aguing, as we do not control these joint ventures.
As a result, the assets and liabilities of ourtjgentures are not included on our balance shekthanresults of operations of the joint ventunesret
included on our income statement, other than a#yeiguearnings of unconsolidated affiliates. Imet words, we generally are not liable for the dedftour
joint ventures, except to the extent of our eqintsestment, unless we have directly guaranteedéttyat debt. In most cases, we and/or our strajegitner:
are required to guarantee customary exceptionsrier@course liability in non-recourse loans.

As of December 31, 2003, our joint ventures hadd®b&illion of outstanding debt. The following tatsets forth the principal payments due on that
outstanding long-term debt as recorded on the otispgoint venture’s books at December 31, 20081 (housands):

Amounts due during year ending December 3:

Perceni

Owned Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Board of Trade Investment Compe 49.0% $ 74¢ $ 184 $ 19¢ $ 21t $ 152 $ — $ —
Dallas County Partnefd 50.0(% 38,00( 96¢ 1,041 4,41¢ 13,33 5,76¢ 12,47¢
Dallas County Partners @ 50.0(% 22,46t 1,242 1,37¢ 1,522 1,68¢ 1,86: 14,77¢
Fountain Threé) 50.0(% 29,92 1,10¢ 1,172 1,24z 1,31¢ 6,40( 18,687
RRHWoods, LLCY 50.0(% 67,307 1,27: 40z 431 4,241 381 60,57¢
4600 Madison Associates, | 12.5(% 16,721 711 762 81t 87: 93t 12,62¢
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 67,241 1,03t 1,107 1,18¢ 1,26¢ 1,35¢ 61,29(
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L 42.9%% 59,027 714 77C 831 897 96¢ 54,84¢
Highwood:-Markel Associates, LL( 50.0(% 40,00( 55¢ 645 682 722 76¢€ 36,62¢
MG-HIW, LLC 20.0(% 136,20° — — 136,20° — — —
MG-HIW Metrowest II, LLC 50.0(% 7,32¢ — 7,32¢ — — — —
Concourse Center Associates, L 50.0(% 9,69t 17¢€ 18¢ 20z 217 23z 8,67¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 16,49¢ — — — 16,49¢ — —
SF-HIW Harborview, LP 20.0(% 22,80( — — — 91 37¢ 22,33:
Total $533,95¢@  $7,96¢ $14,98¢ $147,75. $41,28¢ $19,04¢ $302,91¢

@ Des Moines joint ventures.

@ Al of this joint venture debt is non-recourse axcept (1) in the case of customary exceptionsipég to such matters as misuse of funds,
environmental conditions and material misrepredmmts and (2) those guarantees and loans desdrilibd following paragraph:
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In connection with the Des Moines joint venture quriees, the maximum potential amount of futurenpents we could be required to make under the
guarantees is $25.5 million. Of this amount, $8ilian arose from housing revenue bonds that regaiedit enhancements in addition to the realestat
mortgages. The bonds bear a floating interest wat&h currently averages 1.3% and mature in 2@GL&rantees of $9.5 million will expire upon two
industrial buildings becoming 93.8% and 95.0% Idag§rrently, these buildings are 90.0% and 64.€86éd, respectively. The remaining $7.4 million in
guarantees relate to loans on four office buildithgs were in the lease-up phase at the time tireslovere initiated. Each of the loans will expiyeMay
2008. The average occupancy of the four buildingdeember 31, 2003 is 91.0%. If the joint ventesunable to repay the outstanding balance uhder
loans, we will be required, under the terms ofdgeeements, to repay the outstanding balance. Rexprovisions exist to enable us to recover sonadl of
our losses from the joint ventures’ assets anti@other partner. The joint ventures currently gateesufficient cash flow to cover the debt servisguired
by the loans.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventunes renewed our guarantee of $6.2 million to a barluly 2003. The bank provides a letter of
credit securing industrial revenue bonds, whichumeain 2015. We would be required to perform urtlerguarantee should the joint venture be unable to
repay the bonds. We have recourse provisions ieraadrecover from the joint venture’s assets d&edother partner for amounts paid in excess of our
proportionate share. The property collateralizimg honds is 100.0% leased and currently genenatésient cash flow to cover the debt service reediby
the bond financing.

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint uestwe have included $2.8 million in other liatiéls and adjusted the investment in unconsolidated
affiliates by $2.8 million on our consolidated bata sheet at December 31, 2003 related to two aepguarantees of a construction loan agreemerd and
construction completion agreement. The construdtan matures in February 2006, with two gmear options to extend the maturity date that arelitional
on completion and lease-up of the project. The t&fthe construction completion agreement requhiescore and shell of the building to be compldted
December 15, 2005. Currently, the building is scifedito be completed in December 2004. Both guaesnrose from the formation of the joint ventare t
construct an office building. If the joint ventugsunable to repay the outstanding balance undecdhstruction loan agreement or complete the ngot&in
of the office building, we would be required, untiee terms of the agreements, to repay our 50.@G#e gt the outstanding balance under the consbructi
loan and complete the construction of the officéding. The maximum potential amount of future payms by us under these agreements is $34.9 million.
No recourse provisions exist that would enableougtover from the other partner amounts paid utiteguarantee. However, given that the lo¢
collateralized by the building, we and our parto@uld obtain and liquidate the building to recotre amounts paid should we be required to perfordeu
the guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC construct@man and completion agreement described abogeyattners have collectively provided $12.0
million in letters of credit, $6.0 million by us é$6.0 million by our partner. We and our partneuld be held liable under the letter of credit agnents
should the joint venture not complete constructibthe building. The letters of credit expire ind@enber 31, 2004. No recourse provisions existvitoaid
enable us to recover from the other partner amailnatgn under the letter of credit.

In December 2000, we guaranteed our 80.0% pamndiG-HIW, LLC joint venture, a minimum internal eabf return on $50.0 million of their equity
investment in the remaining assets of the jointwen(the “Orlando assets”). On July 29, 2003, weeled into an option agreement to acquire Milleb@l's
80.0% interest in the Orlando assets for betwe@®B$gnd $65.2 million depending on the closing daug the distributions from the joint venture prior
closing. Based on the terms of the agreement,uhghpse option price range satisfies the intetatal of return guarantee. In connection with théoopt
agreement, we entered into a letter of credit énaimount of $7.5 million in favor of Miller Globakhich can be drawn by Miller Global in the everd do
not exercise our option to purchase their 80.0%r@st in the remaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC by ka4, 2004.

On March 2, 2004, we exercised our option and aedwur partner's 80.0% equity interest in the rieing assets of MG-HIW, LLC, which consists
of five properties encompassing 1.3 million squfest located in the central business district da@ato (“Orlando properties”). The properties weBe886
leased as of December 31, 2003 and were encumbei®t36.2 million of floating rate debt with intstebased on LIBOR plus 200 basis points, which has
been assumed by the Company. At the closing diréimsaction, the Company paid its partner, Milléslial, $62.5 million and the $7.5 million letter afedit
was cancelled. The transaction implies a valugtl®®% ownership) of $214.3 million, which includbe properties and other net assets of the jointuve.
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In January 2004, we signed a Letter of Intent Wiepital-Consult, manager for Dreilander-Fonds, aodgaan investment firm, under which Kapital-
Consult will acquire a 60% equity interest in theéa@do properties for approximately $45.5 milliexcluding certain development rights to be retaimgds
Although the transaction is subject to documentadiod other closing conditions, it is expectediése no later than the end of the second quart2o@4.

As part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on July 22003, we entered into an option agreement withpautner, Miller Global, to acquire their 50.0%
interest in the assets of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLE&aVIG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC for $3.2 million. The?4 million construction loan to fund the
development of this property, of which $7.3 millisnoutstanding at December 31, 2003, will be eigigd in full or assumed by us in connection wtit
acquisition of the remaining assets. We have gteear50.0% of the construction loan, such thatefjbint venture is unable to repay the outstanding
balance, we would be required, under the termbefgreement, to repay 50.0% of the outstandiranbal The maximum potential amount of future
payments by us under the agreement is $3.7 milliomever, we are able to seek recourse from otngrafor 50.0% of that amount.

On March 2, 2004, we exercised our option and aeduwur partner’'s 50.0% equity interest in the &sssEMG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and MG-HIW
Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2 million. The assets inGvHIW Metrowest |, LLC and MGHIW Metrowest Il, LLC include 87,832 square feetppbperty and 7.
acres of development land zoned for the developwied®,000 square feet of office space. The $7Mamiconstruction loan to fund the developmentto$
property was paid in full by us at closing.

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withftihated parties have buy/sell options that mayesercised to acquire the other partner’s intdrgst
either us or our joint venture partner if certagmditions are met as set forth in the respectiirg jeenture agreement. Our partner in SF-HIW Havlew, LP
has the right to put its 80.0% equity interesthia partnership to us in cash at anytime duringtfeeyear period commencing on September 11, 2044 A
result, we have deferred a gain of $1.0 millionilthe expiration of the put option. The value lbé tequity interest will be determined based uperttien fail
market value of SF-HIW Harborview, LP assets aallilities.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet in part our longerm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atombination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowingsler our revolving loa
bears interest at variable rates. Our long-term, agich consists of longerm financings and the unsecured issuance ofsgstirities, typically bears inter
at fixed rates. In addition, we have assumed fiede and variable rate debt in connection with agtgiproperties. Our interest rate risk management
objective is to limit the impact of interest rateanges on earnings and cash flows and to loweowenall borrowing costs. To achieve these objestiftom
time to time we enter into interest rate hedge reats such as collars, swaps, caps and treasdcagpeements in order to mitigate our interest riatewith
respect to various debt instruments.

The following table sets forth information regagliour interest rate hedge contracts as of DeceBthe2003 ($ in thousands):

Notional Maturity Fixed Fair Market
Type of Hedge Amount Date Reference Rate Rate Value
Interest Rate Swe $20,00( 1/2/200¢ 1 month USI-LIBOR-BBA 0.99(% $ 3
Interest Rate Swa $20,00( 6/1/200* 1 month USI-LIBOR-BBA 1.59(% 20
$ 23

The interest rate on all of our variable rate dglaidjusted at one and three month intervals, stiijesettlements under these contracts. We also en
into treasury lock agreements from time to timerider to limit our exposure to an increase in ieserates with respect to future debt offeringsifmgu2003,
only a nominal amount was received from countetiggunder interest rate hedge contracts.
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Related Party Transactions

We have previously reported that we have had aaciiio acquire development land in the Bluegraaitey office development project from GAF
Inc., a corporation controlled by Mr. Anderson. @amuary 17, 2003, we acquired an additional 23c4€s=0f this land from GAPI, Inc. for cash and sisaof
Common Stock valued at $2.3 million. In May 2003) dcres of the remaining acres not yet taken deastaken by the Georgia Department of
Transportation to develop a roadway interchangedasideration of $1.8 million. The Department ofiisportation took possession and title of the gryp
in June 2003. As part of the terms of the contoativeen us and Bluegrass, we were entitled toribeepds from the condemnation of $1.8 million, kbes
contracted purchase price between us and Bluefinagge condemned property of $737,348. On Septe®®e2003, as a result of the condemnation, we
received the proceeds of $1.8 million. A relatedypayable of $737,348 to Bluegrass related tactir@lemnation of the development land is included i
accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheitigshih our Consolidated Balance Sheet at Decer®bg2003 and a gain of $1.0 million related to the
condemnation of the development land is includegkiim on disposition of land in our Consolidatedt&tent of Income for the year ended December 31,
2003. We believe that the purchase price with retsjeeeach transaction did not exceed market valhese transactions were unanimously approveddy th
executive committee and the full Board of Direct(with Mr. Anderson abstaining from the vote).

During 2000, in connection with the formation oéthG-HIW Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC, a constructioan was made by an affiliate of ours to this
joint venture. Interest accrued at a rate of LIB@&s 200 basis points. This construction loan vegsid in full in July 2003 when we were assigned
partner’s 50.0% equity interest in the single propencompassing 53,896 square feet owned by MG-R8Achtree Corners Ill, LLC.

We advanced $0.8 million to an officer and directated to certain expenses paid by us on beh#eoofficer and director. During 2002, this
advance, along with accrued interest, was repaithéypfficer and director.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had a $1libmileceivable due from a joint venture. The antcas been subsequently paid in full.
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C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andrapsions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of cgetith assets and liabilities at the date of thenfifed statements and the reported amounts of resand
expenses for the reporting period. Actual resudtda differ from our estimates.

The estimates used in the preparation of our Catateld Financial Statements are described in Nédeolir Consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended December 31, 2003. However, certainiogignificant accounting policies contain an irased level of assumptions used or estimates made in
determining their impact on our Consolidated Finaintatements. Management has reviewed our dra@@ounting policies and estimates with the audit
committee of the Company’s Board of Directors dme €ompany’s independent auditors.

We consider our critical accounting estimates tthiose used in the determination of the reportedusnts and disclosure related to the following:
* Real estate asse

« Allowance for doubtful accounts; ai

*  Property operating expense recove

Real Estate Assets

Expenditures directly related to the development@mnstruction of real estate assets are includeet real estate assets at cost in the consalidate
balance sheets. Expenditures directly relatededethsing of properties are included in other assetost in the consolidated balance sheets. Mfird to
the general and administrative costs, includingpamsation, we annually calculate the capitalizapiercentages which are based on employee hours
allocated to successful efforts in developmentstoiction and leasing, and adjust the financidkstents to reflect any change in those allocatibriBose
allocations prove to be incorrect, the resultingisitnents could impact earnings.

Development expenditures include pre-constructasiessential to the development of propertiegsldpment and construction costs, real estate
taxes, interest costs, compensation and other irwstsed during the period of development. Theri@st costs are capitalized at the building’s vegan
percentage until either the building reaches 900@%tpancy or one year after the issuance of dicaté of occupancy, whichever occurs first. The
compensation costs are capitalized based on thilizgtion percentage described above relateagteldpment activities. Construction expendituredlide
all general and administrative costs, including pensation and are capitalized based on the capiti@ih percentage related to specific construgiirajects.
The leasing expenditures include all general amdiridtrative costs, including compensation andcagtalized based on the capitalization percenteigeec
to successfully securing leases on the propetistinated costs related to unsuccessful developamehteasing as well as estimated costs relatadrio
specific construction projects are expensed agiiedu

All capitalizable costs related to the improvemanteplacement of commercial real estate propeatiecapitalized. Depreciation is computed usi®
straight-line method over the estimated usefuldifd0 years for buildings, 15 years for buildingprovements and five to seven years for furnitfixeyres
and equipment. If these estimated lives are toad sidoo long, future adjustments to depreciag@apense may be required. Tenant improvements are
amortized over the life of the respective leasemgithe straight-line method. Real estate assetstated at the lower of cost or fair value, ipaired.
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Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assesfathealue of acquired tangible assets such as lamittings and tenant improvements, intangiblets
such as above and below market leases, acquingldde leases and other identified intangible assedsassumed liabilities in accordance with Staterog
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141. #lecate the purchase price to the acquired aasétassumed liabilities based on their relatie fa
values. We assess and consider fair value basestiomated cash flow projections that utilize appiaip discount and/or capitalization rates, as waell
available market information. Estimates of futuasit flows are based on a number of factors incuttie historical operating results, known and &pdited
trends, and market and economic conditions. Thevédue of the tangible assets of an acquired ptppensiders the value of the property as if itave
vacant.

Above and below market leases acquired are recatndir fair value. Fair value is calculatedlss present value of the difference between (1) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to eagleice lease and (2) management’s estimate of faikenhlease rates for each corresponding in-pkasel,
using a discount rate which reflects the risks eissed with the leases acquired and measured gweri@d equal to the remaining term of the leasabwve-
market leases and the initial term plus the terrmnyf below-market fixed rate renewal options fdolemarket leases. The capitalized above-markselea
values are amortized as a reduction of based rentahue over the remaining term of the respedtiases and the capitalized below-market lease salee
amortized as an increase to based rental reverargtay remaining term of the respective leases.

The value of in-place leases is based on our etiatuaf the specific characteristics of each teisdefise. Factors considered include estimates of
carrying costs during hypothetical expected legseariods, current market conditions, and coskexete similar leases. In estimating carrying coses
include real estate taxes, insurance and otheabpgrexpenses and estimates of lost rentals &anaates during the expected lease-up periodgniipg
on local market conditions. In estimating costexecute similar leases, we consider tenant impremésnleasing commissions, legal and other related
expenses. The value of in-place leases are ambitizadepreciation and amortization expense overdtmining term of the respective leases. If artena
vacates its space prior to its contractual exmgiratiate, any unamortized balance of their relatexhgible asset is expensed.

The value of tenant relationships is based on weradl relationship with the respective tenant.tBexcconsidered include the tenanttedit quality an
expectations of lease renewals. The value of tamdationships is amortized to expense over th@lrterm and any renewal periods defined in tlepeetive
leases. Based on our acquisitions to date, we desmed relationships to be immaterial and havalfmtated any amounts to this intangible asset.

Real estate and leasehold improvements are ckdsifi long-lived assets held for sale or as lorgglassets to be held and used. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 14dcounting for the Impairment or Disposal of lgstived Assets”, we record assets held for satbeat
lower of the carrying amount or estimated fair ealBair value is equal to the estimated or coredhstles price with a potential buyer less coseto The
impairment loss is the amount by which the carnangpunt exceeds the estimated fair value. Witheesjo assets classified as held and used, if went
changes in circumstances, such as significantreeeii occupancy and change in use, indicate tleatdirying value may be impaired, we perform an
impairment analysis. Such analysis consists ofrdeténg whether the asset’s carrying amount wilkrbeovered from its undiscounted estimated future
operating cash flows. These cash flows are estsrzeed on a number of assumptions that are subjeconomic and market uncertainties includingoag
others, demand for space, competition for tenahi@nges in market rental rates and costs to opeaate property. If the carrying amount of a held ased
asset exceeds the sum of its undiscounted futieeatipg cash flows, an impairment loss would bemed for the difference between the discountetl cas
flows and the net book value. As the factors usegenerating these cash flows are difficult to feaind are subject to future events that may alter
assumptions, the undiscounted future operating ftawis estimated by us in our impairment analysay mot be achieved and we may be required to
recognize future impairment losses on our propertie
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfayunts that may become uncollectible in the &itWe evaluate the adequacy of our allowe
for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis. Thduaten primarily consists of reviewing past due@unt balances and considering such factors as okt
quality of our tenants, historical trends of theatet and/or other debtor, current economic conuit@and changes in customer payment terms. Addityona
with respect to tenants in bankruptcy, we estinttateexpected recovery through bankruptcy claimsiacrease the allowance for amounts deemed
uncollectible. If our assumptions regarding thdeatibility of accounts receivable prove incorrage could experience write-offs of accounts redeiwar
accrued straight-line rents receivable in excesaiofallowance for doubtful accounts.

Property Operating Expense Recoveries

Property operating cost recoveries from tenantsdget reimbursements) are determined on a-by-lease basis. The most common types of
reimbursements in our leases are common area maimte (“CAM”) and real estate taxes, where thertepays its pro-rata share of operating and
administrative expenses and real estate taxes.

The computation of cost reimbursements from tenfnt€AM and real estate taxes is complex and we®humerous judgements including
interpretation of terms and other tenant leaseigimvs. Leases are not uniform in dealing with sca$t reimbursements and there are hundreds aftiars
in the computations dealing with such matters dgclvcosts are includable or not includable fomtgirsement, what is the square footage of the bvera
property space to determine the pro-rata percestagel the applicability of cost limitation prowies, among other things. Most tenants make mofittdd
payments of CAM, real estate taxes and other edasfaursement items. We record these payments asmameach month. We also make adjustments, pc
or negative, to cost recovery income to adjusréoerded amounts to our best estimate of the &imadunts to be billed and collected with respethéocost
reimbursements. After the end of the calendar yearcompute each tenant’s final cost reimbursemamisissue a bill or credit for the full amounteaf
considering amounts paid by the tenants durinyéae. The differences between the amounts bilkss previously received payments and the accrual
adjustment are recorded as increases or decreasesttrecovery income when the final bills areppred, usually beginning in March and completedinye
or July. The net amounts of any such adjustments hat been material in any of the years ended bee 31, 2002 and 2001. Final adjustments for &za
ended December 31, 2003 have not yet been detatmine
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F unDsF rRoM O PERATIONS AND C ASH A VAILABLE FOR D ISTRIBUTION

We believe that funds from operations (“FFQO”) i®@f several indicators of the performance of antgdREIT. FFO can facilitate comparisons of
operating performance between periods and betwiben REITs because it excludes factors, such asd@gion, amortization and gains and losses from
sales of real estate assets, which are based tonid¢as cost and may be of limited relevance inleaing current performance. FFO as disclosed hgrot
REITs may not be comparable to our calculationfE®Fas described below. Cash available for distidbut'‘CAD”) is another useful financial performance
measure of an equity REIT. CAD provides an addéidoasis to evaluate the ability of a REIT to inand service debt, fund acquisitions and othertabpi
expenditures and pay distributions. CAD does naisuee whether cash flow is sufficient to fund allc needs. FFO and CAD are non-GAAP financial
measures and do not represent net income or @ash ftom operating, investing or financing actisstias defined by GAAP. They should not be consitlere
as alternatives to net income as an indicator obperating performance or to cash flows as a measfuiquidity.

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is coraigtwith the calculation of FFO as defined by ttaidhal Association of Real Estate Investment
Trusts (NAREIT), is as follows:

¢ Netincome (los—computed in accordance with GAA

¢ Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhycgignificant to the real estate indust

¢ Less gains or plus losses from sales of depreci®eating properties, (excluding impairment los see Note 2 following the table) and ite
that are classified as extraordinary items undeAB#

¢ Plus minority interest

« Less dividends to preferred sharehold

¢ Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated pestrys and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis);

¢ Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and &iradion, gain/(loss) on sale and minority intenedated to discontinued operatio

CAD is defined as FFO reduced by non-revenue erihgueapital expenditures for building improvemeansl tenant improvements and lease
commissions related to second generation spaealdition, CAD includes both recurring and nonreicigrioperating results. As a result, nonrecurriegis

that are not defined as “extraordinaryider GAAP are reflected in the calculation of CADaddition, nonrecurring items included in thécodation of CAD
for periods ended after March 28, 2003 meet theirements of Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, as aneenganuary 22, 2003.
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FFO, FFO per share and cash available for distabdor the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002884 are summarized in the following table ($
in thousands):

2003 2002 2001
Per Per
Per Share Share Share
Amount Diluted Amount Diluted Amount Diluted
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 55,69¢ $ 93,46! $ 131,21:
Dividends to preferred sharehold: (30,85 (30,852 (31,500
Net income applicable to common she 24,84 $ 047 62,60¢ $1.17 99,71: $1.8¢
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate agSets 125,77¢ 2.3¢ 118,36° 2.22 105,44¢ 1.9¢
Gain on disposition of depreciable real estateta&se (37 — (14,42 0.27) (11,470 (0.21)
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprinome from
operations 3,00z 0.0¢€ 8,29¢ 0.1¢€ 15,50( 0.2¢
Transition adjustment upon adoption of SFAS — — — — 55€ 0.01
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as3ets 9,22t 0.17 9,61¢ 0.1¢ 8,48: 0.1€
Discontinued operatior4':
Depreciation and amortization of real estate aslets 2,91¢ 0.0t 12,02¢ 0.22 11,92 0.2z
Gain on sale, net of minority interest from the @pieag Partnershi
@ (17,84°) (0.33) (15,19) (0.2¢) — —
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershiprinome from
discontinued operatior 1,79: 0.0z 2,90¢ 0.0t 3,44¢ 0.0¢
Funds from operations before amounts allocableitmnity interest from the
Operating Partnership 149,67¢ 2.8C 184,21t 3.4E 233,59 4.2¢
Minority interest from the Operating Partnershigunds from operation (16,559 (0.3) (21,81) (0.41) (28,38) (0.52)
Funds from operations applicable to common shares $ 133,12: $ 2.4¢ $162,40¢ $3.0¢ $205,21¢ $ 3.7¢
Cash available for distribution:
Funds from operations before amounts allocableitmrity interest from the
Operating Partnersh $ 149,67t $ 184,21¢ $ 233,59
Add/(Deduct):
Rental income from straic-line rents (5,189 (3,672 (11,259
Amortization of intangible lease ass 517 — —
Depreciation of non-real estate assets 3,44¢ 3,382 3,69¢
Impairment charge 2,701 13,50: —
Amortization of deferred financing cos 3,07¢ 1,39 2,00t
Non-recurring compensation exper — 3,70C —
Litigation expenst — 2,70C —
Nor-incremental revenue generating capital expendit
Building improvements pai (12,409 (7,947 (8,34¢
Second generation tenant improvements (27,810 (20,53)) (19,709
Second generation lease commissions (17,259 (12,329 (15,69))
(57,47°) (40,799 (43,74¢)
Cash available for distributic $ 96,75: $ 164,42 $ 184,92
Dividend payout data:
Dividends paid per common share/common $ 1.8¢ $ 2.3 $ 231
Funds from operatior 74.1% 77.(% 61.4%
Cash available for distributic 115.0% 86.5% 77.1%
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 53,40¢ 53,48t 54,57

o
K
i
K

Weighted average shares/units outstanding - diléted 60,03 60,63: ,

Net cash provided by/(used in)
Operating activitie: $ 153,25- $ 201,10° $ 248,41



©*
(o]
o1
a1
[y

Investing activities ,51. $ 195,58° $(139,64%)
Financing activities $(211,21%) $(386,25)) $(212,97¢)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivale $ 7,54 $ 10,44: $(104,20¢)
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(€] In connection with the SEC’s adoption of Regulat@rwhich governs the presentation of non-GAAPTitial measures in documents filed with the
SEC, we revised our definition of FFO for 2003 afiperiods presented relating to the add-backoofreal estate depreciation and amortization. Our
revised definition is in accordance with the defoni provided by NAREIT. The change reduced FF@beEimounts allocable to minority interest by
$0.8 million or $0.01 per share for the fourth deaof 2003 and by $0.8 million or $0.01 per sHarehe fourth quarter of 2002. For the full ye@03,
the impact was $3.4 million, or $0.06 per share, fan the full year 2002, the impact was $3.4 roiilior $0.05 per shar

@ In October 2003, NAREIT issued a Financial Repartitert that changed its current implementatiordgnice for FFO regarding impairment losses.
Accordingly, impairment losses related to deprdeiassets have now been included in FFO for thiegepresented. The following is a reconciliation
of gain/(loss) on disposition of depreciable resihte assets included in the FFO calculation amd(gess) on disposition of depreciable assetsuidet!
in our Consolidated Statements of Income for theyended December 31, 2003, 2002 and Z

2003 2002 2001
Continuing Operations:
Gain on disposition of depreciable real estatetagme FFO calculatio $ 37 $14,42: $11,47(
Impairment losse — (9,919 —
Gain on disposition and impairment of deprecialskess, net per Consolidated Statements of Inc $ 37 $ 4,50z $11,47(
Discontinued Operations:
Gain on disposition of depreciable real estatetagmr FFO calculatio $17,847 $15,19: $ —
Impairment losse (28¢) (3,589 —
Gain on disposition and impairment of deprecialsigets, net per Consolidated Statements of Inc $17,55¢ $11,60" $ —

In addition to the impairment losses detailed ab&FO for the year ended December 31, 2003 aldodas a $2.4 million impairment loss included in
our equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliatelited to the acquisition of certain assets efMitG-HIW, LLC joint venture by the Company.

3) As a result of FASB’s “Rescission of FASB Statensdxb. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB StatementllSpand Technical Corrections” (“SFAS
145"), losses on the extinguishment of debt artonger classified as an extraordinary item in oangblidated Statements of Income. Therefore, the
calculation of FFO no longer includes an add-b&dkis amount. FFO before amounts allocable to miipninterest from the Operating Partnership for
the year ended December 31, 2002 was decreasdtl byndllion, which represents a loss on the extisigmnent of debt incurred during those periods.
There were no losses on the extinguishment ofidebtred in 2003

As a result of the changes to the FFO calculatooudlined in footnotes (1), (2) and (3), FFO hasrbreduced by the following in dollars and pere

amounts:
2003 2002 2001
FFO in dollars before amounts allocable to minontgrest from the Operating Partners $(6,147) $(17,577) $(3,69¢)
FFO per shar $(0.11) $ (0.29 $ (0.06

@ For further discussion related to discontinued afpens, see Note 12 to the Consolidated Finant&#eents.

6 Assumes redemption of Common Units for shares ofi@on Stock. Minority interest Common Unit holdensldahe stockholders of the Company
share equally on a per Common Unit and per shasis;ltherefore, the per share information is urcaéie by conversior

ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussidudies “forward-looking statements” and represents
an estimate of possible changes in fair value mréuearnings that would occur assuming hypothidiitare movements in interest rates. These discess
are not precise indicators of expected future dset only indicators of reasonably possible Iesga a result, actual future results may diffeterially
from those presented. See “Management’s DiscussidrAnalysis of Financial Condition and Result©gkrations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementa fitescription of our accounting policies and oth@armation related to these financial instruments.
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To meet in part our long-term liquidity requiremgntve borrow funds at a combination of fixed andal#e rates. Borrowings under our two revolving
loans bear interest at variable rates. Our longrebt, which consists of secured and unsecuregtiemm financings and the issuance of unsecuretl deb
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratesaddition, we have assumed fixed rate and klErigate debt in connection with acquiring propertiOur
interest rate risk management objective is to Ithitimpact of interest rate changes on earningsash flows and to lower our overall borrowingtso3 o
achieve these objectives, from time to time wereinte interest rate hedge contracts such as splavaps, caps and treasury lock agreements in tarde
mitigate our interest rate risk with respect toimas debt instruments. We do not hold or issuecthiesivative contracts for trading or speculativeposes.

As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately $2&8llion of variable rate debt outstanding thasvwat protected by interest rate hedge contracts.
If the weighted average interest rate on this Weisate debt is 100 basis points higher or loweind) the 12 months ended December 31, 2004, ¢eneist
expense would be increased or decreased approkrat@ million.

For a discussion of our interest rate hedge catstineffect at December 31, 2003 see “Managersd@iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditi
and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capitas&urces — Interest Rate Hedging Activities.” tenest rates increase by 100 basis points, theeggty
fair market value of these interest rate hedgereot# as of December 31, 2003 would increase bgoappately $0.3 million. If interest rates decreagel 00
basis points, the aggregate fair market value eddtinterest rate hedge contracts as of Decemb2082 would decrease by approximately $0.2 million

In addition, we are exposed to certain lossesaretrent of nonperformance by the counter partieeutihe hedge contracts. We expect the counter
parties, which are major financial institutions peerform fully under the contracts. However, iheit of the counter parties was to default on itggation
under an interest rate hedge contract, we couteédpgred to pay the full rates on our debt, evesudh rates were in excess of the rate in the acntr
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See page F-1 of the financial report included Imerei

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requivdzkbtdisclosed in our annual and periodic reports
filed with the SEC is recorded, processed, sumredrand reported within the time periods specifiethe SEC’s rules and forms. These disclosure otsntr
and procedures are further designed to ensursdishtinformation is accumulated and communicatexitananagement, including our Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO;"Jo allow timely decisions regarding required thsare. SEC rules require that we disclose the
conclusions of our CEO and CFO about the effectgsrof our disclosure controls and procedures.

The CEO and CFO evaluation of our disclosure cémtind procedures included a review of the coritodiectives and design, the controls’
implementation by the Company and the effect ofcthrtrols on the information generated for usénis Annual Report. In the course of the evaluatioa,
sought to identify data errors, control problemsats of fraud and to confirm that appropriate ective action, including process improvements, viiag
undertaken. Our disclosure controls and procecaneglso evaluated on an ongoing basis by thenitp

« employees in our internal audit departme
e other personnel in our finance organizati
* members of our internal disclosure commiti
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« members of the audit committee of our Board of &ives; anc
« ourindependent auditors in connection with thaitiband review activities

Among other matters, we sought in our evaluatioddi@rmine whether there were any “significantaeficies” or “material weaknesses” in our
disclosure controls and procedures, or whetheradeidentified any acts of fraud involving personwélb have a significant role in our disclosure colst
and procedures. In the professional auditing litesg “significant deficiencies” are referred to“eepportable conditions,” which are control isstiest could
have a significant adverse effect on the abilityeimord, process, summarize and report financial idethe financial statements. A “material wealgiés
defined in the auditing literature as a particylagrious reportable condition where the interoatiml does not reduce to a relatively low leved tisk that
misstatements caused by error or fraud may occamiounts that would be material in relation tofthancial statements and not be detected withimaly
period by employees in the normal course of periiogrtheir assigned functions.

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, doesxpact that our disclosure controls and proceduiéprevent all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operatau provide only reasonable, not absolute, asserdyat the objectives of the control system are met
Further, the design of disclosure controls and gaaces must reflect the fact that there are resozwostraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because oirtherent limitations in all control systems, no lexgion of controls can provide absolute assuradhaeall
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, iwithe Company have been detected. These inhém@tetions include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdogamsoccur because of a simple error or mistakeitidddlly, controls can be circumvented by the
individual acts of some persons, by collusion af tw more people, or by management override o€timerol. The design of any system of controls &so
based in part upon certain assumptions aboutkbihood of future events, and there can be norasse that any design will succeed in achievingtised
goals under all potential future conditions. Beeaofthe inherent limitations in a cost-effectivetrol system, misstatements due to error or fraagl occur
and not be detected.

Based on the most recent evaluation, which was tEetbas of December 31, 2003, our CEO and CF@veethat our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that mateffiatrimation relating to us and our consolidated slibsies is made known to management, includingCtB®©
and CFO, particularly during the period when ouwiqalic reports are being prepared, and that owlabsire controls and procedures are effective dvige
reasonable assurance that our financial stateraemfairly presented in conformity with GAAP.

Since the date of this most recent evaluationgthewve been no significant changes in our intezoadrols or in other factors that could signifidgnt
affect the internal controls subsequent to the dateompleted our evaluation.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company intends to file a Proxy StatementHerAnnual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May2@4 within 120 days of December 31, 2(
The section under the heading “Election of Diregtaf such Proxy Statement for the Annual Meetifh@mckholders to be held May 18, 2004 is
incorporated herein by reference for informatiordamectors of the Company. See ITEM X in Part ldudifor information regarding executive officerstoé
Company.

The Section under the heading “Committees of ther@of Directors -Audit Committee ” of the Proxy Statement is incorporated hereimdfgrence.

We have adopted a code of ethics that appliest€B® and Senior Financial Officers, a copy of whig available free of charge on our corporate
website, which is http://www.highwoods.com. We irdeo satisfy the disclosure requirement under li®nof Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a
waiver from, a provision of this code of ethicsfmsting such information on our website as idesdifabove. Our website also includes our board cateeni
charters and our corporate governance guidelinkéscnatively, you may request any of this informatiree of charge by writing to us at Highwoods
Properties, Inc., Investor Relations, 3100 Smoke@eurt, Suite 600, Raleigh, NC 27604.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The section under the heading “Election of Diregt@ntitled “Compensation of Directors” of the Pyd8tatement and the section titled “Executive
Compensation” of the Proxy Statement are incorpadraerein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The sections under the headings “Voting SecuréiesPrincipal Stockholders” and “Equity Compensaftan Information” of the Proxy Statement
are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The section under the heading “Related Party Tdings” of the Proxy Statement is incorporated imeby reference.
ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The section under the headi“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Audit” of the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein ligremce
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(@) List of Documents Filed as a Part of this Rej
1. Consolidated Financial Statements, Consolidatedrf€iial Statement Schedules and Report of Indep¢rdelitors See Index on Pag-1
2. Exhibits

EX. FN Description

3.1 (1) Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatiorhef€ompan

3.2 (2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Comg

4.1 (2) Specimen of certificate representing shares of Com8tock

4.2 (3) Indenture among the Operating Partnership, the @agnpnd First Union National Bank of North Carolaeted as of December 1, 1€
4.3 (4) Specimen of certificate representing 8 5/8% SeXi€umulative Redeemable Preferred Shi

4.4 (5) Specimen of certificate representing 8% Series Bi@ative Redeemable Preferred Sh:

4.5 (6) Specimen of certificate representing 8% Series B@ative Redeemable Preferred She

4.6 (6) Specimen of Depositary Receipt evidencing the DitgmysShares each representing 1/10 of an 8% Seriésmulative Redeemable
Preferred Shar

4.7 (6) Deposit Agreement, dated April 23, 1998, between@bmpany and First Union National Bank, as prefeshare deposita
4.8 (7) Rights Agreement, dated as of October 6, 1997, dmtvthe Company and First Union National Bankjgigs agen
4.9 (8) Agreement to furnish certain instruments defining tights of lon-term debt holder

410 (17) Amendment No. 1, dated as of October 7, 2003,ddilghts Agreement, dated as of October 7, 199Wdamn the Company and Wachovia
Bank, N.A., as rights age

10.1 (2) Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partifedtthe Operating Partnerst

10.2 (4) Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement oftechiRartnership of the Operating Partnership véipect to Series A Preferr
Units

10.3 (5) Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement ofteihiPartnership of the Operating Partnership vésipect to Series B Preferred
Units

104 (6) Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement oftedriRartnership of the Operating Partnership vésipect to Series D Preferred
Units

105 (9) Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement oftéchiPartnership of the Operating Partnership véipect to certain rights of limit
partners upon a change of con

10.6 (10) Form of Registration Rights and Lockup Agreemenbagitthe Company and the Holders named therein hadgeeement is signed by all
Common Unit holder

10.7 (11) Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option

10.8 (8) 1997 Performance Award Pl

10.9 (12) Form of Executive Supplemental Employment Agreenbettveen the Company and Named Executive Off

10.10 (13) Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of the@my issued to John L. Turner, William T. Wilséhand John E. Reece
10.11 (14) Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of tha@my issued to W. Brian Reames, John W. EakinTéimnas S. Smit
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EX. FN Description

10.12 (15) 1999 Shareholder Value PI

10.13 (16) Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among HigtisvBealty Limited Partnership, Highwoods Properties., the Subsidiaries nan
therein and the Lenders named therein, dated &gyfl7, 200:

21 (12) Schedule of subsidiaries of the Comp:

23 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

311 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
321 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act
32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

(1) Filed as part of the Company’s Current ReparForm 8-K dated September 25, 1997 and amendeadibles supplementary filed as part of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Octdhd997 and articles supplementary filed as path@Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated April 20, 1998, each of which is incorpordbedein by referenc:

(2) Filed as part of Registration Statemen-76952 dated February 28, 1994 with the SEC andpacated herein by referenc

(3) Filed as part of the Operating Partner’s Current Report on Forn-K dated December 2, 1996 and incorporated herenefeyence

(4) Filed as part of the Compg’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated February 12, 1997 and incorporated hengieference

(5) Filed as part of the Compé’s Current Report on Forn-K dated September 25, 1997 and incorporated hbyeiaference

(6) Filed as part of the Compg’s Current Report on Forn-K dated April 20, 1998 and incorporated herein dfgrence

(7) Filed as part of the Compg’s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 4, 1997 and incorporated hereirefgrence

(8) Filed as part of the Compég's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 1997 and incatpdrherein by referenc

(9) Filed as part of the Operating Partner’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997 and incaotgbizerein by referenc
(10) Filed as part of the Compég's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 1995 and incatpdrherein by referenc

(11) Filed as part of the Compsg’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

(12) Filed as part of the Compég's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incatpdrherein by referenc

(13) Filed as part of Registration Statemen-88364 with the SEC and incorporated herein by egfee.

(14) Filed as part of the Compg’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated April 1, 1996 and incorporated herein Hgnmence.

(15) Filed as part of the Compég's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incatpdrherein by referenc

(16) Filed as part of the Compg’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 and incowgbteerein by referenc

(17) Filed as part of the Compg’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 andgocated herein by referenc

The Company will provide copies of any exhibit, nperitten request, at a cost of $.05 per page.
(b) Reports on Form-K
None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be signedson it
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrizethe City of Raleigh, State of North Carolina, March 15, 2004.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC

By: /sl RoNALD P. GIBSON

Ronald P. Gibson
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydtowing persons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl O. Temple Sloan, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors March 15, 2004

O. Temple Sloan, Jr.

/s/ Ronald P. Gibson Chief Executive Officer and Director March 15, 2004

Ronald P. Gibson

/s/ Edward J. Fritsch President, Chief Operating Officer, and Director March 15, 2004

Edward J. Fritsch

/s/ John L. Turner Vice Chairman of the Board and Direc March 15, 200:-

John L. Turner

/sl Gene H. Anderson Senior Vice President and Director March 15, 2004

Gene H. Anderson

/s/  Thomas W. Adler Director March 15, 2004

Thomas W. Adler

/sl Kay N. Callison Director March 15, 2004
Kay N. Callison
/sl William E. Graham, Jr. Director March 15, 2004

William E. Graham, Jr.

/sl Lawrence S. Kaplan Director March 15, 200

Lawrence S. Kaplan

/s/ L. Glenn Orr, Jr. Director March 15, 2004

L. Glenn Orr, Jr.

/s/  Willard H. Smith, Jr. Director March 15, 2004

Willard H. Smith, Jr.

/sl F. William Vandiver, Jr. Director March 15, 2004

F. William Vandiver, Jr.

/sl Terry L. Stevens Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasur March 15, 2004

Terry L. Stevens
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Highwoods Properties, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Highwoods Properties, Inc. as of Deeerdl, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholdensitgcand cash flows for each of the three yeatbiénperiod ended December 31, 2003. Our audits als
included the financial statement schedules listettié Index at Item 15(a). These financial statémand schedules are the responsibility of the Gowy’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements and schedukedan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audibagdards generally accepted in the United Statexsse standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free déried misstatement. An audit includes examiningao
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts astbdiges in the financial statements. An audit alstudes assessing the accounting principles asdd
significant estimates made by management, as welaluating the overall financial statement presgem. We believe that our audits provide a reabte
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@dlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, donsolidated financial position of Highwoods
Properties, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002tlendonsolidated results of its operations anddsh flows for each of the three years in theopleended
December 31, 2003, in conformity with accountinm@iples generally accepted in the United Statéso An our opinion, the related financial stateten
schedules, when considered in relation to the Harsiacial statements taken as a whole, preseilg iim all material respects the information seith
therein.

In 2003, as discussed in Note 1 to the consolidé@tedcial statements, the Company adopted theigioms of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB StatementsAiN44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement ISpafid Technical Corrections.” In 2002, as
discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated finarsta@tements, the Company adopted the provisiontatér@ent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets”.

/SI ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 20, 2004, except for Note 19
as to which the date is March 2, 2004
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(% in thousands)

December 31,

2003 2002
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land and improvemen $ 397,13: $ 395,55¢
Buildings and tenant improvemet 2,903,14 2,834,67!
Development in proce: 6,89¢ 6,42(
Land held for developme! 191,15¢ 164,34
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 21,81¢ 20,96¢
3,520,15: 3,421,95.
Less— accumulated depreciatic (537,85)) (455,68%)
Net real estate asse 2,982,30: 2,966,26:
Property held for sal 65,72¢ 166,70
Cash and cash equivalel 18,56¢ 11,017
Restricted cas 6,32( 8,582
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,235$hd50, respectivel 17,827 13,57¢
Notes receivabl 24,62 31,057
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl 51,18¢ 48,77
Investments in unconsolidated affiliai 74,66¢ 79,504
Other asset:
Deferred leasing cos 110,36: 99,89t
Deferred financing cos 46,19¢ 26,12(
Prepaid expenses and otl 13,79¢ 15,29¢
170,35¢ 141,31(
Less— accumulated amortizatic (84,769 (71,427
Other assets, n 85,59¢ 69,88:
Total Assets $3,326,80! $3,395,36!
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $1,558,75! $1,528,72
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied 111,77: 120,61
Total Liabilities 1,670,53! 1,649,33.
Minority interest 165,25( 188,56:
Stockholder’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 awtbdrshares
8 5/8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeSHaquidation preference $1,000 per share), 4%
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,82@D200Z 104,94 104,94
8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred SKlageslation preference $25 per share), 6,900,0G0es
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 ari 172,50( 172,50(
8% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sllageglation preference $250 per share), 400,0@0esh
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 ar2i 100,00( 100,00(
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 53,474,403 and 53,400,195 shares isaded a
outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respéc 53t 534
Additional paic-in capital 1,393,10: 1,390,04
Distributions in excess of net earnir (271,97) (197,64°)
Accumulated other comprehensive | (3,650 (9,209
Deferred compensatic (4,437 (3,699
Total Stockholder Equity 1,491,022 1,557,47.
Total Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity $3,326,80! $3,395,36!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ@grstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(% in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 anti 200

Rental revenue
Operating expenses
Rental propert
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative (includes $3,700 nonremicompensation expense in 20
Litigation expenst

Total operating expens

Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Other income:
Interest and other incon
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income before gain on disposition of land and deprable assets, minority interest and discontinue
operations
Gain on disposition of lan
Gain on disposition and impairment of deprecialskess, ne

Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations
Minority interest

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Income from discontinued operations, net of miryariterest
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomiiy interest

Net income
Dividends on preferred stock

Net income available for common stockholder
Net income/(loss) per common shar- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Income from discontinued operatic
Net income
Weighted average common shares outstar— basic
Net income/(loss) per common shar- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Income from discontinued operatic
Net income

Weighted average common shares outstarn- diluted

Dividends declared per common sh

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@grstents.
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2003 2002 2001
$422,06;  $433,06!  $449,92¢
147,38 137,71 139,18
129,22 121,74 109, 14¢
24,81¢ 24,57¢ 21,39(
— 2,70( —
301,42 286,73t 269,71
111,19 109,51 105,49:
3,07¢ 1,39¢ 2,00¢
114,27 110,90 107,49t
11,91¢ 13,56: 24,42¢
4,75( 8,06: 8,911
16,66¢ 21,62t 33,33¢
23,03 57,047 106,05t
3,73¢ 6,89¢ 4,70:
37 4,50z 11,47(
26,81¢ 68,44: 122,22
(3,009 (8,299 (15,500
23,81( 60,147 106,72
14,32¢ 21,707 24,48:
17,55¢ 11,60" —
31,88¢ 33,31« 24,48:
55,69t 93,467 131,21
(30,85)  (30,85) (31,500
$ 24,840  $6260¢ $ 99,71
$ (019 $ 058 § 1.3¢
0.6C 0.62 0.4%

$ 047 $ 116 $ 1.8
53,27: 53,22¢ 54,22¢
$ (019 $ 058 $ 1.3¢
0.6C 0.62 0.4t

$ 047 $ 117 $ 1.8¢
53,40¢ 53,48t 54,57
$ 18 $ 234 $ 231
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Balance at December 31,
2000

Issuance of Common Sto

Common Stock Dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Issuance of restricted sto

Amortization of deferred
compensatiol

Repurchase of Common
Stock

Repurchase of Preferred
Stock

Other comprehensive lo

Net Income

Balance at December 31,
2001

Issuance of Common Sto

Conversion of Common
Units to Common Stoc

Common Stock Dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Issuance of restricted sto

Amortization of deferred
compensatiol

Repurchase of Commc
Stock

Other comprehensive
income

Net Income

Balance at December 31,
2002

Issuance of Common Sto

Conversion of Common
Units to Common Stoc

Common Stock Dividenc

Preferred Stock dividenc

Issuance of restricted sto

Repurchase of Common
Stock

Fair value of stock options
issued

Amortization of deferred
compensatiol

Other comprehensive
income

Net Income

Balance at December 2
2003

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(% in thousands, except for number of common shares
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 antl 200

Accumulated

Deferred Other Distributions
Number of Additional - C hensi in E
(élc:nmrigﬁ Common Series A Series B Series D Palicli(?lma Compensatior omprenensiv mof)lilceetss
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Preferred Capital Loss Earnings Total
58,124,20 $ 581 $125,00( $172,50( $100,00( $1,506,16. $ (2,48¢) $ — $ (110,209 $1,791,54!
72,25¢ — — — — 1,42¢ — — — 1,42¢
— — — — — — — — (125,38)  (125,38()
— — — — — — — — (31,500 (31,500
84,66: — — — — 2,10¢ (2,109 — — —
— — — — — — 1,03¢ — — 1,03¢
(5,389,30)) (52) — — —  (134,70) — — — (134,75
— — (20,059 — — 1,55¢ — — — (18,509
— — — — — — — (9,447 — (9,44))
— — — — — — — — 131,21 131,21
52,891,82 52¢ 104,94! 172,50( 100,00( 1,376,54i (3,561 (9,441 (135,87 1,605,64
249,29 2 — — — 5,78¢ — — — 5,78¢
257,12: 3 — — — 7,471 — — — 7,47¢
— — — — — — — — (124,379 (124,379
— — — — — — — — (30,857 (30,857
48,56: — — — — 1,41¢ (1,419 — — _
— — — — — — 1,27¢ — — 1,27¢
(46,607 — — — — (1,172 — — — (1,172
— — — — — — — 237 — 2317
— — — — — — — — 93,46! 93,46!
53,400,19 534 104,94! 172,50( 100,00( 1,390,04: (3,699 (9,209  (197,64) 1,557,47,
99,03¢ 1 — — — 1,97¢ — — — 1,97¢
318,24¢ 3 — — — 7,82¢ — — — 7,821
— — — — — — — — (99,167 (99,167
— — — — — — — — (30,857 (30,857
103,52( 1 — — — 2,221 (2,222 — — —
(446,600 (4) — — — (9,279 — — — (9,277
— — — — — 31z (313) — — —
— — — — — — 1,801 — — 1,801
— — — — — — — 5,552 — 5,55¢
— — — — — — — — 55,69¢ 55,69¢
53,474,40 $ 53t $104,94! $172,50( $100,00( $1,393,10: $ (4,437 $ (3,650 $(271,97) $1,491,02

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@tdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

($ in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 anti 200

Operating activities:
Income from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing rapiens to net cash provided by operating actisit

Depreciatior
Amortization of lease commissio
Amortization of deferred compensati
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Gain on disposition of land and depreciable as
Minority interest
Transition loss upon adoption of SFAS 1
Loss on ineffective portion of derivative instrune
Discontinued operatior
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate ass

Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Repayments from unconsolidated affilia
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliat
Investments in notes receival

Other investing activitie

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activi

Financing activities:

Distributions paid on common stock and common t
Settlement of interest rate swap agreer
Dividends paid on preferred sto

Repurchase of preferred stc

Net proceeds from the sale of common st
Repurchase of common stock and common 1
Borrowings on revolving loar

Repayment of revolving loar

Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay:
Repayment of mortgages and notes pay

Net change in deferred financing cc

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the g

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pt

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere:

2003 2002 2001
$ 2381C $ 60,147 $106,72
111,85 104,05: 96,46¢
17,36¢ 17,69¢ 12,68:
1,801 1,27¢ 1,03¢
3,07¢ 1,39: 2,00¢
1,68¢ 1,54: 1,56¢
(4,750) (8,069 (8,919
(3,779 (11,39 (16,179
3,00¢ 8,29¢ 15,50
— — 55€
— — 55¢
19,03¢ 36,64¢ 39,85:
(4,249 10,08¢ (454)
3,75¢ (7,73) (2,076)
(5,189 (3,34  (11,25)
(14,18) (9,49%) 10,33t
153,25 201,10° 248,41!
(203,359 (130,87  (351,98)
245,25; 302,20! 161,38
— 78¢ 27,57(
9,48¢ 11,20 9,72:
15,88¢ 12,70 37,15"
(1,769 @43 (23,500
65,51 195,58 (139,641
(111,80) (141,170 (142,889
3,86¢ — —
(30,85) (30,859 (31,500
— — (18,507
1,97¢ 5,78¢ 1,42
(19,079 4,837  (148,78)
279,501 211,50( 594,00(
(282,000  (382,50()  (365,50()
229,69 51,73: 76,70°
(279,63) (94,619 (176,919
(2,889 (1,308) (1,010
(211,219  (386,25) (212,979
7,547 10,44: (104,20
11,017 57€ 104,78
$ 1856¢ $ 11,017 $  57€
$11520: $117,34; $122,76(

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@tdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Continued
($ in thousands)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 anti 200

Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activities

The following table summarizes the net assets iburied by the holders of Common Units in the OpegaPartnership, the net assets acquired subject
to mortgage notes payable and other non-cash ttmss:

2003 2002 2001
Assets:
Net real estate ass¢ $64,40¢ $43,14¢ $6,51¢
Cash and cash equivalel — 358 40
Accounts receivabl — 13¢ —
Notes receivabl 9,45k — —
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat (1,867) (1,174 —
Deferred financing cos 17,81( — —
$89,81 $42,46¢ $6,55¢€
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal $82,48¢  $23,36¢  $3,92-
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied 7,327 18,50¢ 73
$89,81 $41,87: $3,99¢
Equity: $ — $ 592  $2,561

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@tdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 200:

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P OLICIES
Description of the Company

Highwoods Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) is &-selministered and self-managed real estate imvastinust (“REIT”) that operates in the
southeastern and midwestern United States. The @wytgpwholly-owned assets include: 465 in-serviffe®, industrial and retail properties; 213 apatrn
units; 1,305 acres of undeveloped land suitabléuiare development; and an additional four prapertinder development.

The Company conducts substantially all of its atiéig through, and substantially all of its intasei® the properties are held directly or indingdty,
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership (the “Opergtifartnership”). The Company is the sole genenghpaof the Operating Partnership. At December 31,
2003, the Company owned 100.0% of the preferretheeship interests (“Preferred Units”) and 88.9%haf common partnership interests (“Common Ujits”
in the Operating Partnership. In 2003, the Compapyrchased from limited partners (including certificers and directors of the Company) 453,635
Common Units back into the Operating Partnershipckvincreased the percentage of common partneustiip owned by the Company from 88.4% at
December 31, 2002 to 88.9% at December 31, 200@lertoof Common Units may redeem them for the easle of one share of the Company’s Common
Stock, $.01 par value (the “Common Stock”), otthat Company'’s option, one share of Common Stock.tfilee series of Preferred Units in the Operating
Partnership were issued to the Company in conneetith the Company’s three Preferred Stock offesing1997 and 1998. The net proceeds raised from
each of the three Preferred Stock issuances wetdlnated by the Company to the Operating Partriglishexchange for preferred interests in the Otega
Partnership. The terms of each series of Preféirets generally parallel the terms of the respecBveferred Stock as to dividends, liquidation and
redemption rights as more fully described in Nate 9

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of the Company and the Operating Partneestd its majorit-owned affiliates. All
significant intercompany balances and transacti@ve been eliminated in the consolidated finarstaements.

The Company has elected and expects to contingediify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86Befinternal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”), as amended. As a REIT, the Company gelyesdll not be subject to federal or state incorares on its net income that it distributes to
stockholders. Continued qualification as a REITatefs on the Company’s ability to satisfy the dividi@istribution tests, stock ownership requiremegtsl
various other qualification tests prescribed in@uale. In June 1994, the Company formed a taxaBl& Bubsidiary, as permitted under the Code, thinoug
which it conducts certain business activities;tthable REIT subsidiary is subject to federal aiatesincome taxes on its net taxable income and the
Company records provisions for such taxes to thenexequired based on its income recognized famftial statement purposes, including the effefcts o
temporary differences between such income and¢icagnized for tax purposes.

Minority interest. Minority interest in the accompanying consolidafiedncial statements relate to the common ownerisitgrests in the Operating
Partnership owned by various individuals and exgtiother than the Company. As of December 31, 28@3ninority interest in the Operating Partnership
consisted of 6.2 million common units. Minority énést is computed by applying the percentage ohoomunits to the total number of outstanding common
units and common shares to the Operating Partmesshcome from continuing operations and its diggwed operations as reflected in the income
statement. The result is the amount of minoritgriest expense recorded for the period. In addititien a common unit holder redeems a common uné fo
share of common stock or cash, the minority intdeeeduced and the Company’s share in the Opgr&artnership is increased.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

Real estate assetd\ll capitalizable costs related to the improvementeplacement of commercial real estate propeatiecapitalized. Depreciation is
computed using the straiglite method over the estimated useful life of 4@rgefor buildings, 15 years for building improvertgeand five to seven years
furniture, fixtures and equipment. Tenant improvataeare amortized over the life of the respectasés, using the straight-line method. Real eatsiets
are stated at the lower of cost or fair valuemipaired.

Expenditures directly related to the development@mstruction of real estate assets are includeet real estate assets and are stated at dbst in
consolidated balance sheets. Expenditures diregitlyed to the leasing of properties are includesther assets and are stated at cost in the ¢datsnl
balance sheets. The development expenditures mg@retconstruction costs essential to the develapoferoperties, development and constructions;ost
interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries awd otists incurred during the period of developmEhé construction expenditures include all genanal
administrative costs, including compensation inedrin connection with specific construction progedthe leasing expenditures include all general and
administrative costs, including compensation inediin connection with successfully securing leasethe properties. Estimated costs related to wesstu
activities are expensed as incurred. If the Comisaagsumptions regarding the successful efforteslopment, construction and leasing are incartieet
resulting adjustments could impact earnings.

Upon the acquisition of real estate, the Compasgsses the fair value of acquired tangible assetsas land, buildings and tenant improvements,
intangible assets such as above and below madstdeacquired-in place leases and other ideniiftadgible assets and assumed liabilities in ataure
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standar®&HAS”) No. 141. The Company allocates the purclpaise to the acquired assets and assumed liabilitie
based on their relative fair values. The Compasgsses and considers fair value based on estimagbdlow projections that utilize appropriate disat
and/or capitalization rates, as well as availabdek®t information. The fair value of the tangibssets of an acquired property considers the vdltieeo
property as if it were vacant.

Above and below market leases acquired are recadbeir fair value. The capitalized abavarket lease values are amortized as a reductibasef
rental revenue over the remaining term of the retbpeleases and the capitalized below-market lgakees are amortized as an increase to based renta
revenue over the remaining term of the respectasds.

The value of in-place leases is based on the Coypgamaluation of the specific characteristics atle tenant’s lease. Factors considered include
estimates of carrying costs during hypotheticaleexgd lease-up periods, current market conditiamd,cost to execute similar leases. The value-pfaoe
leases are amortized to depreciation and amodizatipense over the remaining term of the respetgases. If a tenant vacates its space prios to it
contractual expiration date, any unamortized baafdheir related intangible asset is expensed.

The value of tenant relationships is based on tragany’s overall relationship with the respectiegant. Factors considered include the tesaredit
quality and expectations of lease renewals. Theevaf tenant relationships is amortized to exp@wse the initial term and any renewal periods dsfim
the respective leases. Based on the Company’ssitiojs to date, the Company has deemed relatipssbibe immaterial and have not allocated any
amounts to this intangible asset.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

Real estate and leasehold improvements are ckdsifi long-lived assets held for sale or as lorgglassets to be held and used. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 14dcounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lgphived Assets”, the Company records assets held
for sale at the lower of the carrying amount or failue less cost to sell. The impairment losdiésgmount by which the carrying amount exceed$aine
value less cost to sell. With respect to assessifiad as held and used, the Company periodicalliews these assets to determine whether itsiogrry
amount will be recovered from their undiscountettifel operating cash flows and the Company recogramempairment loss to the extent it believes the
carrying amount is not recoverable. The Companstsrates of the undiscounted future operating fasis expected to be generated are based on a mumbe
of assumptions that are subject to economic anétehancertainties including, among others, demandgpace, competition for tenants, changes in nharke
rental rates, and costs to operate each propestthése factors are difficult to predict and argjestt to future events that may alter the Company’s
assumptions, the undiscounted future operating fhawis estimated by the Company in its impairmerdlgses may not be achieved and the Company may
be required to recognize future impairment lossetsoproperties.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had 438,0d8redfeet of property, 88 apartment units and 168tés of land under contract for sale or letter
of intent in various transactions totaling $90.3liomi. These real estate assets have a carryinge\&l$65.7 million and have been classified astadseld fo
sale in the accompanying financial statements.

Rental revenue.Rental revenue is comprised of base rent, projpgréyating cost recoveries from tenants, parkingathdr income and termination
fees which relate to specific tenants each of whampaid a fee to terminate its lease obligatidarbehe end of the contracted term on the lease.

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accountinigdtples (“GAAP”), base rental revenue is recogdipa a straight-line basis over the terms of the
respective leases. This means that, with respecptoticular lease, actual amounts billed in ad&oce with the lease during any given period makigleer
or lower than the amount of rental revenue recaghfor the period. Accrued straight-line rents resiele represents the amount by which straight{leraal
revenue exceeds rents currently billed in accorelavith lease agreements. Termination fees are némed)as revenue when the following four conditians
met:

« afully executed lease termination agreement hes Helivered

« the tenant has vacated the spi

¢ the amount of the fee is determinable;

¢ collectibility of the fee is reasonably assur

Property operating cost recoveries from tenantgdst reimbursements) are determined on a leasealsg-basis. The most common types of cost

reimbursements in the Company’s leases are comnmeamaaintenance (“CAM”) and real estate taxes, e/lige tenant pays its pro-rata share of operating
and administrative expenses and real estate taxes.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

The computation of cost reimbursements from ternamt€AM and real estate taxes is complex and we®humerous judgments including
interpretation of terms and other tenant leaseipi@vs. Most tenants make monthly fixed paymentSAM, real estate taxes and other cost reimbursemen
items. The Company records these payments as ineanoiemonth. The Company also makes adjustmergiiveoor negative, to cost recovery income to
adjust the recorded amounts to the Company’s Iséist&e of the final amounts to be billed and el with respect to the cost reimbursements. Affter
end of the calendar year, the Company computesteaaht’s final cost reimbursements and issue# arliredit for the full amount, after considering
amounts paid by the tenants during the year. Tifierdhces between the amounts billed, less prelioaseived payments and the accrual adjustment are
recorded as increases or decreases to cost redneeryie when the final bills are prepared, usuadlginning in March and completed by June or Juhe T
net amounts of any such adjustments have not beggrial in any of the years ended December 31, 20022001. Final adjustments for the year ended
December 31, 2003 have not yet been determined.

Allowance for doubtful accounts.Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowancarfaunts that may become uncollectible in the &tlihe
Company'’s receivable balance is comprised primafilgents and operating cost recoveries due frorarts as well as accrued rental rate increases to b
received over the life of the existing leases. Toenpany regularly evaluates the adequacy of itsvalhce for doubtful accounts. The evaluation prilpar
consists of reviewing past due account balancesansidering such factors as the credit qualitthefCompany’s tenants, historical trends of thanén
and/or other debtor, current economic conditiors@ranges in customer payment terms. Additionalith respect to tenants in bankruptcy, the Company
estimates the expected recovery through bankrugiéims and increases the allowance for amounts eéemcollectible. If the Company’s assumptions
regarding the collectibility of accounts receivapteve incorrect, the Company could experienceeasfts of accounts receivable or accrued straitat-|
rents receivable in excess of its allowance fordiol accounts.

Investments in joint ventures.The Company'’s investments in unconsolidated affisaconsist of one corporation, nine limited lispicompanies,
four limited partnerships and three general pastnips. The Company accounts for its investmentsgonsolidated affiliates under the equity methbd o
accounting as the Company exercises significahténte, but does not have financial or operatingrob These investments are initially recordedast, as
investments in unconsolidated affiliates, and atessquently adjusted for equity in earnings anti castributions and distributions. Any differencstyeen
the carrying amount of these investments on thegamy's balance sheet and the underlying equityetraesets is amortized as an adjustment to equity i
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates over the diféhe property, generally 40 years.

From time to time, the Company contributes readtesassets to an unconsolidated joint ventureéhange for a combination of cash and an equity
interest in the venture. The Company records agbgdin on the contribution of the real estateetsto the extent of the third party investor’'mest and
records a deferred gain to the extent of its caoimig interest in the unconsolidated joint venture.

Additionally, the joint ventures will frequently bow money on their own behalf to finance the asifjioin of and/or leverage the return upon the
properties being acquired by the joint ventureodndild or acquire additional buildings, typicatim a non-recourse or limited recourse basis. Thapgaoy
generally is not liable for the debts of their foentures, except to the extent of the Companylstg investment, unless the Company has directly
guaranteed any of that debt. (See Note 15 forduriscussion). In most cases, the Company and/strategic partners are required to guarantdermasy
exceptions to non-recourse liability in non-receusans.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

Cash equivalentsThe Company considers highly liquid investmentdwitmaturity of three months or less when purchéség cash equivalents.

Restricted cash Restricted cash includes security deposits foQtbmpany’s commercial properties and constructidated escrows. In addition, the
Company maintains escrow and reserve funds forgksisice, real estate taxes and property insurestedlished pursuant to certain mortgage financing
arrangements.

Income taxes.The Company is a REIT for federal income tax puggo#\ corporate REIT is a legal entity that holelsl estate assets, and through the
payment of dividends to stockholders, is permitteceduce or avoid the payment of federal and @tatame taxes at the corporate level. As of Decerhe
2003, to maintain qualification as a REIT, the Campwas required to distribute to stockholdergast 90.0% of REIT taxable income, excluding cépita
gains.

No provision has been made for federal and statenile taxes during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2001 because the Company
qualified as a REIT, distributed the necessary arhofitaxable income and, therefore, incurred rmoime tax expense during the periods. In addition, n
provision has been required for federal and stateme taxes with respect to the Company’s taxaBl§ Rubsidiary because it has had no taxable indome
financial reporting purposes since its formation.

Concentration of credit risk. Management of the Company performs ongoing credituations of its tenants. As of December 31, 2683 wholly-
owned properties (excluding apartment units) weaséd to 2,407 tenants in 14 geographic locatidrs Company’s tenants engage in a wide variety of
businesses. No single tenant currently generatesiue greater than 3.4%.

Stock compensationThe Company grants stock options for a fixed nunabahares to employees with an exercise priceleéquhe fair value of the
shares at the date of grant. As described in Nbieaduded herein, the Company elected to follovedunting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accoungti
for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25") and rethtnterpretations in accounting for its stock opsi for options issued through December 31, 2002.
During 2002, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBassued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based @ensation — Transition and Disclosure”, which
provides methods of transition to the fair valuedzthmethod of accounting for stock-based emploge®ensation. This standard is effective for finahci
statements issued for fiscal years beginning &emember 15, 2002. The Company elected the pragpenethod as defined by SFAS 148 for options ig:
on or after January 1, 2003.

Fair value of derivative instruments.In the normal course of business, the Companypssed to the effect of interest rate changes. Tdmpany
limits its exposure by following established riskmagement policies and procedures including thetiderivatives. To mitigate its exposure to unetpéd
changes in interest rates, derivatives are usethpity to hedge against rate movements on the Coyipaelated debt. The Company is required to ratmy
all derivatives as either assets or liabilitieshie consolidated balance sheets and to measumitisieuments at fair value. Changes in fair valileaffect
either stockholders’ equity or net income dependingvhether the derivative instrument qualifieadsedge for accounting purposes.

To determine the fair value of derivative instrutsethe Company uses a variety of methods and gmmma that are based on market conditions and
risks existing at each balance sheet date. Fandjerity of financial instruments, including mogrivatives, standard market conventions and teciasiq
such as discounted cash flow analysis, optionmmianodels, replacement cost and termination cestised to determine fair value. All methods of ssisg
fair value result in a general approximation ofueland such value may never actually be realized.

Per share information. Per share information is calculated using theyhteid average number of shares of Common Stockaodisg (including
common share equivalents).
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

Use of estimatesThe preparation of financial statements in accordamith generally accepted accounting principlegiires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoeptsted in the financial statements and accompgmnyartes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassifications Certain amounts in the December 31, 2002 and Z6@hdial statements have been reclassified to confo the December 31, 20
presentation and accounting for discontinued ofmTsi(See Note 12 for further discussion). Theskassifications had no effect on net income or
stockholder’s equity as previously reported.

Impact of Newly Adopted and Issued Accounting Stanards

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement No. 14%gscission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64edment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145”), which rescirsisitement No. 4, which required all gains anddessom the extinguishment of debt to be aggregated
and if material, classified as an extraordinarynit@et of related income tax effect. The provisiohSFAS 145 related to the rescission of StaterNent4 are
effective for financial statements issued for fisegars beginning after May 15, 2002. The stateratstt requires gains and losses from the extinguasth of
debt classified as an extraordinary item in prierqds presented that do not meet the criteriadeofinting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 30 for
classification as an extraordinary item to alsodmassified. The Company adopted SFAS 145 initheduarter of 2003. In accordance with the statem
the Company reclassified losses on early extingugstt of debt of $0.4 million and $0.7 million, resgtively, from an extraordinary item to interespemse
in its Consolidated Statements of Income for thery@nded December 31, 2002 and 2001.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 48 “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Regients for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45hialwv changes the accounting for, and disclosureesfain guarantees. Beginning with transactions
entered into after December 31, 2002, certain guiees are to be recorded at fair value, which idiffieom prior practice, under which a liability waescordec
only when a loss was probable and could be reasppatimated. In general, the change applies téraots or indemnification agreements that contitigen
require the Company to make payments to a guartiée-party based on changes in an underlying asseiljtjiabr equity security of the guaranteed pe
However, a guarantee or an indemnification whosstemxce prevents the guarantor from being abléheraccount for a transaction as the sale ofsaeta
that is related to the underlying guarantee orgeize in earnings the profit from that sale tratisacs exempt from the interpretation. The disales
requirements in this Interpretation are effectioeifterim and annual periods ending after Decembe2002. The Company adopted the accounting and
disclosures requirements under FIN 45 on Janua2@d3. As of December 31, 2003, the Company hadwsiguarantees as further discussed in Note 15.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement Nqg."B&8ounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Traosiand Disclosure” (“SFAS 148"yhich

amends FASB No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Basedn@ensation,” to provide alternative methods ofgition for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employegpensation. In addition, the statement ameraldititiosure requirements of Statement No. 123 to
require prominent disclosures in both annual atefiim financial statements related to the methodcobunting for stock-based employee compensatidn a
the effect of the method used on reported resTitts.standard is effective for financial statemésgsed for fiscal years beginning after Decembe2082.
On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fhievacognition provision prospectively for all a@s granted on or after January 1, 2003. Under this
provision, total compensation expense relateddcksbptions is determined using the fair valuehef $stock options on the date of grant and is reizedron ¢
straight-line basis over the option vesting periblde Company continues to account for stock optissised prior to January 1, 2003 under the guidahce
APB Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Hoyees and Related Interpretations.” (See NoteoLfufther discussion).
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDS IGNIFICANT A CCOUNTING P oLIciEs - Continued

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation4$o(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable IntereEntities” (“VIES”), the primary objective of
which is to provide guidance on the identificatafrentities for which control is achieved througkans other than voting rights and to determine vemeh
which business enterprise should consolidate tlEsVThis new model applies when either (1) thetgdavestors (if any) do not have a controllingditial
interest or (2) the equity investment at risk sufficient to finance the entity’s activities withioadditional financial support. FIN 46 also regsiadditional
disclosures. The Company adopted the provisiofdMN#6 for the Companyg'interests in VIEs acquired subsequent to Jargrg003. According to FAS
Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003) tiestshall apply the Interpretation only to spegiaipose entities subject to the Interpretatiofater than
December 31, 2003 and all other entities no l&@n March 31, 2004. Special-purpose entities diaa@tbas any entity whose activities are primaréijated
to securitizations or other forms of asset-backeaitings or single-lessee leasing arrangementenGhe Company has no significant variable intsries
specialpurpose entities, the Interpretation is effectivarth 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2003, it wagalhitbelieved that when the Interpretation beco
effective, it was reasonably possible the Compaayldvconsolidate or disclose information aboutatle interest entities. Those entities would have
consisted of three joint ventures with unrelataggtors in which the Company had retained 50.00%s3r minority equity interests (See Note 2 fotffar
discussion). These joint ventures were formedHerdevelopment, management and leasing of officpgsties. However, on March 2, 2004, the Company
acquired its partner’s interests in these entitidsch will eliminate any FIN 46 impact that waepiously anticipated related to these joint verdu(8ee
Note 19 for further discussion). FIN 46 requires @ompany to disclose its maximum exposure todsss result of its involvement with these entitigsich
would have been $24.8 million at December 31, 200@. maximum exposure to loss assumes the Compaulg e required to fully satisfy its debt
guarantees and experiences a complete loss afuityénvestment in such entities.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 149méndment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instrumenid Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149").
SFAS 149 amends and clarifies accounting for déviganstruments, including certain derivative mshents embedded in other contracts, and for hgdgin
activities under Statement 133. SFAS 149 is effedior contracts entered into or modified aftere)@0, 2003, with some exceptions, and for hedging
relationships designated after June 30, 2003. Tidagce was applied prospectively. The provisidiSFAS No. 149 did not have an impact on our firi@nhc
condition and results of operations. See Note t@uidther discussion on the Company’s derivativ@rmments.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 150ctAmting for Certain Financial Instruments with @iweristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity” (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 establishes standard the classification and measurement of cefitaémcial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. It requires that an issakassify a financial instrument that is within $isope as a liability (or an asset in certain cirstamces). This
Statement is effective for financial instrumentseeed into or modified after May 31, 2003, and ottise is effective July 1, 2003. It is to be implemed by
reporting the cumulative effect of a change in ecoanting principle for financial instruments cehbefore the issuance date of this Statementtaind s
existing at the beginning of the interim periodadbption. As of December 31, 2003, the provisidnSFAS 150 do not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial condition or results of opesat. The Company initially believed the implemeiotabf FIN 46 at March 31, 2004, as mentioned above
would result in minority interest in VIES, whichdtassified as non-controlling interests in finlife-entities under SFAS 150. However, on MarcR@)4, the
Company acquired its partner’s interests in thesities, which will eliminate the minority interest VIEs that was expected upon the implementatioRiN
46. (See Note 19 for further discussion). Additignant its October 29, 2003 meeting, the FASB daie defer indefinitely SFAS 150 as it relates emn
controlling interests in finite-life entities.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES

During the past several years, the Company hassfdrarious joint ventures with unrelated investdtsee Company has retained minority equity
interests ranging from 12.50% to 50.00% in theg# jentures. As required by GAAP, the Company d@unted for its joint venture activity using the
equity method of accounting, as the Company dogesartrol these joint ventures. As a result, theetsand liabilities of the Company’s joint ventuege

not included on its balance sheet.

The following tables set forth information regaglithe Company’s joint venture activity as recordadhe joint venture’s books at December 31, 2003

and 2002 ($ in thousands):

Perceni

December 31, 200

December 31, 200

Owned Total Total Total Total
Assets Debt Liabilities Assets Debt Liabilities
Balance Sheet Data
Board of Trade Investment Compz 490% $ 782¢ $ 74 $ 815 $ 7,77¢  $ 91¢ $ 1,071
Dallas County Partnef8 50.0(% 42,45¢ 38,00( 40,427 44,12¢ 38,90 41,28t
Dallas County Partners @ 50.0(% 18,25¢ 22,46 23,93¢ 18,90( 23,581 24,87
Fountain Threé 50.0(% 34,524 29,92« 31,86( 37,15¢ 30,95¢ 32,58!
RRHWoods, LLCY 50.0(% 81,32, 67,30, 70,707 82,64¢ 68,56. 71,765
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( 26.5(% 8,57¢ — — 12,92¢ — 88¢
4600 Madison Associates, | 12.5(% 21,68¢ 16,72 17,06( 23,25¢ 17,38t 17,89¢
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 140,19: 67,24: 69,527 141,14 68,20¢ 70,48:
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L 42.9% 115,85 59,02, 61,84 119,13 59,68¢ 62,60:
Highwood:-Markel Associates, LL( 50.0(% 51,66: 40,00( 41,12¢ 16,02¢ 11,62¢ 12,58:
MG-HIW, LLC 20.0(% 197,19: 136,20° 141,85 355,10: 242,24( 249,34(
MG-HIW Peachtree Corners Ill, LL 50.0(% — — — 3,80¢ 2,49¢ 2,828
MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC 50.0(% 1,601 — — 1,601 — 3
MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC 50.0(% 11,46( 7,32¢ 7,63¢ 9,60( 5,37: 5,54(
Concourse Center Associates, L 50.0(% 14,48¢ 9,69% 9,93: 14,89¢ 9,85¢ 10,19:¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 26,08¢ 16,49¢ 17,43 3,591 — 3
SF-HIW Harborview, LP 20.0(% 40,89t 22,80( 23,88¢ 41,13¢ 22,80( 25,22t
Total $814,08: $533,95¢ $558,04( $932,83: $602,60: $629,15!
Year ended December 31, 2003 Year ended December 31, 2002
Perceni
Operati Net Operati Net
Owned peraling Depr/ Inco?vne/ peraling Depr/ Inco?vne/
Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss) Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss)
Income Statement
Data:
Board of Trade
Investment
Company 4900% $ 2,37 $160¢ $ 65 $ 40¢ $ 29¢ $ 267C $ 1647 $ 83 $ 365 $ 577
Dallas County
Partners? 50.0(% 10,55: 5,50¢ 2,75¢ 1,917 367 11,04¢ 5,47( 2,665 1,99¢ 91t
Dallas County
Partners IV 50.0(% 6,167 2,707 2,34: 822 29t 5,94¢ 2,52 2,452 1,062 (89)
Fountain Threé 50.0(% 6,93¢ 3,12¢ 2,22( 1,53¢ 55 6,88¢ 2,85( 2,145 1,51¢ 37t
RRHWoods, LLCY 50.0(% 14,40: 7,46¢ 2,51( 3,45¢ 96¢ 13,74( 7,14t 3,397 3,617 (419
Kessinger/Hunter,
LLC 26.5(% 6,40z 4,72¢ — 71€ 95¢ 6,867 4,927 — 682 1,25¢
4600 Madison
Associates, LI 12.5(% 5,437 2,211 1,16¢ 1,78¢ 27¢ 5,22¢ 1,95¢ 1,25¢ 1,83¢ 17¢
Highwoods DLF
98/29, LP 22.81% 19,35¢ 5,51¢ 4,58¢ 3,46¢ 5,78¢ 20,337 5,54¢ 4,652 3,391 6,74¢
Hlghwoods DLF
97/26 DLF 99/32,
LP 42.9% 15,89: 4,37¢ 4,591 4,03¢ 2,89:2 16,85¢ 4,46 4,63 3,96¢ 3,791
Highwoods-Markel
Associates, LLC 50.0(% 3,34z 1,83¢ 1,13¢ 632 (259) 3,191 1,64: 1,03z 562 (45)
MG-HIW, LLC 20.0(% 39,92: 15,08 7,478 18,69®  (1,33) @ 51,177  18,15¢ 10,74 8,371 13,90
MG-HIW Peachtree
Corners lll, LLC 50.0(% 214 74 72 73 (5) — 55 — 44 (99



MG-HIW Rocky

Point, LLC 50.0(% — — — — — 1,81z 55k 271 24¢ 73¢
MG-HIW Metrowest

I, LLC 50.0(% — 28 — — (28) — 26 — — (26)
MG-HIW Metrowest

I, LLC 50.0(% 63t 411 16¢ 34¢ (2949 30:3 24C 50 24¢€ (239)
Concourse Center

Associates, LLC 50.0(% 2,08: 542 72¢ 30t 50¢ 2,11: 53¢ 681 302 591
Plaza Colonnade, LL  50.0(% 11 2 — 4 5 9 — — 2 7
SF-HIW Harborview,

LP 20.0(% 6,84( 1,72( 1,40 86€ 2,851 1,721 45¢ 432 28¢ 542
Total $140,56¢ $56,93¢ $31,22: $39,06° $13,34! $149,90° $58,20( $34,49. $28,50¢ $28,71(
(€3] Des Moines joint ventures.

@) Includes a $12.1 million impairment loss at thejaienture level of which the Company’s share igt$gillion.
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The following summarizes the formation and printictivities of the various joint ventures in whitte Company has a minority equity interest.

Board of Trade Investment Company, Kessinger/HunterLLC, 4600 Madison Associates, LP

In connection with the Company’s merger with J.@Hdls Company in July 1998, the Company acquird@.8% interest in Board of Trade
Investment Company, a 30.0% interest in Kessingertet, LLC, and a 12.5% interest in 4600 Madisonoksates, L.P. The Company is the sole and
exclusive property manager of Board of Trade Inwestt Company and 4600 Madison Associates, L.Pt yantures, for which it received fees of $0.1
million in 2003, 2002 and 2001. In addition, Kegg@n'Hunter, LLC provides property management, fepaind brokerage services and provides certain
construction related services for certain whollyred properties of the Company, and received $2libmi$3.0 million and $5.8 million for these rédal
services from the Company in 2003, 2002 and 2G&shectively. During 2002, the Company decreasemlitsership interest in Kessinger/Hunter, LLC to
26.5%.

Des Moines Joint Ventures

In addition, in connection with the Company’s mergiéh J.C. Nichols Company in July 1998, the Compaucceeded to the interests of J.C. Nichols
in a strategic alliance with R&R Investors, Ltdrguant to which R&R Investors manages and leaggaicgoint venture properties located in the Demiiiéds
area. As a result of the merger, the Company aed@n ownership interest of 50.0% or more in @&sesf nine joint ventures with R&R Investors (tzes
Moines Joint Ventures”). Certain of these propsrti@re previously included in the Company’s comisiéd financial statements. On June 2, 1999, the
Company agreed with R&R Investors to reorganizecispective ownership interests in the Des Moiona# ¥entures such that each would own a 50.0%
interest.

Highwoods DLF 98/29, L.P.

On March 15, 1999, the Company closed a transaetithSchweiz-Deutschland-USA Dreilander Beteiligubbjekt DLF 98/29-Walker Fink-KG
(“DLF"), pursuant to which the Company sold or admited certain office properties valued at appratgely $142.0 million to a newly created limited
partnership (the “DLF | Joint Venture”). DLF coriuted approximately $56.0 million for a 77.19% metst in the DLF | Joint Venture, and the DLF | Join
Venture borrowed approximately $71.0 million fronird-party lenders. The Company retained the rem@if2.81% interest in the DLF | Joint Venture,
received net cash proceeds of approximately $124lion and is the sole and exclusive property ngamand leasing agent of the DLF | Joint Venture’'s
properties, for which the Company received fee®0® million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million in 2003002 and 2001, respectively.

Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L.P.

On May 9, 2000, the Company closed a transacti¢im Brieilander-Fonds 97/26 and 99/32 (“DLF 1I") puasit to which the Company contributed five
in-service office properties encompassing 570,@d@able square feet and a 246,000-square-foot@mweint project valued at approximately $110.0 omilli
to a newly created limited partnership (the “DLRdint Venture”). DLF Il contributed $24.0 millian cash for a 40.0% ownership interest in the DLF |
Joint Venture, and the DLF Il Joint Venture borrovaemproximately $50.0 million from a third-partynter. The Company initially retained the remaining
60.0% interest in the DLF 1l Joint Venture and ieed net cash proceeds of approximately $73.0anillDuring 2001 and 2000, DLF Il contributed an
additional $10.7 million in cash to the DLF Il JbMenture. As a result, the Company decreaseditecship percentage to 42.93% as of December 1L,
The Company is the sole and exclusive property gemnand leasing agent of the DLF 1l Joint Ventupgr'aperties, for which the Company received fees of
$0.5 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001.
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Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC, Concourse Centefssociates, LLC

During 1999 and 2001, the Company closed two tictitses with Highwoodsvlarkel Associates, LLC and Concourse Center Assegid LC pursuar
to which the Company sold or contributed certaficefproperties to newly created limited liabilitpmpanies. Unrelated investors contributed cash for
50.0% ownership interest in the joint ventures. Teenpany retained the remaining 50.0% intereskived net cash proceeds and is the sole and exelusi
property manager and leasing agent of the jointures’ properties, for which the Company receiveekfof $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.05 milliam
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On December 29, 2003, the Company contributed ditiadial three in-service office properties encosgiag approximately 290,853 rentable square
feet valued at approximately $35.6 million to thigtiwoods-Markel, LLC joint venture. The joint veréls other partner, Markel Corporation, contribuéed
additional $3.6 million in cash to maintain the®.8% ownership interest and the joint venture hee and refinanced approximately $40.0 million fram
third party lender. The Company retained its 50d#fership interest in the joint venture and recginet cash proceeds of approximately $31.9 millidre
Company is the sole and exclusive manager anchigasgjent for the properties and receives customarnagement fees and leasing commissions, which
have been included in the totals above.

MG-HIW Joint Ventures

On December 19, 2000, the Company formed or agrefnm five joint ventures with Denver-based MilBlobal Properties, LLC (“Miller Global”).
In the first joint venture, MG-HIW, LLC, the Compasold or contributed 19 in-service office propestencompassing approximately 2.5 million rentable
square feet valued at approximately $335.0 milliss part of the formation of MGHW, LLC, Miller Global contributed approximately8$.0 million in cast
for an 80.0% ownership interest and the joint venhorrowed approximately $238.8 million from arthparty lender. The Company retained a 20.0%
ownership interest and received net cash proceeaispooximately $307.0 million. During 2001, ther@gany contributed a 39,000 square foot development
project to MG-HIW, LLC for $5.1 million. The jointenture borrowed an additional $3.7 million undereixisting debt agreement with a third party dred t
Company retained its 20.0% ownership interest andived net cash proceeds of approximately $4 1&milln the remaining four joint ventures, the
Company contributed approximately $7.5 million efrdlopment land to various newly created limitetbility companies and retained a 50.0% ownership
interest. Three of these joint ventures have d@esldhree properties encompassing 347,000 rergghbzre feet that costs approximately $50.4 miliiotine
aggregate. The fourth joint venture, MG-HIW Metratve LLC is expected to develop one property engassing 88,000 rentable square feet with a
budgeted cost of approximately $10.8 million. Trenany is the sole and exclusive developer of thesgerties, and received $0.03 million and $0.6
million in development fees in 2002 and 2001, resipely. The Company did not receive developmeasfm 2003. In addition, the Company is the soté an
exclusive property manager and leasing agent #pthperties in all of these joint ventures aneiezd fees of $2.0 million, $2.9 million and $1.4lion in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On June 26, 2002, the Company acquired Miller Qlsliaterest in MG-HIW Rocky Point, LLC, which owdeHarborview Plaza, a 205,000 rentable
square foot office property, to bring its ownersimierest in that entity to 100.0%. At that timiee tCompany consolidated the assets and liabilaied,
recorded revenues and expenses on a consolidatisd (8ee also SF-HIW Harborview, LP discussion).

On July 29, 2003, the Company acquired the asséisrits partner’s 80.0% equity interest related% properties encompassing 1.3 million square
feet owned by MG-HIW, LLC. (See Note 3 for furthiiscussion on this acquisition).

On March 2, 2004, the Company exercised its optansacquired its partner’'s 80.0% interest in #meaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC and its
partner’s 50.0% interests in MG-HIW Metrowest I,Cland MG-HIW, Metrowest I, LLC. (See Note 19 farther discussion).
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Plaza Colonnade, LLC

On June 14, 2002, the Company contributed $1.1amitash to Plaza Colonnade, LLC, a newly formedtéd liability company to construct a
285,000 square foot development property. The ftgect costs are estimated at $70.6 million. Toenpany has retained a 50.0% interest in this joint
venture. On February 12, 2003, Plaza Colonnade, 4ig@ed a $61.3 million construction loan to fuhd tevelopment of this property which is expected t
cost $69.7 million. The Company is a co-develogehis property and received development fees of &dillion in 2003. The construction loan requitleat
the joint venture invest $9.3 million, $4.6 milliaf which will be the Company’s share. The Compangl its partners in this joint venture have each
guaranteed 50.0% of the loan. The loan repaymeariagtees are reduced upon the project reachingirc@redetermined criteria. In addition to the
construction loan, the partners collectively predds12.0 million in letters of credit, $6.0 millidny the Company and $6.0 million by its partneeg$lote
15 for further discussion).

SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, the Company contributeddtteidw Plaza to S-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP, a newly formed joint verg with a differen
partner, in exchange for a 20.0% limited partngrahiierest and $12.1 million in cash. The Companthé sole and exclusive property manager andigasi
agent of this joint venture’s property, for whithiéceived fees of $0.2 million and $0.06 millien2003 and 2002, respectively.

3. ACQUISITION OF J OINT V ENTURE A SSETS ANDE QUITY | NTERESTS

On July 29, 2003, the Company acquired the assefisrits partner’s 80.0% equity interest related% properties encompassing 1.3 million square
feet owned by MG-HIW, LLC. The properties are l@zhin Atlanta, Raleigh and Tampa. At the closingheftransaction, the Company paid Miller Global
$28.1 million, repaid $41.4 million of debt relatexdthe properties and assumed $64.7 million of.dEfe transaction implies a valuation (100.0% owship)
of $141.2 million, which includes the propertieslaither net assets. The Company accounted forctiigsition in accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 1Baisiness Combinations” (“SFAS 141"). The Compaitipcated $125.7 million of the purchase price
to net tangible assets and $11.7 million to idedifntangible assets acquired based on theiv&ires. The Company assessed fair value basedailnlde
market information and estimated cash flow prog@withat utilize discount and capitalization rateemed appropriate by management. The weighted
average amortization period of the identified igidle assets is approximately five years. The tesfloperations subsequent to this acquisitioriradleded
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Incfimthe year ended December 31, 2003.

An impairment charge of $12.1 million was recoréigdVG-HIW, LLC joint venture for assets classifiad held for sale as of June 30, 2003, which
were subsequently sold by MG-HIW, LLC to the Compan July 29, 2003. The Company'’s share of thisgdaf $2.4 million reduced the Company’s
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliatesttoe year ended December 31, 2003.

Also as a part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition oryd@9, 2003, the Company was assigned Miller Glal0.0% equity interest in the single
property encompassing 53,896 square feet owned®yHWV Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC. The constructioan, which was made to this joint venture by an
affiliate of the Company had an interest rate &QR plus 200 basis points and was paid in fullwlg 29, 2003 in connection with the assignment.

Additionally, the Company entered into an optioneggnent to acquire Miller Global’'s 80.0% interesthe remaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC. The
remaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC are five propert@seompassing 1.3 million square feet located éncéintral business district of Orlando. The proesrt
were 83.8% leased as of December 31, 2003 anchevenbered by $136.2 million of floating rate delithvinterest based on LIBOR plus 200 basis points,
which will be assumed by the Company at closinge Tompany acquired this 80.0% interest on Mar@024. (See Notes 15 and 19 for further discussion).
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Also as part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on J@9, 2003, the Company entered into an option ageeéwith its partner, Miller Global, to
acquire their 50.0% interest in the assets encosimEp87,832 square feet of property and 7.0 adrds\elopment land of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and
MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC for $3.2 million. The $7.#illion construction loan to fund the developmehthis property, of which $7.3 million is
outstanding at December 31, 2003, will be eithéd pafull or assumed by the Company in connectigtih the acquisition of the remaining assets. The
Company acquired this 50.0% interest on March R42(See Notes 15 and 19 for further discussion).

The following unaudited pro forma information haeh prepared assuming the acquisition of the MG-divit venture properties described above
occurred January 1, 2002 ($ in thousands, excemhage amounts):

Pro Forma for the
Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002
Rental revenue and other incol $502,03¢ $552,29(
Net income $ 61,83¢ $ 99,93!
Net income per shar- basic $ 0.5¢ $ 1.3
Net income per shar- diluted $ 0.5¢ $ 1.2¢

The pro forma information is not necessarily intli@aof what the Company’s results of operationsilddave been if the transaction had occurred at
the beginning of the period presented. Additionalg pro forma information does not purport tarmicative of the Company’s results of operatioms f
future periods.

4. DISPOSITIONS

During 2003, the Company contributed to joint veasuor sold approximately 3.6 million rentable sguaet of office, industrial and retail properti
122.8 acres of revenue-producing land and 108ésaafrdevelopment land for gross proceeds of $2®l@®n. The Company recognized gains totaling
$23.5 million related to these dispositions andeded the recognition of additional gain of $2.Tliom in accordance with Statement of Financial daating
Standards No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Reaafest(“SFAS 66”) as a result of the Company retagnits 50.0% equity interest in Highwoods-Markel
Associates, LLC after contributing the buildingghe joint venture. See Note 2 for further discoissif the Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC trangact
and Note 15 for further discussion of the defeofajains due to rental shortfall and re-tenantiogt guarantees.

During 2002, the Company contributed to joint veasuor sold approximately 2.5 million rentable sguaet of office and industrial properties and
137.7 acres of development land for gross procee$i802.2 million. The Company recognized a gai$24.5 million related to these dispositions and
deferred the recognition of additional gain of $illion as a result of the outstanding put optietated to SF-HIW Harborview, LP. See Note 15 fatter
discussion of the deferral of gains due to rerttaltfall and re-tenanting cost guarantees.

During 2001, the Company contributed to joint veesuor sold approximately 425,000 rentable squeeedf office and industrial properties, 215.7
acres of development land and 1,672 apartment faritross proceeds of $180.3 million. The Compaagpgnized a gain of $16.2 million related to these
dispositions.
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5. M ORTGAGES AND N OTES P AYABLE
The Company’s mortgages and notes payable congiftbd following at December 31, 2003 and 2002:

2003 2002

($ in thousands)
Mortgage loans payabl

9.0% mortgage loan due 20 $ 3517( $ 36,08¢
8.1% mortgage loan due 20 27,251 28,00¢
8.2% mortgage loan due 20 66,89¢ 68,44:
7.8% mortgage loan due 20 88,32: 89,94¢
7.9% mortgage loan due 20 88,40 90,00¢
7.8% mortgage loan due 20 140,49¢ 142,84
6.0% mortgage loan due 20 143,71 —
5.7% mortgage loan due 2013 127,50( _
4.5% to 9.1% mortgage loans due between 2005 a2l 37,28¢ 60,08
Variable rate mortgage loan due 2( 64,67¢ —
Variable rate mortgage loan due 2( 4,03: 4,30¢
823,75¢ 519,72(
Unsecured indebtedne:
6.75% notes due 2003 — o 100,00(
8.0% notes due 20( — o 146,50(
7.0% notes due 20( 110,00( 110,00(
7.125% notes due 20( 100,00( 100,00(
8.125% notes due 20( 50,00( 50,00(
MOPPRS due 201 — 125,00(
Put Option Notes due 20: 100,00( 100,00(
7.5% notes due 201 200,00( 200,00(
Term loan due 200 20,00( 20,00(
Term loan due 200 100,00() —
Unsecured Revolving Loan due 2C 55,00( 57,50(
735,00( 1,009,001
Total $1,558,75! $1,528,72!

@ On December 1, 2003, $146.5 million of the Compai®/0% Notes and $100.0 million of the Company758 Notes matured. The Company
refinanced $127.5 million with 10-year secured datzn effective rate of 5.25%. $100.0 million wefnanced with a 2-year unsecured term loan with
a floating rate initially set at 1.3% over LIBORhE balance, equaling $19.0 million, was repaidgifimds from the Company’s $250.0 million
Revolving Loan

F-20



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
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The following table sets forth the principal payreedue on the Company’s long-term debt as of Deeer@b, 2003 ($ in thousands):

Amounts due during year ending December 3

Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt:
Unsecured @:
Put Option Note® $ 100,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $100,00(
Notes 460,00( — — 110,00( — 100,00( 250,00¢
Secured :
Mortgage loans payabf& 755,04¢ 12,87: 81,44; 19,36: 79,38¢ 13,96¢ 548,01¢
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,315,04 12,87: 81,44° 129,36: 79,38¢ 113,96! 898,01¢
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured:
Term Loans 120,00( — 120,00( — — — —
Revolving Loar 55,00( — — 55,00( — — —
Secured:
Mortgage loans payabf& 68,70¢ 23t 27¢ 64,96¢ 3,227 — —
Total Variable Rate Del 243,70¢ 23k 120,27¢ 119,96¢ 3,227 — —
Total Long Term Debt $1,558,75! $13,10¢ $201,72¢ $249,33( $82,61: $113,96! $898,01¢

@)

The Operating Partnership’s unsecured notes of $560lion bear interest at rates ranging from 71898.125% with interest payable seamnually in
arrears. Any premium and discount related to theasce of the unsecured notes together with atbaance costs is being amortized over the life of
the respective notes as an adjustment to intexpsinge. All of the unsecured notes, except foPtlieOption Notes, are redeemable at any time powi
maturity at the Company’s option, subject to certnditions including the payment of make-wholeants. The Company’s fixed rate mortgage
loans generally are either locked out to prepayrfardll or a portion of their term, or are pre-phle subject to certain conditions including
prepayment penaltie

In 1997, a trust formed by the Operating Partnersbid $100.0 million of Exercisable Put Option @&@es due June 15, 2004 (“X-POS"). The assets
of the trust consist of, among other things, $1008il0on of Exercisable Put Option Notes due JuBe2011 (the “Put Option Notes”), issued by the
Operating Partnership. The Put Option Notes beantarest rate of 7.19% from the date of issuahoaugh June 15, 2004. After June 15, 2004, the
interest rate to maturity on the Put Option Notdshe 6.39% plus the applicable spread determamedf June 15, 2004. In connection with the initial
issuance of the Put Option Notes, a counter paaty gvanted an option to purchase the Put Optioas\foom the trust on June 15, 2004 at 100.0% of
the principal amount. If the counter party eleasto exercise this option, the Operating Partripratould be required to repurchase the Put Option
Notes from the Trust on June 15, 2004 at 100.0%eprincipal amount plus accrued and unpaid iste

The mortgage loans payable were secured by redbestsets with an aggregate carrying value ofl§illidn at December 31, 2003.

On July 17, 2003, the Company amended and restatexgisting revolving loan. The amended and rest&250.0 million revolving loan (the
“Revolving Loan”) is from a group of ten lender lianmatures in July 2006 and replaced its prev&3@0.0 million revolving loan. The Revolving
Loan carries an interest rate based upon its sengecured credit ratings. As a result, interestldvourrently accrue on borrowings under the
Revolving Loan at an average rate of LIBOR plus 858is points. The terms of the Revolving Loan iregiihe Company to pay an annual facility fee
equal to .25% of the aggregate amount of the Rawplvoan. The Company currently has a credit ratihBBB- assigned by Standard & Poor’s and
Fitch Inc. In August 2003, Moody'’s Investor Servilmvngraded its assigned credit rating from BaaBab. If Standard and Poor’s or Fitch Inc. were
to lower the Company’s credit ratings without aresponding increase by Moody'’s, the interest ratea@rowings under the Compasyevolving loal
would be automatically increased by 60 basis po
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On February 3, 2003, the Operating Partnershiprobsed 100.0% of the principal amount of the M#@daPar Put Remarketed Securities
(“MOPPRS") due February 1, 2013 from the sole hottiereof in exchange for a secured note in thecjal amount of $142.8 million. The secured note
bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.03% and haatanity date of February 28, 2013. This transacti@as accounted for as an exchange of indebtedmel&s u
EITF 96-19, “Debtor’'s Accounting for a Modificatiar Exchange of Debt Instruments”. In accordandd ®ITF 96-19, the intermediaries acted as
principals and the present value of the cash flomder the terms of the new debt instrument usiegMPPRS effective interest rate was less tharf4.0.0
different from the present value of the remainiagtcflows under the terms of the MOPPRS. Accorglirthke transaction was considered an exchangamot
extinguishment and no loss was recognized. Theomtiemium paid to the lender was $17.7 million esad recorded as a deferred financing cost andog
amortized to interest expense over the remaining tf the new debt. Fees paid by the Company td frarties (such as legal fees) were expensed as
incurred.

The terms of the revolving loan and the indentbeg governs the Company’s outstanding notes retfugr€ompany to comply with certain operating
and financial covenants and performance ratios.ddrapany is currently in compliance with all suelquirements.
Other Information

Total interest capitalized was approximately $1ilion, $7.0 million and $16.9 million in 2003, 2@&nd 2001, respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had $46.2amitf deferred financing costs, with $22.5 milliohaccumulated amortization. Deferred
financing costs include deferred loan fees, whighiacluded in depreciation and amortization expeasd discounts on bonds, notes payable and plddbic

issuance costs, which are included in interestes@eThe Company estimates future amortizatiorefsfrded financings costs will be as follows ($ in
thousands):

Total

2004 $ 3,58:
2005 3,69¢
2006 3,05¢
2007 2,39¢
2008 2,18¢
Thereaftel 8,72¢

$23,65:

6. EMPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS
Management Compensation Progran

The Company’s officers participate in an annuahdasentive bonus program whereby they are eligitmeash bonuses based on a percentage of thei
annual base salary. Each officer’s target levelisaa determined by competitive analysis and tleeegtkve’s ability to influence overall performanaithe
Company and, assuming certain levels of the Conipargyformance, ranges from 40.0% to 85.0% of Isat&ry depending on position in the Company. The
eligible bonus percentage for each officer is deteed by a weighted average of the Compamgtual performance versus its annual plan usiedailowing
measures: return on invested capital; growth imléuinom operations (“FFO”) per share; property leash flow as a percentage of plan; general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revandegrowth in same property net operating incofoethe extent this weighted average is less than or
exceeds the Company’s targeted performance leneehanus percentage paid is proportionally redacadcreased on a predetermined scale. Depending on
the Company’s performance, annual incentive boncsekl range from zero to 200.0% of an officerigéd level bonus. Bonuses are accrued in the year
earned and are included in accrued expenses idhsolidated Balance Sheets.
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Certain other members of management participad® iannual cash incentive bonus program wherebrgattievel cash bonus is established based

upon the job responsibilities of their position.s@donus eligibility ranges from 5.0% to 40.0%. Blctual cash bonus is determined by the overall
performance of the Company and the individual’'§qgrenance during each year.

On January 1, 1999, the Company established a amapien program which allows officers and certalmeo members of management to participa
a long term incentive plan which includes annuahgg of stock options, restricted shares and gdnisits in the Shareholder Value Plan. The stoations
vest ratably over four years and remain outstanftingen years from date of grant.

The restricted shares vest 50.0% three years fnendate of grant and the remaining 50.0% five yfrara date of grant. The restricted share awards
are recorded at market value on the date of gsanhaarned compensation expense and amortizedh@vezstriction periods. Recipients are eligible to
receive dividends on restricted stock issued. Réstt stock and annual expense information is kawe:

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Restricted shares outstanding at Janus 260,23: 211,66¢ 127,00t
Number of restricted shares awart 104,07¢ 78,96¢ 89,91(
Restricted shares repurchased or canc (55€) (30,409 (5,249
Restricted shares outstanding at Decembe 363,75 260,23: 211,66¢
Annual expense, ni $1,733,49: $1,276,00! $1,036,00
Average fair value per share at date of g $ 240 $ 2490 $ 2438

The Shareholder Value Plan rewards the officeth®@Company when the total shareholder returns unedsy increases in the market value of the
Common Stock plus the dividends on those share=eeixa comparable index of the Company’s peersatienee year period. The payout for this program is
determined by the Company’s percent change in Bblter return compared to the composite indexsgpéer group. If the Company’s performance is hot a
least 100.0% of the peer group index, no payontdde. To the extent performance exceeds the peep ghe payout increases. A new three year plalecy
begins each year under this program. There wemaypouts under this plan in 2003, 2002 or 2001.

The Company established a deferred compensatiorpplsuant to which various officers could eleatiéder a portion of the compensation that would
otherwise be paid to the officer for investmenuimits of phantom stock or other investments unedla the Company’s securities. At the end of each
calendar quarter, any officer that elects to def@npensation in phantom stock is credited withsuoftphantom stock at a 15.0% discount. The ufits o
phantom stock accrue dividends in an amount equtalet dividends paid on the Company’s common sti¢ke officer leaves Highwoods employ for any
reason (other than death, disability, normal retaet or voluntary termination by Highwoods) witlvmo years after the end of the year in which sutiber
has deferred compensation, such officer will ireyrenalty. Over the twgear vesting period, the Company records compensatipense equal to the 15.1
discount, the accrued dividends and any changdg®imarket value of the Company’s common stock frieendate of the deferral. Compensation expense of
$0.7 million and $0.2 million were recorded by tbempany for the years ended December 31, 2003 GOl 2
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401(k) Savings Plan

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan coveringtaatially all employees who meet certain age anglepment criteria. The Company matches the
first 6.0% of compensation deferred at the raté500% of employee contributions. During 2003, 2868 2001, the Company contributed $1.0 million9$0.
million and $0.6 million, respectively, to the 4RQ) 6avings plan. Administrative expenses of the glee paid by the Company.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plati fortive employees under which employees cast &decontribute up to 25.0% of their base
compensation. At the end of each three-month effepieriod, the contributions in each participaatsount balance is applied to acquire shares offtmm
Stock at a cost that is calculated at 85.0% ofdihver of the average closing price on the New Y8tick Exchange on the five consecutive days pragedi
the first day of the quarter or the five days pdieg the last day of the quarter. Employees purth&®,812, 47,488 and 40,935 shares of Common Stock
under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan duringehesyended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, teghecThe discount on issued shares is expensed
by the Company as additional compensation, ancegaged to $0.2 million and $0.1 million in 2003 &2, respectively.

7. RENTAL | NCOME

The Company'’s real estate assets are leased tatsanader operating leases, substantially all aEwvbxpire over the next 10 years. The minimum
rental amounts under the leases are generallyr aitiigect to scheduled fixed increases or adjudsrmsed on the Consumer Price Index. Generady, th
leases also require that the tenants reimburs€dhgpany for increases in certain costs above the yaar costs.

Expected future minimum rents to be received ovemext five years and thereafter from tenantéefages in effect at December 31, 2003, are as
follows ($ in thousands):

2004 $ 375,28:
2005 329,37¢
2006 273,64
2007 223,45t
2008 171,33:
Thereaftel 427,04

$1,800,14.

F-24



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

8. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company has previously reported that it hasaheohtract to acquire development land in the gags Valley office development project from
GAPI, Inc., a corporation controlled by Mr. Andems®n January 17, 2003, the Company acquired aitiauil 23.46 acres of this land from GAPI, Incr fo
cash and shares of Common Stock valued at $2.Bmilh May 2003, 4.0 acres of the remaining aoa@syet taken down was taken by the Georgia
Department of Transportation to develop a roadwésrchange for consideration of $1.8 million. Thep@rtment of Transportation took possession aled tit
of the property in June 2003. As part of the teafithe contract between the Company and BluegthssCompany was entitled to the proceeds from the
condemnation of $1.8 million, less the contractertpase price between the Company and Bluegrassd@mondemned property of $737,348. On September
30, 2003, as a result of the condemnation, the @oampeceived the proceeds of $1.8 million. A relgtarty payable of $737,348 to Bluegrass relatateo
condemnation of the development land is includegictounts payable, accrued expenses and othditikshin the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31, 2003 and a gain of $1.0 million relatethe condemnation of the development landdkided in gain on disposition of land in the Comypan
Consolidated Statement of Income for the year efEmbmber 31, 2003. The Company believes thatuhehpse price with respect to each transaction did
not exceed market value. These transactions weneimmously approved by the executive committee hadull Board of Directors (with Mr. Anderson
abstaining from the vote).

During 2000, in connection with the formation oéttMG-HIW Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC, a constructioan was made by an affiliate of the
Company to this joint venture. Interest accrued &tte of LIBOR plus 200 basis points. This corcttom loan was repaid in full in July 2003 when the
Company was assigned its partner’s 50.0% equigrest in the single property encompassing 53,806érscfeet owned by MG-HIW Peachtree Corners I,
LLC.

The Company advanced $0.8 million to an officer dimdctor related to certain expenses paid by tmgany on behalf of the officer and director.
During 2002, this advance, along with accrued eggrwas repaid by the officer and director.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had a $1libmileceivable due from a joint venture. The antcas been subsequently paid in full.

9. STOCKHOLDERS ' E QuITY
Common Stock Dividends
Dividends paid on Common Stock were $1.86, $2.34%h31 per share for the years ended Decemb@083B, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

For federal income tax purposes, the followingdéaimmarizes the estimated taxability of dividepaisl:

2003 2002 2001

Per share
Ordinary income $0.3¢  $1.2¢  $1.81
Capital gains 0.2¢ 0.5t 0.32
Return of capita 1.1€ 0.5 0.17
Total $1.8¢ $2.3¢  $2.31

The Company'’s tax returns for the year ended Deeerdb, 2003 have not yet been filed, and the tdigabiformation for 2003 is based upon the best
available data. The Company'’s tax returns havéveeh examined by the IRS, and therefore the tawabfldividends is subject to change.

As of December 31, 2003, the tax basis of the Carylpassets was $2.4 billion.
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On February 2, 2004, the Board of Directors dediareash dividend of $0.425 per common share pay@bMarch 5, 2004, to stockholders of record
on February 13, 2004.

Preferred Stock

On February 12, 1997, the Company issued 125,@J8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stftire “Series A Preferred Shares”). The
Series A Preferred Shares are non-voting and héigeidation preference of $1,000.00 per shareafoaggregate liquidation preference of $125.0 omilli
plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The net procgdtds underwriting commission and other offeroasts) of the Series A Preferred Shares issued were
$121.8 million. Holders of the Series A Preferréta®s are entitled to receive, when, as and ifadedlby the Company’s Board of Directors, out ofdfsi
legally available for payment of dividends, cumiatpreferential cash distributions at a rate 6{&% of the liquidation preference per annum (eagjeint to
$86.25 per share). On or after February 12, 20%7Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemeddoratdhe option of the Company. The redemptiocepri
(other than the portion thereof consisting of aedrand unpaid dividends) is payable solely ouhefdale proceeds of other capital shares of thep@oyn
which may include shares of other series of pretestock. On June 19, 2001, the Company repurchasegrivately negotiated transaction 20,055 efkth
shares at $922.50 per share, for a total purchése ¢f $18.5 million. For each Series A PreferBithre repurchased by the Company, one equivalelesSe
A Preferred Unit was retired. Of the $86.25 dividgraid per Series A Preferred Share in 2003, $48iR&4e taxed as ordinary income and $37.01 wéll b
taxed as capital gain.

On September 25, 1997, the Company issued 6,908%0Beries B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred S(ifue8Series B Preferred Shares”). The
Series B Preferred Shares are non-voting and hagaidation preference of $25.00 per share foaggregate liquidation preference of $172.5 milfxurs
accrued and unpaid dividends. The net proceeds (@fiderwriting commission and other offering cpsfshe Series B Preferred Shares issued were.$166
million. Holders of the Series B Preferred Sharesemtitled to receive, when, as and if declaretheyCompany’s Board of Directors, out of fundsalég
available for payment of dividends, cumulative prefitial cash distributions at a rate of 8.0% eflthuidation preference per annum (equivalent2®® pei
share). On or after September 25, 2002, the SBrigreferred Shares may be redeemed for cash aptiom of the Company. The redemption price (other
than the portion thereof consisting of accrued amghid dividends) is payable solely out of the gateeds of other capital shares of the Compahighw
may include shares of other series of preferreckstof the $2.00 dividend paid per Series B Pref#@®hare in 2003, $1.14 will be taxed as ordinacpine
and $0.86 will be taxed as capital gain.

On April 23, 1998, the Company issued 4,000,00@ditgry shares (the “Series D Depositary Sharesih representing a 1/10 fractional interest |
8.0% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred StieréSeries D Preferred Shares”). The Seriesddefied Shares are nenting and have a liquidatic
preference of $250.00 per share for an aggregatalétion preference of $100.00 million plus acdraaed unpaid dividends. The net proceeds (after
underwriting commission and other offering cosfsthe Series D Preferred Shares issued were $9@i8rmHolders of Series D Preferred Shares are
entitled to receive, when, as and if declared lgyGompany’s Board of Directors, out of funds legalailable for payment of dividends, cumulative
preferential cash distributions at a rate of 8.(G%e liquidation preference per annum (equivater$$20.00 per share). On or after April 23, 2008, $eries
D Preferred Shares may be redeemed for cash aptim of the Company. The redemption price (othan the portion thereof consisting of accrued and
unpaid dividends) is payable solely out of the gateeeeds of other capital shares of the Compahighamay include shares of other series of Prederre
Stock. Of the $20.00 dividend paid per Series Odpred Share in 2003, $11.42 will be taxed as @gitncome and $8.58 will be taxed as capital gain.

The net proceeds raised from each of three prefstaek issuances were contributed by the Compathet Operating Partnership in exchange for
preferred interests in the Operating Partnerstdpgferred Units”). The terms of each series ofdtrefl Units generally parallel the terms of theeetive
preferred stock as to distributions, liquidatio aademption rights.
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Shareholder Rights Plan

The Company currently has in effect a shareholigéts plan pursuant to which existing shareholdeysld have the ability to acquire additional
common stock at a significant discount in the exaepérson or group attempts to acquire the Compartgrms of which the Company’s current board does
not approve. These rights are designed to detes@dtakeover by increasing the takeover costa Assult, such rights could discourage offerdtier
Company or make an acquisition of the Company rdifieult, even when an acquisition is in the besérest of the Company'’s stockholders. The rights
plan should not interfere with any merger or othasiness combination the board of directors apprsirce the Company may generally terminate the at
any time at nominal cost.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company has instituted a Dividend ReinvestraadtStock Purchase Plan under which holders of Gamftock may elect to automatically
reinvest their dividends in additional shares ofmon Stock and may make optional cash paymentditional shares of Common Stock. The Company
currently repurchases Common Stock in the open enéok purposes of financing its obligations unter Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan,
but may elect to issue additional shares of Com8togk in lieu of open market purchases.

Stock Repurchases

During 2003, the Company repurchased a total ofé®86Common Stock at a weighted average price @f782per share. Since commencement of its
initial repurchase plan in 1999, the Company hpanehased 10.0 million shares of Common Stockvetighted average price of $23.87 per share foted to
purchase price of $237.9 million. At December 3102, the Company has 5.1 million Common SharesgUainaining under its previously announced share
repurchase programs.

10. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFASS) 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrumentsdadedging Activities,” as amended by
Statement No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 erivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, rags the Company to recognize all derivatives on
the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives trahat hedges must be adjusted to fair value thraucpme. If the derivative is a hedge, dependimghe
nature of the hedge, changes in the fair valubefierivative will either be offset against therain fair value of the hedged assets, liabilitieirm
commitments through earnings, or recognized in Audated Other Comprehensive Loss (“AOCL") until tiedged item is recognized in earnings. The
ineffective portion of a derivative’'s change inrfaalue is recognized in earnings.

The Company'’s interest rate risk management obgedito limit the impact of interest rate changasarnings and cash flows and to lower overall
borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, iimany enters into interest rate hedge contracts asi collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agrsrit
order to mitigate its interest rate risk with regp® various debt instruments. The Company doébseid these derivatives for trading or speculapiueposes

The interest rate on all of the Company’s variahte debt is currently adjusted at one to threetmimervals, subject to settlements under these
contracts. The Company received only a nominal ainotpayments under the interest rate hedge arstiia 2003. Net payments made to counter parties
under interest rate hedge contracts were $0.4omilind $1.0 million in 2002 and 2001, respectivatyd were recorded as increases to interest expense
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In addition, the Company is exposed to certaindsss the event of non-performance by the courgeymunder the interest rate hedge contract. The
Company expects the counter party, which is a nfajancial institution, to perform fully under tle@ntract. However, if the counter party was to difan
its obligations under the interest rate hedge aghtthe Company could be required to pay therféls on its debt, even if such rates were in exctthe
rate in the contract.

On the date that the Company enters into a devivatintract, the Company designates the derivaiv@d) a hedge of the variability of cash flows tha
are to be received or paid in connection with ageized liability (a “cash flow” hedge), (2) a hedgf changes in the fair value of an asset oralilya
attributable to a particular risk (a “fair valuegdige), or (3) an instrument that is held as a resigé derivative. Changes in the fair value of higtfective
cash flow hedges, to the extent that the hedgfestive, are recorded in AOCL, until earnings affected by the hedged transaction (i.e. untilquéc
settlements of a variablate liability are recorded in earnings). Any hedwsffectiveness (which represents the amount biglwthe changes in the fair val
of the derivative exceed the variability in theltflews of the transaction) is recorded in currpatiod earnings. For derivatives designated as/édire
hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivativthe hedged item related to the hedged riskeamgnized in current-period earnings. Changdisariair
value of non-hedging instruments are reported metit-period earnings.

The Company formally documents all relationshipsvieen hedging instruments and hedged items, asawét risk-management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactidhis process includes linking all derivativesttage designated as cash flow hedges to (1) spedifiets
and liabilities on the balance sheet or (2) formhransactions. The Company also assesses anthdots, both at the hedging instrumeritiception and ¢
an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives thatiseel in hedging transactions are highly effectivefisetting changes in cash flows associated thigh
hedged items. When the Company determines thati\atiee is not (or has ceased to be) highly effecas a hedge, the Company discontinues hedge
accounting prospectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Coyngiatered into and subsequently terminated a tredsck agreement to hedge the change in the
fair market value of the MandatOry Par Put Remaiidet Securities (‘“MOPPRS”) issued by the Operaagnership. The termination of this treasury lock
agreement resulted in a payment of $1.5 millioth®@Company. Because this gain was offset by aease in the fair value of the MOPPRS of $1.5 onilli
no gain or loss was recognized during the yeareéiigEember 31, 2003.

In addition, during the year ended December 31328 Company entered into and subsequently tatedrthree interest rate swap agreements
related to a ten-year fixed rate financing comglete December 1, 2003. These swap agreements esigndted as cash flow hedges and the unamortized
effective portion of the cumulative gain on thesehtive instruments was $3.9 million at Deceni®kr2003 and is being reported as a component @A
in stockholders’ equity. This deferred gain will tlezognized in net income as a reduction of inteegense in the same period or periods duringtwhic
interest expense on the hedged fixed rate finareffegts net income. The Company expects that appadely $0.3 million will be recognized in 2004.

In 2003, the Company also entered into two intenast swaps related to a floating rate creditifgciThe swaps effectively fix the one month LIBOR
rate on $20.0 million of floating rate debt at @®@%om August 1, 2003 to January 1, 2004 and &@%.&om January 2, 2004 until May 31, 2005. These
swap agreements are designated as cash flow haddeke effective portion of the cumulative gaintieese derivative instruments was $0.02 million at
December 31, 2003. The Company expects that thepaf the cumulative gain recorded in AOCL at Beber 31, 2003 associated with these derivative
instruments, which will be recognized within thexn&2 months, will be approximately $0.04 million.
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At December 31, 2003, approximately $6.0 milliordeferred financing costs from past cash flow heglgistruments remain in AOCL. These costs
will be recognized as interest expense as the lymogrebt is repaid. The Company expects thaptirgion of the cumulative loss recorded in AOCL at
December 31, 2003 associated with these derivatstauments, which will be recognized within thexn&2 months, will be approximately $0.8 million.
11. OTHER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME /(L 0sS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) represents petrie plus the results of certain non-stockholdegsiity changes not reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The components of other celnemsive income/(loss) are as follows ($ in thodspan

December 31 December 31
2003 2002

Net income $ 55,69t $ 93,46
Other comprehensive income/(los

Realized derivative gains/(losses) on cashflow ke 3,86¢ (1,306

Amortization of hedging gains and losses includedther comprehensive income/(lo 1,68¢ 1,54:

Total other comprehensive incor 5,55¢ 237

Total comprehensive incon $ 61,24¢ $ 93,69¢

12. DisCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG - LIVED A SSETS

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 “Acting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-LivAdsets.” SFAS 144 supercedes SFAS No.
121 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived gets and for Long-Lived Assets to be disposed ofl' the accounting and reporting provisions for
disposals of a segment of business as addres#dRBr80 “Reporting the Results of Operations-Repgrthe Effects of the Disposal of a Segment of a
Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infredquédtcurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS 14dffiective as of January 1, 2002 and extends the
reporting requirements of discontinued operationstlude those long-lived assets which:

(1) are classified held for sale at December 31, 2808 rsult of disposal activities that were ingthsubsequent to January 1, 200

(2) were sold during 2002 and 2003 as a result of dspactivities that were initiated subsequent tmiday 1, 2002

Per SFAS 144, those long-lived assets which wdtediging 2002 and resulted from disposal actisifi@tiated prior to January 1, 2002 should be
accounted for in accordance with SFAS 121 and A@BXiring 2002, the Company sold three propertieElvresulted from disposal activities initiated

prior to January 1, 2002, and the gains realizethese sales are appropriately included in the/@e$is) on disposition of depreciable assets in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.
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As part of its business strategy, the Companyfvaih time to time selectively dispose of non-coreperties or other properties in order to use #te n
proceeds for investments or other purposes. THe balow sets forth the net operating results atdcarrying value of 5.5 million square feet of peaty,
four apartment units and 122.8 acres of revgmoekcing land sold during 2002 and 2003 and 43dgjliare feet of property and 88 apartment unitsfoe

sale at December 31, 2003. These were a resuspdshl activities that were initiated subsequerthé effective date of SFAS 144 and are classéied
discontinued operations in the Company’s Consaid&tatements of Income ($ in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Total revenue $27,11¢ $ 53,67 $ 57,34¢
Rental operating expens 7,08( 15,10¢ 15,77¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,91¢ 12,02¢ 11,92:
Interest expens 1,00( 1,91¢ 1,71¢
Income before gain on sale of discontinued openatand minority interest from the Operating

Partnershiy 16,11¢ 24,61¢ 27,93:
Minority interest from the Operating Partners (1,799 (2,909 (3,449
Income from discontinued operations, net of miyariterest from the Operating Partners 14,32¢ 21,707 24,48«

Gain on sale/impairment of discontinued operat 19,71( 13,12: —

Minority interest from the Operating Partners (2,157 (1,515 —

Gain on sale/impairment of discontinued operatioes$ ,of minority interest from the Operating Parshép 17,55¢ 11,60° —
Total discontinued operatiol $31,88¢ $ 33,31« $ 24,48¢
Carrying value of assets held for sale and assédsdsiring the yea $41,31: $244,10¢ $386,91:

In addition, SFAS 144 requires that a long-livesedlassified as held for sale be measured &ber of the carrying value or fair value less cost
sell. During 2003, the Company had determinedttietarrying value of two office properties held $ale, which have now been sold, was greaterttiein
fair value less cost to sell and has recognize@.a ®illion, net of minority interest from the Opéing Partnership, impairment loss, which is ineldiéh gain
on sale of discontinued operations in the Constditi&tatements of Income for the year ended Dece8ih@003. For 2002, the impairment loss related t
two additional properties whose carrying value ga@&sater than their fair value less cost to selictvihave now been sold, was $3.6 million, net afigrity
interest. This impairment loss is included in gainsale of discontinued operations in the Constdi&tatements of Income for the year ended Dece8ih
2002.

SFAS 144 also requires that the carrying valuelofg-lived asset classified as held and used bgaoced to the sum of its estimated future
undiscounted cash flows. If the carrying valuersager than the sum of its undiscounted future fass, an impairment loss should be recognized. At
December 31, 2003, because there were no propkeiégor use with a carrying value exceeding tha sf their undiscounted future cash flows, no
impairment loss related to properties held forwas recognized during the year ended December08B. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the
impairment loss based on this criteria was $0.8aniland is included in gain on disposition of depable assets in the Consolidated Statementxofrie
for the year ended December 31, 2002. In additio8002, the Company recognized a $9.1 million impant loss related to one office property that has
been demolished and will be redeveloped into esdtasuburban office property and whereby the cagyialue exceeded the sum of the property’s
undiscounted future cash flows. This impairmens lissincluded in gain on disposition of deprecisddsets in the Consolidated Statements of Incontédo
year ended December 31, 2002.
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13. EARNINGS P ER SHARE

FASB Statement No. 128 replaced the calculatigoriofary and fully diluted earnings per share wittsic and diluted earnings per share. Unlike
primary earnings per share, basic earnings pee shaludes any dilutive effects of options, warsaarid convertible securities. Diluted earningsgbare is
computed using the weighted average number of slir@ommon Stock and the dilutive effect of opsiowarrants and convertible securities outstanding,
using the “treasury stock” method. Earnings perelkata is required for all periods for which acame statement or summary of earnings is presented,
including summaries outside the basic financiakstents. All earnings per share amounts for albpsrpresented have, where appropriate, beeneddtat

conform to the FASB Statement 128 requirements.

The following table sets forth the computation afic and diluted earnings per share:

Numerator:
Net income

Non-convertible preferred stock divideriéls
Numerator for basic earnings per sh— income available to common stockhold

Numerator for diluted earnings per sh—net income available to common stockholc- after assume
conversions

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per st- weighte«-average share
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock optior®
Warrants®

Dilutive potential common shar
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh- adjusted weighted average shares and assumed siomg

Basic earnings per common sh

Diluted earnings per common share

2003 2002

2001

(% in thousands, except per unit amounts

$ 55,69¢ $ 93,46 $131,21:
(30,857 (30,857 (31,500
$ 24,84 $ 62,60¢ $ 99,71
$ 24,84 $ 62,60 $ 99,71:
53,27: 53,22¢ 54,22¢
13¢ 254 337

2 5 6

137 25¢ 34z
53,40¢ 53,48t 54,57
$ 047 $ 116 $  1.8¢
$ 047 $ 1179 $ 1.8

@ For additional disclosures regarding outstandirefgsred stock, the employee stock options and #reants, see Notes 9 and 14 included he

@ 6.6 million Common Units and the related $6.9 millin minority interest were excluded from the tila earnings per share calculation due to the

anti-dilutive effect.

@) 7.0 million Common Units and the related $12.7 imvillin minority interest were excluded from theutive earnings per share calculation due to the

anti-dilutive effect.

@ 7.4 million Common Units and the related $18.9 imnillin minority interest were excluded from theudiite earnings per share calculation due to the

anti-dilutive effect.

The number of potentially convertible shares of omn stock related to warrants and stock optionasifellows:

Outstanding warrant
Outstanding stock optior
Possible future issuance under stock option

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had 146,5Z56mon shares available to be issued.
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14. Stock O PTIONS AND W ARRANTS

As of December 31, 2003, 6.0 million shares of@loenpany’s authorized Common Stock were reserves$oiance under the Amended and Restated
1994 Stock Option Plan. Stock options granted uttdsiplan generally vest over a four- or five-ypariod beginning with the date of grant.

In 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Boastiéd Statement of Financial Accounting StandamsLR3, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, (“SFAS 123"). SFAS 123 recommendsuse of a fair value based method of accountingriceemployee stock option whereby
compensation cost is measured at the grant dateedair value of the award and is recognized derservice period (generally the vesting periothef
award). However, SFAS 123 specifically allows atitgrto continue to measure compensation cost uAdeounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB"RSo long as pro forma disclosures of net income @arnings per share are made as if SFAS 123 had
been adopted. Through December 31, 2002, the Conmglacted to follow APB 25 and related interpretasi in accounting for its employee stock options.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148 to geoalternative methods of transition for a voluptenange to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensatioaddiition, the statement amends the disclosurgregents of Statement No. 123 to require prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financiatesnents about the method of accounting for stadet employee compensation and the effect of the
method used on reported results. On January 1, 20&ompany adopted the fair value method of amatiog for stock-based compensation provisions of
SFAS 123. The Company applied the prospective ndetfiaccounting and expensed all employee stodkmp{and similar awards) issued on or after
January 1, 2003 over the vesting period basedefathvalue of the award on the date of grant. atheption of this statement did not have a matériphct
on the Company'’s results of operations.

Under SFAS 123, the fair value of a stock optioassmated by using an option-pricing model thkésainto account as of the grant date the exercise
price and expected life of the options, the curpeite of the underlying stock and its expectedititiy, expected dividends on the stock, and thk-free
interest rate for the expected term of the opt&FAS 123 provides examples of possible pricing rsoded includes the Black-Scholes pricing modelictvh
the Company used to develop its pro forma discEsurhe Blackscholes model was developed for use in estimatiedéir value of traded options that h
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferatdgher than for use in estimating the fair valfieraployee stock options subject to vesting anasfierability
restrictions.

Because SFAS 123 is applicable only to optionstgthaubsequent to December 31, 1994, only opticarged subsequent to that date were va
using this Black-Scholes model. The fair valuehef bptions granted in 2003 was estimated at thesadtthe grant using the following weighted averag
assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 2.98%38d%, dividend yield of 8.71% and 11.05, expeei@dtility of 17.10 and 20.39% and a weighted agera
expected life of the options of four years. The falue of the options granted in 2002 was estithatehe dates of the grant using the followingghetd
average assumptions: riflee interest rates ranging between 3.64% and 4.d64tlend yield of 8.70%, expected volatility d2.Z2% and a weighted aver:
expected life of the options of four years. The falue of the options granted in 2001 was estithatehe dates of grant using the following weighagerag
assumptions: risk-free interest rates ranging betwe76% and 6.11%, dividend yield of 9.00%, expeeolatility of 17.20% and a weighted average
expected life of the options of four years. Had¢bmpensation cost for the Company’s stock optiangfor options issued before January 1, 2003 been
determined based on the fair value at the datgsawit for awards granted between January 1, 199®asember 31, 2002 consistent with the provisains
SFAS 123, the Company’s net income and net incognalipare would have decreased to the pro forma r@isias indicated:
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Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001

($ in thousands, except per share

amounts)
Net income available for common stockhold— as reportet $24,84: $62,60¢ $99,71:
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedmaime 68 — —
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufadevalue recognition method for all awai (73€) (865) (2,315
Pro forma net income available for common stockérd $24,17¢ $61,74+ $97,39¢

0.47 $ 1.1¢ $ 1.8
0.4% $ 1.1¢€ $ 1.8C
0.47 $ 1.17 $ 1.8
0.4¢ $ 1.1f $ 1.7¢

Basic net income per common sh- as reporte:
Basic net income per common sh- pro forma
Diluted net income per common shi- as reporte:
Diluted net income per common shi- pro forma

©HH PP

The following table summarizes information abouipésgees’ and Board of Directorstock options outstanding at December 31, 20032 20@ 2001

Options Outstanding

Weighted

Average

Number of Exercise

Shares Price

Balances at December 31, 2( 3,273,65! 23.0¢
Options grante: 741,88 25.02
Options terminate (119,12 26.9¢
Options exercise (41,799 18.2%
Balances at December 31, 2( 3,854,62. 23.3¢
Options grante: 570,33t 26.9¢
Options terminate (204,739 25.6¢
Options exercise (547,979 21.71
Balances at December 31, 2( 3,672,24! 24.1¢
Options grante 756,95! 21.0¢
Options terminate (2,250 30.3¢
Options exercise (56,300 19.0¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 4,370,64: $ 22.8¢

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise

Shares Price
December 31, 200 1,712,621 $ 23.7¢
December 31, 200 1,729,32! $ 24.04
December 31, 200 2,478,78. $ 23.0¢

Exercise prices for options outstanding as of Démam31, 2003 ranged from $14.59 to $31.14. The htethaverage remaining contractual life of
those options is 6.4 years. Using the Black-Schofgi®ns valuation model, the weighted averagevialue of options granted during 2003, 2002 andl200
was $0.93, $0.72 and $1.11, respectively, for emtion share.

Warrants
In connection with various acquisitions in 199596%nd 1997, the Company issued warrants to puedteses of Common Stock.
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The following table sets forth information regagliwarrants outstanding as of December 31, 2003:

Number Exercise
of
Date of Issuance Warrants Price
February 199! 35,00( $21.0C
April 1996 150,00( $28.0(
October 199 538,03! $32.5(
December 199 120,00( $34.1:
Total 843,03¢

The warrants granted in February 1995, April 1986 Becember 1997 expire 10 years from the respedttes of issuance. All warrants are
exercisable from the dates of issuance. The wargnanted in October 1997 do not have an expiratate.
15. COMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivateastments at financial institutions. The combiaedount balances at each institution typically
exceed the FDIC insurance coverage and, as a,rémiui is a concentration of credit risk rela@amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurangerage
Management of the Company believes that the rislisignificant.
Land Leases

Certain properties in the Company’s wholly-ownedtiadio are subject to land leases expiring thro2082. Rental payments on these leases are
adjusted annually based on either the consumeg piritex or on a predetermined schedule.

For three properties, the Company has the optiguitchase the leased land during the lease tetine afreater of 85.0% of appraised value or $0.03
million per acre.

The obligation for future minimum lease paymentasdollows ($ in thousands):

2004 $ 1,26¢
2005 1,27:
2006 1,21:
2007 1,19¢
2008 1,19¢
Thereaftel 42,76¢

$48,90¢

Contracts

The Company has entered into contracts relateshiant improvements and the development of certaipegties totaling $24.0 million as of December
31, 2003. The amounts remaining to be paid undeseticontracts as of December 31, 2003 totaled $di8idn.
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Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company’s in-service pntigs have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain instances, Phase I
environmental assessments). Such assessments apdétes have not revealed, nor is management afyaary environmental liability that management
believes would have a material adverse effect eratttompanying consolidated financial statements.

Joint Ventures

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withftihated parties have buy/sell options that mayesercised to acquire the other partner’s intdrgst
either the Company or its joint venture partnereiftain conditions are met as set forth in theeetipe joint venture agreement. The Company’s gaiitn SF-
HIW Harborview, LP has the right to put its 80.0%ugy interest in the partnership to the Compangxohange for cash at anytime during the one-year
period commencing on September 11, 2014. As atrésalCompany has deferred a gain of $1.0 milliotil the expiration of the put option. The valdelme
equity interest will be determined based upon ltea ffair market value of SF-HIW Harborview, LP assed liabilities.

In connection with several of our joint venturetpars with unaffiliated parties, the Company haged to guarantee certain rent shortfalls and re-
tenanting costs for certain properties contributedold to the joint ventures. As of December 302 the Company has $10.9 million accrued for
obligations related to these agreements. The Coyripalieves that its estimates related to thesecaggats are adequate. However, if its assumptioths an
estimates prove to be incorrect, future losses ocayr.

Other Guarantees

The following is a discussion of the various gu&ean existing at December 31, 2003 that fall utigeinitial recognition and measurement
requirements of FIN 45. The following discussioscaincludes those guarantees in existence pritetdanuary 1, 2003 effective date which onlydaliier
the disclosure requirements of the Interpretatiwh @ such no liability was recorded.

In December 2000, the Company guaranteed its 8pa@%er in MG-HIW, LLC joint venture a minimum imtel rate of return on $50.0 million of
their equity investment in the remaining assethefjoint venture (the “Orlando assets”). On Jiy 2003, the Company entered into an option agreetoe
acquire Miller Global's 80.0% interest in the Ordlanassets for between $62.5 and $65.2 million déipgron the closing date and the distributions ftbm
joint venture prior to closing. Based on the teohthe agreement, the purchase option price raatjgiss the internal rate of return guaranteednnectior
with the option agreement, the Company enteredarédter of credit in the amount of $7.5 millianfavor of Miller Global, which can be drawn by héil
Global in the event the Company does not exertssepttion to purchase their 80.0% interest in #maining assets of MG-HIW, LLC by March 24, 2004.
Given the Company intends to exercise its optioklanch 2004, the fair value of the letter of cregiiarantee liability does not have a material impacthe
Company’s financial condition or results of opevat and is therefore not recorded as a liabilithenCompany’s Balance Sheet. (See Note 19 fdndurt
discussion).

As part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on July 22003, the Company entered into an option agreemigmits partner, Miller Global, to acquire
their 50.0% interest in the assets encompassir@g8&quare feet of property and 7.0 acres of dpvedmt land of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and MB8MW
Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2 million. The $7.4 millioconstruction loan to fund the development of gigperty, of which $7.3 million is outstanding at
December 31, 2003, will be either paid in full ssamed by the Company in connection with the adoprisof the assets. On January 29, 2002, the Cagnpa
guaranteed 50.0% of the construction loan suchifttize joint venture is unable to repay the outding balance, the Company would be required, utiger
terms of the agreement, to repay 50.0% of the andiihg balance. The maximum potential amount afreupayments by the Company under the agreenm
$3.7 million, however, the Company is able to sexlourse from their partner for 50.0% of that anto(®ee Note 19 for further discussion).
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In connection with the Des Moines joint venture gqurees in place prior to January 1, 2003, the maxi potential amount of future payments the
Company could be required to make under the gueedst$25.5 million. Of this amount, $8.6 milliorose from housing revenue bonds that require credit
enhancements in addition to the real estate moggaghe bonds bear a floating interest rate, whirhently averages 1.3% and mature in 2015. Guesant
of $9.5 million will expire upon two industrial Hdings becoming 93.8% and 95.0% leased. CurrettiBse buildings are 90.0% and 64.0% leased,
respectively. The remaining $7.4 million in guaret relate to loans on four office buildings thatevin the lease-up phase at the time the loans wer
initiated. Each of the loans will expire by May 300 he average occupancy of the four buildingsetdnber 31, 2003 is 91.0%. If the joint ventures ar
unable to repay the outstanding balance undewthes| the Company will be required, under the tarhtbe agreements, to repay the outstanding balanc
Recourse provisions exist to enable the Compamngdover some or all of its losses from the jointtuees’ assets and/or the other partner. The y@ntures
currently generate sufficient cash flow to cover tlebt service required by the loans.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventuttee Company renewed its guarantee of $6.2 mitlioa bank in July 2003. The bank provides a
letter of credit securing industrial revenue bondsich mature in 2015. The Company would be reguioeperform under the guarantee should the joint
venture be unable to repay the bonds. The Compasiydtourse provisions in order to recover fronjdire venture’s assets and the other partner for
amounts paid in excess of their proportionate shidre property collateralizing the bonds is 100le8#sed and currently generates sufficient cash titow
cover the debt service required by the bond fimemchs a result, no liability has been recordethenCompany’s Balance Sheet.

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint westthe Company has included $2.8 million in offadilities and adjusted the investment in
unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8 million on itsxsolidated balance sheet at December 31, 200&delatwo separate guarantees of a construction loa
agreement and a construction completion agreermbetconstruction loan matures in February 2006 b one-year options to extend the maturity date
that are conditional on completion and lease-ugn@fproject. The term of the construction completigreement requires the core and shell of thelingilto
be completed by December 15, 2005. Currently, thleling is scheduled to be completed in Decemb@42B8oth guarantees arose from the formation of the
joint venture to construct an office building. lifet joint venture is unable to repay the outstantimgnce under the construction loan agreementroplete
the construction of the office building, the Compavould be required, under the terms of the agregsnéo repay its 50.0% share of the outstanditarice
under the construction loan and complete the coctstn of the office building. The maximum potehtianount of future payments by the Company under
these agreements is $34.9 million. No recourseigians exist that would enable the Company to rec@om the other partner amounts paid under the
guarantee. However, given that the loan is cokditerd by the building, the Company and their partould obtain and liquidate the building to rezothe
amounts paid should the Company be required t@paréinder the guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC constructman and completion agreement described abogeydttners collectively provided $12.0 million
in letters of credit in December 2002, $6.0 milllmnthe Company and $6.0 million by its partne2@®2. The Company and its partner would be helddia
under the letter of credit agreements should thm y@nture not complete construction of the buidgdiThe letters of credit expire in December 3D2MNo
recourse provisions exist that would enable the @y to recover from the other partner amounts dramder the letter of credit.

Dispositions

In connection with the disposition of 225,220 sguiaet of property in 2002, fully leased to Cap@@ale Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Capital One
Financial Services, Inc., the Company agreed toaguee any rent shortfalls and re-tenanting casta five year period of time from the date of sdlee
Company'’s contingent liability with respect to sugtrarantee as of December 31, 2003 is $16.5 milBecause of this guarantee, in accordance withSSFA
66, the Company deferred the gain of approximé&él@ million, which will be recognized when the tiagency period is concluded. The Company believes
that its estimate related to the agreement is ateuiHowever, if its assumptions and estimateseptobe incorrect, future losses may occur.
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In connection with the disposition of 298,000 sguiaet of property in 2003, fully leased to Cap@@ale Services, Inc., a subsidiary of Capital One
Financial Services, Inc., the Company agreed toaguee, over various contingency periods throughl 2006, any rent shortfalls on certain space. The
Company'’s contingent liability with respect to sugtrarantee as of December 31, 2003 is $4.4 milBetause of this guarantee, in accordance with SFAS
66, the Company deferred $4.4 million of the t&&M4 million gain. The deferred portion of the guiifl be recognized when each contingency period is
concluded.

In connection with the disposition of 1.9 millioguare feet of Industrial property at the end of2G8e Company agreed to guarantee, over various
contingency periods through December 2006, anystenittfalls on 16.3% of the rentable square foot#fghe Industrial property, which is occupied ot
tenants. The Company’s contingent liability witlspect to such guarantee as of December 31, 2@24anillion. Because of this guarantee, in accacda
with SFAS 66, the Company deferred $2.4 millioritef total $5.2 million gain. The deferred portidrttee gain will be recognized when each contingency
period is concluded.

Litigation
The Company is party to a variety of legal procegsliarising in the ordinary course of its busing@g& Company believes that it is adequately covered

by insurance. Accordingly, none of such proceedargsexpected to have a material adverse effettieo@ompany’s business, financial condition andltes
of operations.

The Company incurred $2.7 million in year endedéeber 31, 2002 for litigation expense related tdous legal proceedings from previously
completed mergers and acquisitions. These werngdattled in early 2003.

16. DiscLOSURE A BOUT F AIR V ALUE OF F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The following disclosures of estimated fair valueravdetermined by management using available marcemation and appropriate valuation
methodologies. Considerable judgment is neceseadntdrpret market data and develop estimated/édires. Accordingly, the estimates presented henen
not necessarily indicative of the amounts thatGbenpany could realize upon disposition of the firiahinstruments. The use of different market agstions
and/or estimation methodologies may have a mateifiect on the estimated fair values. The carrgngunts and estimated fair values of the Company’s
financial instruments at December 31, 2003 welfelésys:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

($ in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalel $ 18,56¢ $ 18,56/
Accounts and notes receival $ 42,45( $  42,45(
Mortgages and notes payal $(1,558,75)) $(1,639,55)

The fair values for the Company’s fixed rate mogeemand notes payable were estimated using dismbeash flow analysis, based on the Company’s
estimated incremental borrowing rate at DecembgeR@Q3, for similar types of borrowing arrangemefitse carrying amounts of the Company’s variable
rate borrowings approximate fair value.

Disclosures about the fair value of financial ingtents are based on relevant information avail@blere Company at December 31, 2003. Although
management is not aware of any factors that woane fa material effect on the fair value amountsntepl herein, such amounts have not been revaineée
that date and current estimates of fair value nigificantly differ from the amounts presented liere
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17. SEGMENT | NFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisitienrelopment and operation of rental real estaipegsties. The Company operates office, industrial
and retail properties and apartment units. Thexearmaterial inter-segment transactions.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CD8sesses and measures operating results bagegdroperty level net operating income. The
operating results for the individual assets witkd@ith property type have been aggregated sinceDM &valuates operating results and allocates ressuwn
a property-by-property basis within the variousgany types.

The accounting policies of the segments are thee smthose described in Note 1 included hereirthEyrall operations are within the United States
and no tenant currently comprises more than 3.4#o$olidated revenues. The following table sumpearthe rental income, net operating income and
assets for each reportable segment for the yededlddecember 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 ($ in thos$and

Year Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Rental Revenue® :
Office segmen $ 348,14 $ 361,58 $ 371,75t
Industrial segmer 34,54¢ 33,34: 34,95¢
Retail segmer 38,001 36,97 35,257
Apartment segmer 1,362 1,164 7,961
Total Rental Revenue $ 422,06: $ 433,06! $ 449,92¢
Net Operating Income® :
Office segmen $ 220,94 $ 243,08 $ 254,63:
Industrial segmer 26,997 26,31( 28,467
Retail segmer 26,19: 25,38: 23,59(
Apartment segmer 54¢ 571 4,05¢
Total Net Operating Income 274,68 295,35 310,74¢
Reconciliation to income before gain/(loss) on diggition of land and depreciable assets, minorit
interest and discontinued operations:
Depreciation and amortizatic (129,22 (121,749 (109,14¢)
Interest expens (114,27) (110,909 (107,49¢)
General and administrative expen (24,81YH (24,57¢) (21,390
Litigation expenst — (2,700 —
Interest and other incon 11,91¢ 13,56: 24,42¢
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 4,75C 8,06: 8,911
Income before gain on disposition of land and deprable assets, minority interest and discontinue
operations $ 23,037 $ 57,04 $ 106,05!
Year Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
Total Assets:
Office segmen $2,577,71. $2,588,99: $2,859,87!
Industrial segmer 274,37¢ 354,39¢ 343,60t
Retail segmer 282,19¢ 277,88¢ 263,62:
Apartment segmer 13,80 13,05 10,39°
Corporate and othe 178,71 161,03: 170,78}
Total Assets $3,326,80! $3,395,36! $3,648,28

) Net of discontinued operatior
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18. QUARTERLY F INANCIAL D ATA (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth quarterly finandiaflormation for the Compang’fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 200Rarelbeen adjuste
to reflect the reporting requirements of discongidiwperations under SFAS 144 ($ in thousands epegthare amounts):

Rental revenue and other incol
Income from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatic

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net income available for common stockhold

Net income per share- basic:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatic
Discontinued operatior

Net income

Net income per share- diluted:
(Loss)/income from continuing operatic
Discontinued operatior

Net income

Rental revenue and other inco
Income from continuing operatiol
Income from discontinued operatic

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net income available for common stockhold

Net income per share- basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Discontinued operatior

Net income

Net income per share- diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic
Discontinued operatior

Net income

For the year ended December 31, 20(

Fourth

First Second Third Quarter ()
Quarter ®  Quarter @ Quarter @ Total
$108,58¢ $106,38( $110,66¢ $113,09: $438,72¢
7,057 4,32¢ 7,062 5,36¢ 23,81(
4,11¢ 5,79¢ 14,41( 7,56¢ 31,88t
11,17: 10,12( 21,47: 12,93( 55,69¢
(7,719 (7,719 (7,719 (7,719 (30,857)
$ 345¢ $ 2,407 $13,76( $ 5,217 $ 24,84
$ (00) $ (O $ (0O $ (.0 $ (0.19
0.07 0.11 0.27 0.1¢ 0.6C
$ 006 $ 00 $ 026 $ 01C $ 0.47
$ (00) $ (O $ (0O $ (.0 $ (0.19
0.07 0.11 0.27 0.1¢ 0.6C
$ 006 $ 00 $ 026 $ 01C $ 0.47
For the year ended December 31, 20(
Fourth
First Second Third Quarter 1)
Quarter ®  Quarter @ Quarter © Total
$117,14. $110,81¢ $113,02¢ $113,69¢ $454,69(
20,87: 20,18¢ 12,45 6,63: 60,14%
6,00( 7,56 2,36¢ 17,38¢ 33,31«
26,87: 27,75( 14,82: 24,01° 93,46:
(7,719 (7,713 (7,719 (7,713 (30,857
$ 19,15¢ $ 20,037 $ 7,10¢ $ 16,30¢ $ 62,60¢
$ 022 $ 02 $ 00 $ (002 $ 0.5t
0.11 0.14 0.0t 0.3¢ 0.6:
$ 03¢ $ 037 $ 014 $ 031 $ 1.1¢
$ 022 $ 02 $ 00 $ (002 $ 0.5t
0.11 0.1¢4 0.0t 0.3 0.62
$ 03¢ $ 037 $ 014 $ 03C $ 1.17

@ In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement No.“Addounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Asset” (“SFAS 144") which requires
assets classified as held for sale or sold asudt ifdisposal activities initiated subsequenfamuary 1, 2002 to be reported as discontinuedatipes.
Thus, in all periods presented above, we havegssified the operations and/or gain/(loss) from oiésp of those properties to discontinued operations
and those long lived assets sold or held for sake r@sult of disposal activities initiated priorJanuary 1, 2002 remain classified within contigui
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19. SUBSEQUENT E VENTS

On March 2, 2004, the Company exercised its omimhacquired its partner’'s 80.0% equity interesh@remaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC, which
consists of five properties encompassing 1.3 mniliquare feet located in the central businesddatistrOrlando (“Orlando properties”). The propesiwere
83.8% leased as of December 31, 2003 and were dmeachby $136.2 million of floating rate debt witherest based on LIBOR plus 200 basis points,
which has been assumed by the Company. At thengasithe transaction, the Company paid its partdéter Global, $62.5 million and the $7.5 million
letter of credit was cancelled. The transactionliespa valuation (100.0% ownership) of $214.3 miiliwhich includes the properties and other nettasy
the joint venture.

In January 2004, the Company signed a Letter ehinvith Kapital-Consult, manager for DreilandemBs, a European investment firm, under which
Kapital-Consult will acquire a 60.0% equity intaresthe Orlando properties for approximately $4&illion, excluding certain development rights ® b
retained by the Company. Although the transactubject to documentation and other closing candif it is expected to close no later than theddritle
second quarter of 2004.

Also on March 2, 2004, the Company exercised itoamnd acquired its partner’s 50.0% equity irgeme the assets of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC
and MG-HIW Metrowest II, LLC for $3.2 million. Thassets in MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and MG-HIW Metrest I, LLC include 87,832 square feet of
property and 7.0 acres of development land zonethédevelopment of 90,000 square feet of offfzace. The $7.4 million construction loan to fund th
development of this property, of which $7.3 millimas outstanding at December 31, 2003, was pdidlihy the Company at closing.

See Note 3 for proforma information assuming trguagition of the above assets had occurred on 3griu2002.
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Year ended December 31, 2003
Allowance for doubtful accoun

Year ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for doubtful accoun

Year ended December 31, 2C
Allowance for doubtful accoun

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 200

($ in thousands)
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Balance a

o Charged Balance a
beginning to expens: Deductions

end of

of year year
$ 1,45C $ 80€ $ (1,02)) $ 1,23t
$ 1,087 $ 2,761 $ (2,39 $ 1,45C
$ 82t $ 2,16¢ $ (1,907 $ 1,087
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

SCHEDULE lll—REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATI

12/31/2003

(In Thousand)

2003
Description City Encumberance

Atlanta, GA
1035 Fred

Drive Atlante
1700 Century

Center Atlante
1700 Century

Circle Atlante
1800 Century

Boulevard Atlante
1825 Century

Center

(CDC) Atlante
1875 Century

Boulevard Atlante
1900 Century

Boulevard Atlante
2200 Century

Parkway Atlante
2400 Century

Center Atlante
2600 Century

Parkway Atlante
2635 Century

Parkway Atlante
2800 Century

Parkway Atlante
400 North

Business

Park Atlante
50 Glenlake Atlante
5125 Fulton

Industrial

Drive Atlante
6348 Northeast

Expresswa Atlante
6438 Northeast

Expresswa Atlante
Bluegrass 12.7

Acres Atlante
Bluegrass Fl

12.13 Acret Atlante
Bluegrass

Lakes | Atlante
Bluegrass Land

Site V10 Atlante
Bluegrass Land

Site V14 Atlante
Bluegrass PH

32.346

Acres Atlante
Bluegrass Pha:

2 Atlante
Bluegrass Plac

| Atlante
Bluegrass Plac

1] Atlante
Bluegrass

V93.04 Atlante
Bluegrass

Valley Atlante
Bluegrass Wet

Land Atlante
Century Plaza Atlante
Century Plaza Atlante
Chastain Place Atlante
Chastain Place

1] Atlante
Chastain Place

I Atlante
Chattahoochee

Avenue Atlante
Corporate

Lakes Atlante
Cosmopolitan

North Atlante
Deerfield | Atlante ®3)
Deerfield Il Atlante ®3)
Deerfield 11 Atlante

ON

Gross Amount

Cost Capitalized at Which
Subsequent to Carried at Close
Initial Cost Acquistion of Period
Life_on
Land Building & Land Building & Land Building & Accumulated Date of Dex\rlggi:gtion
Improvements Improvements Improvements Total Depreciation  Construction is Computec

27C 1,268 577 27C 1,84( 2,11C 282 1972 5-40 yrs.
1,11¢ 3,16: 605 1,11% 3,76¢ 4,882 98¢ 1972 5-40 yrs.
2,48: 46C 2,94: 2,942 241 1982 5-40 yrs.
1,441 29,037 9,79z 1,441 38,82¢ 40,27( 6,154 197¢ 5-40 yrs.
864 15,21¢ 864 15,21¢ 16,08 664 200z 5-40 yrs.
8,91( 1,34 10,25¢ 10,25¢ 1,801 197¢ 5-40 yrs.
4,737 91t 5,65% 5,652 1,417 1971 5-40 yrs.
14,41( 1,85¢ 16,26¢ 16,26¢ 3,431 1971 5-40 yrs.
15,92( 15,92( 15,92( 4,191 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
10,66: 811 11,47¢ 11,47« 2,211 1972 5-40 yrs.
21,61( 1,292 22,90z 22,90z 4,282 198C 5-40 yrs.
20,41¢ 37¢ 20,797 20,797 3,64: 1982 5-40 yrs.
97¢ 6,23t 50¢ 97¢ 6,74¢ 7,728 1,16¢ 198t 5-40 yrs.
2,50(C 20,00¢ 23¢  2,50C 20,24% 22,74% 3,16¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
57¢ 3,11¢ (578) (3,116 1972 540 yrs.
2717 1,66¢ 182 277 1,851 2,12¢ 31C 197¢ 5-40 yrs.
181 2,23: 13C 181 2,36° 2,54¢ 43¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.

16 16 16 N/A N/A

15 4 19 19 N/A N/A
81€ 4,04 81€ 4,04 4,86( 83z 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
1,82¢ 1,82¢ 1,82¢ 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
2,397 2,397 2,397 199¢ 5-40 yrs.

5,39¢ 5,39¢ 5,39¢ N/A N/A

6,30° 6,302 6,302 N/A N/A
491 2,061 55 491 2,11¢ 2,607 33C 199t 5-40 yrs.
41z 2,58:¢ 11 412 2,594 3,00¢ 41z 199¢ 5-40 yrs.

1,08: 1,08: 1,08: N/A N/A
1,50C 4,24¢  1,50C 4,24¢ 5,74¢ 647 200¢ 5-40 yrs.

2,67¢ 2,67¢ 2,67¢ N/A N/A
1,29(C 8,561 1,30¢ 1,29C 9,87¢ 11,16¢ 1,30¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.
1,38(C 7,738 1,33¢  1,38( 9,071 10,45 1,052 1984 5-40 yrs.
47z 4,101 472 4,101 4,57% 1,32¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
607 2,02¢ 607 2,02¢ 2,632 377 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
53¢ 1,67¢ 53¢ 1,67¢ 2,21¢ 48¢ 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
24¢ 1,87¢ 30z 24¢ 2,17¢ 2,427 54¢ 197C 5-40 yrs.
1,27¢ 7,30( 48¢ 1,27t 7,78¢ 9,064 1,601 198¢ 5-40 yrs.
2,85¢ 4,18( 1,54C 2,85t 5,72( 8,57¢ 1,34¢ 198C 5-40 yrs.
1,10C 2,637 30 1,10 2,667 3,767 24 199¢ 5-40 yrs.
1,50( 4,22¢ (861) 1,50C 3,362 4,862 @ 199¢ 540 yrs.
1,01(C 3,76¢ 1,01(C 3,76¢ 4,77¢ 16€ 2001 5-40 yrs.



EKA Chemical
Gwinnett
Distribution
Center
Highwoods
Center | at
Tradeport
Highwoods
Center Il at
Tradeport
Highwoods
Center lll a
Tradeport
Kennestone
Corporate
Center
La Vista
Business
Park
Newpoint Place
|
Newpoint Place
1]
Newpoint Place
1]
Newpoint Place
v
Newpoint Place
Land
Norcross | & 11
Nortel
Oakbrook |

Atlante

Atlante

Atlante

Atlante

Atlante

Atlante

Atlante
Atlante
Atlante
Atlante
Atlante
Atlante
Atlante

Atlante
Atlante

1)  60¢

1,12¢

1 307

1 641

(1)  4o¢

51¢

821
82t
1,49¢

66€

9,88¢

6,007

4,92;

5,26¢

2,01¢
32,11:
4,95¢

74¢

3,41¢

4,23(

3,35¢

34C

1,06(
4,13¢
4,85¢
2,567
4,72¢

10

82

12
534

F-42

60¢

1,12¢

51€

821
82¢
1,49¢

66€

9,88¢

6,75¢

3,41¢

4,23(

3,35¢

5,262

6,32¢
4,13¢
4,85¢
2,567
4,72¢

10
2,09¢

32,12%
5,48¢

10,49t

7,88

3,72t

4,871

3,767

5,78(

7,14¢
4,96(
6,357
3,23¢
5,71¢
2,13¢
2,42¢

35,46¢
6,362

1,43

1,362

962

994

1,200

97¢

1,27
1,51¢
1,00¢

76C

381
4,652
1,12¢

199¢

1991

199¢

199¢

2001

198t

197¢
199¢
199¢
199¢
2001

N/A
197¢C

199¢
1981

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
N/A
5-40 yrs.

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
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2003 Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Date of Depreciation
Encumberance Improvements Improvements Improvements Depreciation Construction is Computec
Description City Land Land Land Total

Oakbrook Il Atlante (2) 1,57¢ 8,96: 1,27¢ 1,57¢ 10,23¢ 11,81¢ 2,41¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook 111 Atlante (2) 1,48C 8,39¢ 514 1,48( 8,91% 10,39: 1,78t 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook IV Atlante (2) 95: 5,40¢ 457 952 5,86¢ 6,81¢ 1,25¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook V Atlante (2) 2,20¢ 12,51¢ 1,06¢ 2,20€ 13,584 15,79( 3,02¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakbrook Summi Atlante 95(C 6,68¢ 634 95( 7,32z 8,27: 1,48¢ 1981 5-40 yrs.
Oxford Lake Business

Center Atlante 85E 7,15¢ 362 85E 7,517 8,37 1,331 1985 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners Atlante (3) 2,00 6,097 261 2,00( 6,35¢ 8,35¢ 10¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners | Atlante 88C 2,01« 1,65¢ 88(C 3,672 4,552 20¢E 2002 5-40 yrs.
Peachtree Corners Lai Atlante 1,221 1,221 1,221 N/A N/A
South Park Residential

Land Atlante 50 5C 50 N/A N/A
South Park Site Lan Atlante 1,20¢ 1,20¢ 1,20¢ N/A N/A
Southside Distribution

Center Atlante 81C 4,58¢ 16E 81C 4,75¢ 5,56¢ 83C 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport | Atlante 557 2,91¢ 557 2,91€ 3,47: 71 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Il Atlante 557 3,52( 557 3,52( 4,077 1,077 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport I11 Atlante 678 4,46¢ 67% 4,46¢ 5,137 958 1999 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport IV Atlante 667 3,851 667 3,857 4,52¢ 374 2001 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport V Atlante 46% 2,325 46% 2,327 2,79( 10E 2002 5-40 yrs.
Tradeport Lanc Atlante 5,31« 38 23 5,35 23 5,37¢ 2 N/A N/A
Two Point Roya Atlante (1) 1,79¢ 14,96¢ 30C 1,792 15,26¢ 17,057 2,44( 1997 5-40 yrs.
Baltimore, MD
Sportsman Club Lan Baltimore 24,93 (961) 23,97( 23,97( N/A N/A
Charlotte, NC
4101 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 70 512 28¢ 7C 80C  87C 328 1984 5-40 yrs.
4105 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 26 19C 20 26 21C  23€ 57 1984 5-40 yrs.
4109 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 87 63¢ 49 87 68¢ 77t 152 1984 5-40 yrs.
4201 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 11C 81z 14C 11C 952 1,06 252 1982 5-40 yrs.
4205 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 134 984 81 134 1,065 1,19¢ 25€ 1982 5-40 yrs.
4209 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 91 66¢ 62 91 731 822 18t 1982 5-40 yrs.
4215 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 132 98z 93 13:< 1,07¢ 1,20¢ 262 1982 5-40 yrs.
4301 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 232 1,71( 28( 23z 1,990 2,22 50E 1982 5-40 yrs.
4321 Stuart Andrew

Boulevard Charlotte 73 537 55 73 592  66E 141 1982 5-40 yrs.
4601 Park Squar Charlotte 2,601 7,80¢ 1,064 2,601 8,87% 11,47 1,231 1972 5-40 yrs.
Eight Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte 4,69¢ 214 491; 4,91 1,01( 1986 5-40 yrs.
Eleven Parkway Plaz Charlotte 16C 2,547 16C 2,547 2,707 68¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
First Citizens Building Charlotte 647 5,50¢ 86C 647 6,368 7,01:Z 1,817 1989 5-40 yrs.
Fourteen Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte 48% 7,08¢ 487 7,08¢ 7,56¢ 1,552 1999 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek | Charlotte (4) 1,24¢ 4,18¢ 971 1,24¢ 5,15¢ 6,40: 851 1986 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek IlI Charlotte 84F 4,81( 31¢ 84t 5,12¢ 5,97¢ 757 1990 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek IV Charlotte 34¢ 1,16¢ 9) 34¢ 1,158 1,50: 164 1993 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek v Charlotte (4) 1,66t 11,81¢ 1,66¢ 11,817 13,47¢ 2,311 1999 5-40 yrs.
Mallard Creek VI Charlotte 84t 84t 84t N/A N/A
Oakhill Business Park

English Oak Charlotte (2) 75C 4,25¢ 31¢ 75C 4,57% 5,32% 931 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park

Laurel Oak Charlotte (2 471 2,67¢ 39C 471 3,068 3,53¢ 75z 1984 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park Live

Oak Charlotte 1,402 5,611 1,537 1,40:% 7,14¢ 8,551 1,761 1989 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park

Scarlet Oal Charlotte (2) 1,07¢ 6,087 512 1,07¢ 6,60( 7,677 1,46¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park Tw

Oak Charlotte (2) 1,24¢ 7,05¢ 901 1,24¢ 7,95€ 9,19¢ 1,601 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park

Water Oak Charlotte 2 1,62¢ 9,20¢ 1,21¢ 1,62: 10,42¢ 12,05! 2,28t 1985 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Business Park

Willow Oak Charlotte (2) 44z 2,51( 978 44z 3,48: 3,92t 1,14: 1982 5-40 yrs.
Oakhill Land Charlotte 4,06¢ 4,06¢ 4,06¢ N/A N/A
Pinebrook Charlotte 84€ 4,63( 50z 84¢ 5,13z 5,97¢ 97¢C 1986 5-40 yrs.
Ridgefield Charlotte 79t 795 795 N/A N/A
One Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte 1,11¢ 4,74¢ 1,10¢ 1,11( 5,85: 6,967 1,38t 1982 5-40 yrs.
Two Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte 1,69< 6,77 1,14¢ 1,69¢ 7,92: 9,617 1,88t 1983 5-40 yrs.
Three Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte (5) 1,57C 6,282 1,00¢ 1,57( 7,29C 8,86( 1,77: 1984 5-40 yrs.
Six Parkway Plaza Buildir  Charlotte 3,11¢ 3,11¢ 3,11« 93z 1996 5-40 yrs.
Seven Parkway Plaza

Building Charlotte 4,64¢ 26¢ 4,917 4,917 1,02¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.



Twelve Parkway Plaz
University Cente
University Center Eas
University Cente—Land

Columbia, SC
Centerpoint |

Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte

Columbi

11z
1,307
1,28¢
7,122

1,31:

15
(1,640

7,452

1,80¢
20¢

41t

F-43

112
1,307
1,30¢
5,48

1,31

1,80¢
20¢

7,861

1,91¢
1,51¢
1,30¢
5,482

9,18(

434
15

1,62(

1999
2001
N/A
N/A

1988

5-40 yrs.
5-40 yrs.
N/A
N/A

5-40 yrs.
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Centerpoint || Columbia 1,18 8,04% 571 1,18¢ 8,61€ 9,79¢ 1,997 1996 5-40 yrs.
Centerpoint v Columbia 26E 1,62¢ 26¢E 1,62¢ 1,891 47z 1997 5-40 yrs.
Centerpoint VI Columbia 27€ 27¢€ 27€ N/A N/A
Fontaine | Columbia 1,21¢ 6,907 1,48: 1,21¢ 8,38¢ 9,60¢ 1,80z 1985 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine Il Columbia 941 5,33t 352 941 5,687 6,62¢ 1,20¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine llI Columbia 852 4,83: (527) 85z 4,308 5,15¢ 88t 1988 5-40 yrs.
Fontaine Vv Columbia 39t 2,24( 16 39t 2,25€ 2,651 412 1990 5-40 yrs.
Greenville, SC
385 Building 1 Greenville 1,412 4,18¢ 1,412 4,18¢ 5,601 1,271 1998 5-40 yrs.
385 Land Greenville 1,80( 1,80( 1,80( N/A N/A
770 Pelham Roa Greenville 70E 2,80€ 371 70k 3,177 3,882 50z 1989 5-40 yrs.
Bank of America Plaz Greenville 642 9,48t 2,601 64z 12,08¢12,72¢ 2,71¢ 1973 5-40 yrs.
Brookfield Plaze Greenville (2) 1,48¢ 8,45( 1,05< 1,48¢ 9,50410,99: 2,27¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Brookfield-Jacob-Sirrine Greenville 3,022 17,14¢ 9 3,027 17,15¢20,18( 3,13¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
MetLife @ Brookfield Greenville 1,032 10,71¢ 1,032 10,71€11,74¢ 94z 2001 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Business Cen Greenville 1,312 7,447 31¢ 1,312 7,765 9,077 1,557 1983 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Greenville 942 5,117 552 94z 5,66¢ 6,611 991 1985 5-40 yrs.
Patewood | Greenville 94z 5,117 39t 94z 5,51z 6,45¢ 1,04< 1987 5-40 yrs.
Patewood Il Greenville (2) 83t 4,74( 264 83t 5,00¢ 5,83¢ 972 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood IV Greenville 2) 1,21 6,86¢ 184 1,21( 7,05C 8,26( 1,28( 1989 5-40 yrs.
Patewood \ Greenville (2) 1,677 9,517 96 1,671 9,61211,29( 1,74¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Patewood V Greenville 2,36( 9,262 2,36( 9,26211,62: 2,24¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Verizon Wireles: Greenville (1C) 1,79C (1,790 — 2002 5-40 yrs.
Jacksonville, FL
Belfort Park V—Land Jacksonville 48C (13%) 34t 34E N/A N/A
Belfort Park VI—Land Jacksonvilli 1,85¢ 10 1,86¢ 1,86¢ N/A N/A
Kansas City, MO
Country Club Plaz—48th & Penr Kansas Cit (6) 41€ 4,87 977 41€ 5,84¢ 6,267 1,011 1948 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Balcony Office Kansas Cit (6) 65 591 27C 65 861 92€ 187 1928 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Balcony Retai Kansas Cit (6) 88¢ 10,34¢ 2,471 88¢ 12,82€13,71¢ 1,94¢ 1925 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Court of the Penguir Kansas Cit' (6) 56€ 6,58¢ 1,57 56€ 8,162 8,72¢ 1,211 1945 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Esplanade Offic Kansas Cit (6) 37t 3,40¢ 95 37t 3,50: 3,87¢ 49C 1945 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Esplanade Reta Kansas Cit (6) 74¢€ 8,81: 1,96 74¢ 10,77€¢11,52¢ 1,63¢ 1928 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Granada Shog Kansas Cit (6) 4,637 4,637 4,637 207 2002 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Halls Block Kansas Cit 6) 27¢ 3,20z 224 27¢ 3,42¢ 3,701 45¢E 1964 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Macy Block Kansas Cit (6) 504 5,95¢ 19¢ 504 6,157 6,657 83¢ 1926 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Millcreek Office Kansas Cit (6) 79 723 264 78 987 1,06€ 17¢ 1925 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Millcreek Retail Kansas Cit (6) 602 7,031 1,20¢ 60z 8,24( 8,84: 1,42( 1920 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Nichols Block Office  Kansas Cit' (6) 74 68C 99 74 77¢ 852 15¢ 1938 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Nichols Retail Kansas Cit (6) 60C 6,99¢ 411 60C 7,41C 8,01C 99z 1930 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Plaza Centre Kansas Cit (6) 40t 4,742 974 40¢E 5,71¢ 6,12% 1,05(C 1958 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Retail Kansas Cit (6) 408 30¢ 712 713 47 N/A N/A
Country Club Plaz—Savings Sout! Kansas Cit (6) 357 4,162 2,23¢ 357 6,401 6,75¢ 98C 1948 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Seville Shops We: Kansas Cit (6) 30C 3,49t 12,70( 30C 16,19£16,49¢ 2,061 1999 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Seville Squart Kansas Cit (6) 3,20z 20,56¢ 3,50: 3,202 24,06¢27,27: 2,59: 1999 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Swanson Blocl Kansas Cit (6) 94¢ 11,12¢ 605 94¢ 11,73112,68( 1,56¢ 1967 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Theatre Office Kansas Cit 6) 242 2,201 65¢ 24z 2,86( 3,10z 50z 1928 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Theatre Retai Kansas Cit (6) 1,197 13,96¢ 3,48¢ 1,197 17,45:18,65( 2,71¢ 1928 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Time Office Kansas Cit (6) 19¢ 1,811 687 19¢ 2,49¢ 2,697 404 1945 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Time Retail Kansas Cit (6) 1,29z 15,07: 6,47(C 1,29: 21,54:.22,83¢ 2,65¢ 1929 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Triangle Block Kansas Cit (6) 30¢ 3,59t 1,23¢ 30¢ 4,82¢ 5,137 651 1925 5-40 yrs.
Country Club Plaz—Valencia Place Reta  Kansas Cit' 6) 441 17,59: 441 17,59118,03: 1,937 1999 5-40 yrs.
63rd & Brookside Kansas Cit 71 28€ 45 71 331 40z 56 1919 5-40 yrs.
Alameda Tower: Kansas Cit 231 (23)) N/A N/A
Bannister Rd Kansas Cit 121 (121) N/A N/A
Brookside Shopping Cent Kansas Cit 2,511 9,34( 86€ 2,511 10,20€12,717 1,34« 1919 5-40 yrs.
Challenge—Land Kansas Cit 19,09/ (19,099 N/A N/A
Colonial Shop: Kansas Cit 13€ 644 39 13¢€ 682 821 11& 1907 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Executive Building Kansas Cit 514 2,29( 637 514 2,927 3,441 562 1973 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Office Building Kansas Cit 66C 52¢ 2,14¢ 382 52¢ 2,532 3,061 427 1960 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Shops Sout Kansas Cit 1,042 4,34¢ @ 1,04 4,34z 5,38t 628 1953 5-40 yrs.
Corinth Square North Sho| Kansas Cit 2,69: 11,237 468 2,697 11,705 14,39¢ 1,657 1962 5-40 yrs.

F-44
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Fairway North Kansas Cit 758 3,21% 37C 758 3,682 4,33t 72C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Fairway Shop: Kansas Cit 2,31¢ 672 3,152 (16%) 678 2,987 3,66( 494 1940 5-40 yrs.
Fairway Wes Kansas Cit 851 3,447 494 851 3,941 4,79: 77C 1983 5-40 yrs.
Residentie—Land Kansas Cit 484 127 611 611 N/A N/A
Lanc—Hotel Lan—Valencia Kansas Cit 943 943 943 N/A N/A
Lanc—JCN Parkway 45(-1 Kansas Cit 50 5C 50 N/A N/A
Lanc—JCN Parkway 4510 & 451 Kansas Cit 10C 10C 10C N/A N/A
Lanc—Lionsgate Kansas Cit 3,50¢ 3,50¢ 3,50¢ N/A N/A
Lanc—Woodsonia Commerci: Kansas Cit 2,611 2,611 2,611 N/A N/A
Neptune Apartment Kansas Cit 4,121 1,07 6,13¢ 29€ 1,07¢ 6,437 7,51( 892 1988 5-40 yrs.
Parklane Apartment Kansas Cit 2732 1,57¢ 14€ 27z 1,722 1,99t 20C 1924 5-40 yrs.
Red Bridge & Holme:! Kansas Cit 39C (390) N/A N/A
Rental House Kansas Cit 764 101 865  86F 114 1960 5-40 yrs.
St. Charles Apartmen Kansas Cit 29 16E 28 165 194 23 1922 5-40 yrs.
Wornall Road Apartment Kansas Cit 18€ 17z 21 18€ 194 38C 28 1918 5-40 yrs.
Nichols Building Kansas Cit 70C  49C 1,98¢ 24¢€ 49C 2,230 2,72( 40€ 1978 5-40 yrs.
One Ward Parkwa Kansas Cit 66€ 3,87¢ (41) 66€ 3,837 4,49¢ 871 1980 5-40 yrs.
Park Plaz: Kansas Cit (6) 1,35z 6,287 90C 1,35: 7,187 8,53t 1,161 1983 5-40 yrs.
Parkway Buildinc Kansas Cit 39¢ 2,007 (13) 39t 1,994 2,38¢ 44€ 190€-1910  5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Office Cente Kansas Cit 74¢ 2,997 (749 (2,997 1960 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Rest & Ban Kansas Cit 8) 1,372 1,37z 1,37z 14¢ 1948 5-40 yrs.
Prairie Village Shop Kansas Cit (8) 3,28¢ 14,37 1,99¢ 3,28¢ 16,37:19,66: 2,561 1948 5-40 yrs.
Shannon Valley Shopping Cen Kansas Cit 5,68( 1,891 7,46¢ 1,21C 1,891 8,67€10,56¢ 1,50( 1988 5-40 yrs.
Somerse Kansas Cit 30 12z 3C 12z 152 17 1998 5-40 yrs.
Two Brush Creel Kansas Cit 961 4,31z 58 961 4,37C 5,331 74¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Valencia Place Offic Kansas Cit (6) 1,53( 36,70¢ 1,53( 36,70t 38,23¢ 4,674 1999 5-40 yrs.
WhiteHorse Commercic Kansas Cit 2,20( (2,200 N/A N/A
Memphis, TN
3400 Players Club Parkw: Memphis (2) 1,00¢ 5,597 1,00% 5,59% 6,59¢ 1,71C 1997 5-40 yrs.
6000 Poplar Ave Memphis 2,34( 11,38t 551 2,34( 11,93¢14,27¢ 96€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
6060 Poplar Ave Memphis 1,98( 8,671 46E 1,98( 9,14211,12; 767 1987 5-40 yrs.
Atrium | & Il Memphis 1,57C 6,252 842 1,57( 7,09¢ 8,66¢ 1,38¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Centrum Memphis 1,018 5,58( 422 1,018 6,00z 7,01¢ 1,08¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Hickory Hill Medical Plaze Memphis 39€ 2,25¢ 142 39¢ 2,40z 2,80(C 487 1988 5-40 yrs.
International Place | Memphis (4) 4,847 27,50¢ 2,071 4,847 29,58¢34,43: 6,221 1988 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek Memphis 973 7,65¢ 978 7,65t 8,62¢ 1,027 2000 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek | Memphis 734 6,55¢ 734 6,55¢ 7,29: 32¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center , Memphis 99¢€ 5,651 30¢€ 99¢ 5,95¢ 6,95¢ 1,177 1991 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center | Memphis 1,35¢ 7,698 42E 1,35¢ 8,12( 9,47¢ 1,68: 1990 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center Memphis (2) 1,07 5,93¢ 1,07( 5,93€ 7,00¢€ 1,22¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office Center | Memphis 744 6,28t 744 6,28t 7,02¢ 1,462 1999 5-40 yrs.
The Colonnad: Memphis 1,30¢ 6,46¢ 1,60¢ 1,30( 8,071 9,371 1,977 1998 5-40 yrs.
Nashville, TN
3322 West Eni Nashville 3,02t 27,49( 1,781 3,02¢ 29,27132,29¢ 3,29¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
3401 West Eni Nashville 4,88( 19,90¢ 3,63€ 4,88( 23,54£28,42¢ 5,561 1982 5-40 yrs.
5310 Maryland Wa; Nashville 1,55¢ 6,25¢ 70 1,55¢ 6,32¢ 7,88:% 1,22( 1994 5-40 yrs.
BNA Corporate Cente Nashville 19,66¢ 2,121 21,78¢21,78¢ 4,73¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Century City Plaza Nashville 902 3,61z 80t 90z 4,417 5,32 1,10C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Nashville 1,98:¢ 15,17: 1,98:¢ 15,17217,15¢ 3,85( 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Nashville 2,28t 22,36¢ 2,28t 22,36%24,65( 2,142 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Lant Nashville 7,412 1,32¢ 8,73¢ 8,73¢ N/A N/A
Eakin & Smith Nashville 2,69z 12,09 2,69z 12,09714,78¢ 2,607 1999 5-40 yrs.
Eastpark I, Il, & IlI Nashville 2,371 9,552 2,92¢ 2,371 12,47¢14,85( 2,92t 1978 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green Nashville (1) 1,41¢ 5,677 1,03: 1,41¢ 6,71C 8,12¢ 1,392 1984 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green | Nashville (1) 1,66( 6,64¢ 913 1,66( 7,56z 9,222 1,391 1987 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on the Green | Nashville (1) 1,71z 6,84: 1,05¢ 1,712 7,898 9,60¢ 1,80¢% 1989 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth on The Green Nashville (1) 662 5,55¢ 662 5,55¢ 6,22 1,517 1998 5-40 yrs.
Hickory Trace Nashville (4) 1,16¢ 5,871 1,16¢ 5,877 7,041 54¢ N/A N/A
Highwoods Plaza Nashville 1) 1,772 9,28¢ 1,772 9,28411,05¢ 2,951 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza | Nashville (1) 1,44¢ 7,831 1,44¢ 7,831 9,28t 2,20¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge Nashville 1,76¢ 6,31¢ 232 1,76¢ 6,54¢ 8,31¢ 1,26¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Lakeview Ridge Il Nashville (1) 60t 5,59¢€ 60E 5,59¢ 6,201 1,67¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
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Lakeview Ridge IlI Nashville 1) 1,07¢ 13,21( 1,07¢ 13,21(14,28 2,431 1999 5-40 yrs.
Seven Springs Nashville 2,07¢ 14,06! 2,07¢ 14,06:16,13¢ 474 2002 5-40 yrs.
Seven Sprinc—Land | Nashville 3,11¢ 3,11¢ 3,11¢ N/A N/A
Seven Sprinc—Land Il Nashville 3,71t 3,71t 3,71t N/A N/A
SouthPointe Nashville 1,65t 9,252 1,65¢ 9,25210,907 2,79¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Lanc Nashville 4,24¢ 4,24¢ 4,24¢ N/A N/A
Sparrow Building Nashville 1,26 5,047 34¢ 1,26 5,39t 6,657 1,007 1982 5-40 yrs.
The Ramparts at Brentwoc Nashville 2,39¢ 12,80¢ 35E 2,39¢ 13,16115,55¢ 1,04¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Westwood Sout! Nashville 1) 2,10¢ 11,26( 2,10¢ 11,26(13,36¢ 2,54¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Winners Circle Nashville 1) 1,497 7,25¢ 665 1,497 7,92¢ 9,42( 1,33t 1987 5-40 yrs.
Norfolk, VA
Greenbrier Business Ceni Norfolk 93€ 5,30¢ (93€) (5,305 1984 5-40 yrs.
Orlando, FL
Capital Plaza Il Orlando 2,99¢ 2,99¢ 2,99¢ N/A N/A
In Charge Institut( Orlando 501 2,79¢ 501 2,79¢ 3,297 44¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Interlachen Village Orlando 90C 2,68¢ (900) (2,689 1987 5-40 yrs.
Lake Mary Lanc Orlando 9,80¢ (3,734 6,071 6,071 N/A N/A
Metrowest Cente Orlando 1,344 7,62¢ 1,051 1,344 8,68(10,02¢ 1,687 1988 5-40 yrs.
MetroWest Lanc Orlando 3,13¢ 3,13¢ 3,13¢ N/A N/A
Sunport Cente Orlando 1,50¢ 9,98: (99) 1,50¢ 9,8811,38¢ 1,54¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Triad, NC
101 Stratforc Piedmont Tria 1,20% 6,91¢ 1,002 1,20¢ 7,91¢ 9,12¢ 1,21¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
150 Stratforc Piedmont Tria 2,77 11,44( 807 2,77 12,24715,02« 2,87¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
160 Stratfor—Land Piedmont Tria 96€ 96€ 96€ N/A N/A
2606 Phoenix Driv-100 Serie Piedmont Tria 63 46€ (63) (46€) 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-200 Serie Piedmont Tria 63 46€ (63) (46€) 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-300 Serie Piedmont Tria 31 22¢ (31) (229) 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-400 Serie Piedmont Tria 52 382 (52) (382) 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-500 Serie Piedmont Tria 64 471 (64) 471 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-600 Serie Piedmont Tria 78 57¢ (78) (57%) 1989 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-700 Serie Piedmont Tria 532 (539 1988 5-40 yrs.
2606 Phoenix Driv-800 Serie Piedmont Tria 2,30¢ (2,30¢) 1989 5-40 yrs.
500 Northridge Piedmont Tria 1,78¢ 4,17¢ (1,789 (4,179 1988 5-40 yrs.
500 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 20z 1,48¢ 211 20z 1,69% 1,897 421 1981 5-40 yrs.
502 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 3¢ 28E 96 3¢ 381 42C 12& 1986 5-40 yrs.
504 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 3¢ 28t 80 3¢ 365 404 79 1986 5-40 yrs.
506 Radar Roa Piedmont Tria 3¢ 28E 20 3¢ 305 344 68 1986 5-40 yrs.
520 Northridge Piedmont Tria 1,70C 4,16€ (1,700 (4,16¢€) 1989 5-4C yrs.
540 Northridge Piedmont Tria 1,93¢ 4,63¢ (1,939 (4,63¢) 1989 5-40 yrs.
550 Northridge Piedmont Tria 444 1,07¢ (444) (1,075 1989 5-40 yrs.
531 Northridge Office Piedmont Tria 1,601 3,80¢ 1,601 3,80¢ 5,41( 87 1989 5-40 yrs.
531 Northridge Warehous Piedmont Tria 4,54( 10,81( 4,54( 10,81(15,35( 24¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
6348 Burnt Popla Piedmont Tria 721 2,88¢ 36 721 2,92t 3,64¢ 64¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
6350 Burnt Popla Piedmont Tria 33¢ 1,36¢ 60 33¢ 1,42¢ 1,76¢ 341 1992 5-40 yrs.
710 Almondridge Piedmont Tria 2,55¢ 10,23: (2,55%) (10,237 1988 5-40 yrs.
711 Almondridge Piedmont Tria 217 53€ (217) (536) 1988 5-40 yrs.
7341 West Friendly Avenu Piedmont Tria 112 841 174 112 1,01t 1,12¢ 25€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7343 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 72 53¢ 102 72 641 7132 167 1988 5-40 yrs.
7345 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 6€ 492 17 6€ 50¢ 57¢ 112 1988 5-40 yrs.
7347 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 97 71¢ 92 97 811 90¢ 221 1988 5-40 yrs.
7349 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 53 392 58 53 451 504 10E 1988 5-40 yrs.
7351 West Friendly Avent ~ Piedmont Tria 10€ 78€ 114 10€ 90Z 1,00¢ 18C 1988 5-40 yrs.
7353 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 12¢ 912 44 12z 95€ 1,07¢ 205 1988 5-40 yrs.
7355 West Friendly Avent  Piedmont Tria 72 531 51 72 582 654 13€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7906 Industrial Village Roa  Piedmont Tria 62 46C 19 62 47¢ 541 104 1985 5-40 yrs.
7908 Industrial Village Roa  Piedmont Tria 62 46C 10¢ 62 56 631 12¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
7910 Industrial Village Roa  Piedmont Tria 62 46C 11 62 471 532 107 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building 1 Piedmont Tria @) 371 1,51C 162 377 1,67z 2,04¢ 45E 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building 2 Piedmont Tria @) 461 1,84 178 461 2,017 2,47¢ 447 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building 3 Piedmont Tria ) 321 1,282 227 321 1,51C 1,831 40€ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building A Piedmont Tria @) 507 2,91: 80C 507 3,713 4,22 1,011 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building B Piedmont Tria ) 73€ 3,22( 80¢ 73€ 4,02¢ 4,76% 1,04« 1988 5-40 yrs.
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Airpark Eas-Building C Piedmont Tria (7) 2,38¢ 9,563¢ 2,227 2,38¢ 11,76€14,15( 2,93¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Building D Piedmont Tria (7) 85C 1,02t 4,70z 1,87¢ 4,70z 6,577 1,347 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Copier Consultant Piedmont Tria 7 222 1,00¢ 3132 222 1,321 1,54« 32€ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-HewlettPackart Piedmont Tria (7) 46t 55¢ 96¢ 1,02¢ 96¢ 1,992 27C 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Highland Piedmont Tria (7) 14t 1,07¢ 2 14E 1,07€¢ 1,221 20C 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Inacom Building Piedmont Tria (7) 26t 39€ 922 661 922 1,58: 36C 1996 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Center Piedmont Tria (7) 23€ 1,09¢ 23€ 23¢€ 1,33t 1,571 37C 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Center Piedmont Tria 7 19z 88¢ 302 192 1,19z 1,38¢ 30¢& 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Center Piedmont Tria (7) 304 1,21« 362 304 1,577 1,881 397 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Center Piedmont Tria 7)) 224 89¢ 22¢ 224 1,12€ 1,35(C 34¢€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Service Cour Piedmont Tria 7 17c 774 84 17C 85¢ 1,02¢ 221 1990 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Simplex Piedmont Tria 7 271 35C 652 621 652 1,27: 142 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Warehouse Piedmont Tria (7) 354 1,53¢ 11C 354 1,645 1,99¢ 40¢€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Warehouse : Piedmont Tria (7) 372 1,48¢ 147 37z 1,635 2,007 417 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Warehouse : Piedmont Tria (7) 34cC 1,48(C 44¢ 34C 1,92¢ 2,26¢ 39¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Eas-Warehouse - Piedmont Tria (7) 657 2,62¢ 58 657 2,68¢ 3,34: 59¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Nortt—DC1 Piedmont Tria (7) 857 2,891 32¢ 857 3,22( 4,077 754 1986 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Nortt—DC2 Piedmont Tria (7) 1,29¢ 4,37t 31t 1,29¢ 4,69( 5,98¢ 1,077 1987 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Nortt—DC3 Piedmont Tria (7) 44¢ 1,511 23€ 44¢ 1,747 2,19 51€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark Nortt—DC4 Piedmont Tria (7) 447 1,50¢ 14t 447 1,65% 2,10C 42¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 54¢€ 3,261 54¢€ 3,261 3,807 62€ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 74¢ 2,517 74¢ 2,517 3,26¢ 28€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 602 2,36¢ 602 2,36¢ 2,971 234 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 49¢ 2,46( 49¢ 2,46( 2,95¢ 581 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark South Warehouse Piedmont Tria 1,73¢ 5,50¢ 1,73¢ 5,50¢ 7,231 68¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 1 Piedmont Tria (5) 954 3,82( 907 954 4,727 5,681 1,42¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 2 Piedmont Tria (5) 884 3,53¢ 63t 884 4,171 5,05t 1,242 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West 4 Piedmont Tria (5) 22¢ 903 18¢ 22€ 1,091 1,317 29€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West £ Piedmont Tria (5) 24z 967 322 24z 1,29C 1,53z 317 1985 5-40 yrs.
Airpark West € Piedmont Tria (5) 32¢ 1,30¢ 19E 32¢€ 1,49¢ 1,82t 43C 1985 5-40 yrs.
ALO Piedmont Tria 177 994 177 994 1,171 89 1998 5-40 yrs.
Brigham Roa—Land Piedmont Tria 7,29¢ 7,29¢ 7,29¢ N/A N/A
Chesapeak Piedmont Tria (5) 1,23¢ 4,94¢ 7 1,23¢ 4,951 6,187 1,101 1993 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock A/E Piedmont Tria 1,611 4,041 243 1,611 4,28¢ 5,89¢ 788 1981 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock C Piedmont Tria 604 1,512 17 604 1,52¢ 2,132 21z 1983 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock C Piedmont Tria 23€ 591 52 23€ 642  87¢ 12¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock E Piedmont Tria 1,69¢ 4,261 (72) 1,69¢ 4,18¢ 5,88: 604 1985 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock F Piedmont Tria 1,432 3,60¢ (262) 1,432 3,34z 4,77¢ 50C 1987 5-40 yrs.
Chimney Rock C Piedmont Tria 1,04¢ 2,61¢ 172 1,04¢ 2,447 3,491 368 1987 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Buildinc Piedmont Tria 62E 2,18: 32 62E 2,215 2,84( 36C 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Building Piedmont Tria 62E 4,43¢ 27C 62E 4,708 5,33( 777 1983 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Building | Piedmont Tria 68C 3,572 55 68C 3,627 4,307 55C 1989 5-40 yrs.
Consolidated Center/ Building | Piedmont Tria 37¢ 1,65¢ 20¢€ 37¢ 1,862 2,23¢ 37z 1989 5-40 yrs.
Deep River Corporate Cent Piedmont Tria 1,03 5,864 7432 1,03 6,607 7,64( 1,61( 1989 5-40 yrs.
Enterprise Warehouse Piedmont Tria 487 3,57¢ 487 3,572 4,06( 25¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Forsyth Corporate Cent Piedmont Tria (2) 32¢ 1,85: 68¢ 32¢€ 2,541 2,867 67¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Park Building Piedmont Tria 1,99: 8,612 1,99: 8,61210,60¢ 29¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Inman Road Lani Piedmont Tria 941 (941) N/A N/A
Jefferson Pilot Lan Piedmont Tria 11,75¢ 5,59¢ 17,35¢ 17,35¢ N/A N/A
Madison Par—Building 5610 Piedmont Tria 211 492 (21)) (499) 1988 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5620 Piedmont Tria 941 2,21¢ (20) 941 2,19¢ 3,13¢ 307 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5630 Piedmont Tria 1,48¢ 3,50: 9) 1,48¢ 3,49¢ 4,98( 48t 1983 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5635 Piedmont Tria 892 2,10 441 892 2,548 3,43¢ 72t 1986 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5640 Piedmont Tria 1,821 6,522 (41) 1,821 6,481 8,30¢ 91€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5650 Piedmont Tria 1,081 2,54¢ 25 1,081 2,57% 3,65¢ 35€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5655 Piedmont Tria 1,941 7,10¢ 142 1,941 7,251 9,192 1,027 1987 5-40 yrs.
Madison Par—Building 5660 Piedmont Tria 1,91( 4,501 (34) 1,91( 4,467 6,371 624 1984 5-40 yrs.
Madison Parking Dec Piedmont Tria 5,75t 8,822 487 5,75t 9,30¢ 15,06« 1,167 1987 5-40 yrs.
Regency Or-Piedmont Cente Piedmont Tria 51t 2,92¢ 51t 2,928 3,44( 86€ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Regency Tw-Piedmont Cente Piedmont Tria 43t 2,462 43t 2,462 2,897 847 1996 5-40 yrs.
Sears Cenfac Piedmont Tria (1) 831 3,44¢ 347 831 3,79% 4,62 88t 1989 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwoo—370 Piedmont Tria (7) 1,81¢ 7,44: 56C 1,81¢ 8,00z 9,82 1,98¢ 1994 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwoo—380 Piedmont Tria (7) 2,977 11,97( 1,317 2,977 13,28716,26¢ 3,232 1990 5-40 yrs.
The Knollwoo—380 Retail Piedmont Tria @) 1 22¢ 22¢  22¢ 113 1995 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Cent-Archer 4 Piedmont Tria 514 2,05¢ 27¢ 514 2,33€ 2,85( 59C 1986 5-40 yrs.
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University Commercial Cent-Landmark & Piedmont Triac 42¢ 1,771 474 42¢ 2,245 2,67¢ 52t 1985 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Center-Service

Center 1 Piedmont Triac 27¢€ 1,15t 165 27¢€ 1,32C 1,59¢ 34E 1983 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Center-Service

Center Z Piedmont Triac 21E 85¢ 44 21t 902 1,11¢ 217 1983 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Center-Service

Center & Piedmont Triac 167 66€ 331 167 99¢ 1,16€ 262 1984 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Center-Warehouse

1 Piedmont Triac 20z 812 18 20z 83C 1,032 182 1983 5-40 yrs.
University Commercial Center-Warehouse

2 Piedmont Triac 19€ 78¢€ 42 19€ 82¢€ 1,02¢ 184 1983 5-40 yrs.
US Airways Piedmont Triac (2) 2,62¢ 15,06¢ (36) 2,62¢ 15,03:17,65¢ 2,307 197(-1987 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business Park La Piedmont Triac 861 102 964 964 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeBMF Piedmont Triac 79t 3,181 4 79t 3,18t 3,98( 707 1986 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business Pe-Fairchild Piedmont Triac 64C 2,577 (640) (2,577) 1990 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeLuwabahnsor Piedmont Triac 34¢€ 1,38¢ 1 34¢€ 1,38t 1,731 30¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeWp 3&4 Piedmont Triac 171 687 (171) (687) 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeWp 5 Piedmont Triac 377 1,60¢ (377) (1,609 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeWp 12 Piedmont Triac 49¢ 2,031 (499 (2,03)) 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeWp 11 Piedmont Triac 39z 1,57C (399 (1,570 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westpoint Business PeWp 13 Piedmont Triac 297 1,21« 202 297 1,41€ 1,71: 40C 1988 5-40 yrs.
Research Triangle, NC
3600 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang 10,99¢ 10,99¢10,99¢ 1,867 1986 5-40 yrs.
3737 Glenwood Avenu Research Triang 18,33t 18,33£18,33¢ 2,64z 1999 5-40 yrs.
4101 Research Commo Research Triang 854 9,03¢ 39¢ 854 9,437110,29! 10¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
4201 Research Commo Research Triang 862 5,49¢ 2,65( 862 8,14€ 9,00¢ 201 1991 5-40 yrs.
4301 Research Commo Research Triang 1,03¢ 8,92¢ 80t 1,03¢ 9,73210,767 17¢€ 1989 5-40 yrs.
4401 Research Commo Research Triang 1,24¢ 9,381 6,137 1,24¢ 15,52(16,76¢ 6,67z 1987 5-40 yrs.
4501 Research Commo Research Triang 63z 5,647 21E 63z 5,86z 6,49¢ 15€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
4300 Six Forks Roa Research Triang 15,59¢ 4,27¢ 19,86¢19,86¢ 2,86¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
4800 North Parl Research Triang 2,67¢ 17,63( 1,61¢ 2,67¢ 19,24¢21,92: 5,058 1985 5-40 yrs.
4900 North Parl Research Triang 1,138 77C 1,982 751 77C 2,73¢ 3,50¢ 74z 1984 5-40 yrs.
5000 North Parl Research Triang (2) 1,01¢( 4,612 2,69¢ 1,01( 7,30€ 8,31¢€ 2,29¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
3645 Trust Drive—One North Commerce

Center Research Triang 78¢ 2,95¢ 91t 78¢ 3,86¢ 4,65¢ 791 1984 5-40 yrs.
5200 Greens Dairy-One North Commerce

Center Research Triang 16¢ 961 23€ 16¢ 1,197 1,36¢ 24¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
5220 Greens Dairy-One North Commerce

Center Research Triang 382 2,16¢ 521 382 2,68¢ 3,071 62¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Phase—One North Commerce Cent Research Triang 76¢ 4,46° 1,542 76¢ 6,008 6,77: 1,407 1981 5-40 yrs.
W Building—One North Commerce Cent Research Triang 1,162 6,81¢ 1,942 1,162 8,757 9,92( 2,34¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
801 Corporate Cent Research Triang 82¢ 9,30( 82¢ 9,30(10,12¢ 252 2002 5-40 yrs.
Aspen Building Research Triang 56C 2,08¢ (56() (2,08¢) 1980 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge | Research Triang 1) 72z 4,60€ 1,14¢ 72z 5,74¢ 6,471 1,80¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge Il Research Triang (1) 46z 1,41 28C 462 1,69C 2,152 762 1988 5-40 yrs.
Cape Fea Research Triang 131 1,63( 1,09¢ 131 2,727 2,85¢ 1,86% 1979 5-40 yrs.
Catawbe Research Triang 12& 1,63¢ 1,02( 12& 2,655 2,78( 1,342 1980 5-40 yrs.
Cedar Eas Research Triang 562 2,491 (56%) (2,49)) 1981 5-40 yrs.
Cedar Wes Research Triang 562 2,47% (56%) (2,475 1981 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen O1—Weston Research Triang (4) 1,64¢ 9,432 1,64¢ 9,43211,08( 1,55¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Tw—Weston Research Triang (4) 1,667 9,54¢ 1,667 9,54£11,21: 91t 2001 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Three La—Weston Research Triang 1,95¢ 1,95¢ 1,95¢ N/A N/A
CentreGreen Fou Research Triang (4) 1,69¢ 12,165 1,69¢ 12,16£13,86: 25C 2002 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Five La—Weston Research Triang 3,162 3,162 3,162 N/A N/A
Concourse Research Triang (3) 1,59¢ 11,38:¢ 1,101 1,59¢ 12,48214,08( 36€ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Cottonwood Research Triang 60¢ 3,244 172 60¢ 3,41¢ 4,02t 80t 1983 5-40 yrs.
Creekstone Crossing Research Triang 72¢ 3,841 364 72¢ 4,208 4,93: 1,07¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Research Triang 567 1,72¢ (567) (1,729 1980 5-40 yrs.
Day Tract Residentit Research Triang 7,66¢ 4 7,67 7,672 N/A N/A
Dogwood Research Triang 76€ 2,76¢ 61€ 76€ 3,38t 4,151 697 1983 5-40 yrs.
EPA Research Triang 2,601 1,652 2,601 1,65z 4,252 9 2003 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Lanc Research Triang 5,33¢ 5,33¢ 5,33¢ N/A N/A
GlenLake Bldg | Research Triang (4) 91t 21,27¢ 91t 21,27¢22,19% 85€ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Global Software Research Triang (2) 46t 7,28: 465 7,282 7,747 2,37¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Hawthorn Research Triang 904 3,76¢ 80z 904 4,571 5,47¢ 2,662 1987 5-40 yrs.
Healthsourct Research Triang 1,30¢ 12,32 1,30¢ 12,32:13,62¢ 2,861 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Centi-Weston Research Triang (1) 531 7,207 531 7,207 7,73¢ 1,37¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Office Center North Lar Research Triang 35¢E 49 2 357 49  40€ 20 N/A N/A
Highwoods Office Center South Lai Research Triang 2,411 12 2,42: 2,42% N/A N/A
Highwoods Tower On Research Triang (2) 202 16,74« 1,311 20z 18,05£18,25¢ 6,11 1991 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Tower Twt Research Triang 36¢E 24,30¢ 36¢E 24,30€24,67: 2,21¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Holiday Inn Reservations Cent Research Triang 867 2,721 144 867 2,871 3,73¢ 72t 1984 5-40 yrs.

F-48



Table of Contents

Cost Capitalized

Subsequent to

Gross Amount

at Which

Carried

at

Close of Perioc

Initial Cost Acquistion Life on
Which
Accumulated Depreciation
2003 Building & Building & Building & Date of
Encumberance Land Improvements Improvements Improvements Depreciation  Construction is Computec
Description City Land Land Total
Inveresk Land Parcel Research Triang 657 657 657 N/A N/A
Inveresk Land Parcel Research Triang 54¢ 54¢ 54¢ N/A N/A
Ironwood Research Triang 31¢ 1,337 36E 31¢ 1,70z 2,021 514 1978 5-40 yrs.
Kaiser Research Triang 132 3,57¢ 97t 13z 4,551 4,68¢ 2,27¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Lake Plaza Eat Research Triang (3) 89C 3,42¢ 524 89C 3,94¢  4,83¢ 9€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Laurel Research Triang 884 2,517 81¢ 884 3,33¢  4,22( 90¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Leatherwooc Research Triang 213 891 887 21z 1,77¢ 1,991 64E 1979 5-40 yrs.
Maplewood Research Triang (1) 14¢ 3,62¢ 14¢ 3,62¢  3,77¢ 467 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Northparl—Wake Fores Research Triang 49¢ 4,021 49¢ 4,021 4,51¢ 1,08t 1997 5-40 yrs.
Northpark Lan—Wake Fores Research Triang 1,58¢ 11 1,597 1,597 N/A N/A
Overlook Research Triang 39¢ 10,83: 39¢ 10,83 11,23( 2,481 1999 5-40 yrs.
Pamlico Research Triang 28¢ 11,18 28¢ 11,181 11,47( 4,76( 1980 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Or—Weston Research Triang 37¢ 4,02 37¢ 4,02: 4,401 467 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Tw—Weston Research Triang 491 3,38¢ 491 3,38¢  3,87¢ 45% 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Three—Land—

Weston Research Triang 834 29 862 862 N/A N/A
Progress Center Renovati  Research Triang 35¢ 35¢ 35¢ 14 2003 5-40 yrs.
Pulse Athletic Club at

Highwoods Research Triang 142 3,04z 142 3,04z 3,18¢ 1,01¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Raleigh Corp Center Lot Research Triang 1,211 1,211 1,211 N/A N/A
Red Oak Research Triang 38¢ 6,63( 38¢ 6,63C 7,01¢ 1,49¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Research Triang (5) 87¢ 3,73( 43€ 87¢ 4,16€ 5,04« 1,527 1990 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Research Triang 362 1,81¢ 87 362 1,908 2,267 54¢ 1993 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center || Research Triang 91¢ 2,81¢ 54& 91¢ 3,361 4,28( 96C 1992 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center I Research Triang (5) 58€ 3,40¢ 58€ 3,402 3,99( 92t 1995 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center' Research Triang (2) 1,301 6,201 1,301 6,201 7,502 1,681 1998 5-40 yrs.
Riverbirch Research Triang (2) 46¢ 4,03¢ 1,32¢ 46¢ 5,36z 5,831 2,03( 1987 5-40 yrs.
Situs | Research Triang 764 4,39( 44E 764 4,83t 5,59¢ 192 1996 5-40 yrs.
Situs I Research Triang 92C 5,10¢ 341 92( 5,44¢  6,36¢ 182 1998 5-40 yrs.
Situs 11l Research Triang (3) 59C 3,671 15¢ 59C 3,82¢ 4,41¢ 14z 2000 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center Research Triang 66€ 2,66¢ 85C 66€ 3,561 4,181 90¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center | Research Triang 1,08¢ 4,532 1,082 1,08¢ 5,61t 6,701 1,34¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center Il Research Triang (2) 862 4,411 79€ 862 5,207 6,06¢ 1,42¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Smoketree Towe Research Triang 2,35: 11,74 2,65¢ 2,35 14,39¢ 16,75: 4,22¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
South Square Research Triang 60€ 3,81« 1,52¢ 60€ 5,34:  5,94¢ 1,432 1988 5-40 yrs.
South Square | Research Triang 52E 4,69¢ 55¢ 52t 5,257 5,782 1,39¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Sycamore Research Triang (2) 25t 5,26¢ 25E 5,265 5,52( 1,131 1997 5-40 yrs.
WESPEC Tract Research Triang 1,52¢ 32 1,561 1,561 N/A N/A
WESPEC Tract 2t Research Triang 754 28 782 782 N/A N/A
WESPE(—Tract 3 Research Triang 2,531 13t 2,67 2,672 N/A N/A
Westor—Land Research Triang 522 26 54¢ 54¢ N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—2B Research Triang 1,112 32 1,14¢ 1,14< N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—5A Research Triang 1,44¢ 29 1,475 1,477 N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—5B Research Triang 2,40: 31 2,43¢ 2,43¢ N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—5C Research Triang 2,54: 174 2,715 2,717 N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—6A Research Triang 1,45: 76 1,52¢ 1,52¢ N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—6A2 Research Triang 2,08¢ (2,08¢) N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—6B Research Triang 2,251 117 2,36¢ 2,36¢ N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—6C Research Triang 478 97 57t 57t N/A N/A
Weston Commons Tre—8A Research Triang 2,34: 2,782 5,12¢ 5,12¢ N/A N/A
Weston Oaks Cou Research Triang 1,831 152 1,98¢ 1,98¢ N/A N/A
Willow Oak Research Triang (2) 45¢ 6,36¢ 45¢ 6,36¢ 6,827 2,31: 1995 5-40 yrs.
Other Propert Research Triang 47 10,52: 47 10,521 10,56¢ 6,371 N/A N/A
Richmond, VA
1309 E. Cary Stre¢ Richmond 171 691 96 171 787 95¢ 16¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
4900 Cox Roa Richmond 1,32¢ 5,311 727 1,32¢ 6,03¢ 7,367 1,42% 1991 5-40 yrs.
Airport Center | Richmond 77¢ 5,01¢ 779) (5,019 1997 5-40 yrs.
Airport Center Il Richmond 317 2,62¢ (317 (2,625 1998 5-40 yrs.
Capital One Building Richmond (10) 1,27¢ (1,27¢) 1999 5-40 yrs.
Capital One Building | Richmond (10) 477 477 1999 5-40 yrs.
Capital One Building Il Richmond (10) 1,27¢ (1,27¢) 1999 5-40 yrs.
Capital One Parking Dec Richmond (10) 1999 5-40 yrs.
Colonade Buildin¢ Richmond (4) 1,36¢ 6,10¢ 11 1,36¢ 6,11€ 7,48( 152 2003 5-40 yrs.
Dominion Plac—Pitts Parce Richmond 1,16( 1,16( 1,16( N/A N/A
East Shore I\ Richmond 1,44¢ (1,43¢) 7 7 N/A N/A
Grove Park Richmond 7132 5,75( 71z 5,75( 6,467 1,50¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
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Gross Amount

at Which
Cost Capitalized Carried at
Subsequent to Close of
Initial Cost Acquistion Period Life on
Which
Accumulated Depreciation
2003 Building & Building & Building & Date of
Encumberance Land Improvements Improvements Improvements Depreciation Construction is Computec
Description City Land Land Total
Grove Park Buidling E Richmonc 111 111 111 N/A N/A
Grove Park Buidling + Richmonc 111 111 111 N/A N/A
Grove Park Buidling Richmonc 12€ 12€ 12€ N/A N/A
Grove Park Buidling Richmonc 12€ 12€ 12€ N/A N/A
Grove Park Squat Richmonc 194 (194) N/A N/A
Hamilton Beact Richmonc 1,08¢ 4,34t 55C 1,08¢ 4,89t 5,981 1,08¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
HDC Land Sit—Parcel € Richmonc 1,27¢ (1,27%) N/A N/A
HDC Land Site «—Parcel £ Richmonc 942 (942) N/A N/A
HDC Land Site [—Parcel 4 Richmonc 1,721 (1,72)) N/A N/A
HDC Land Site —Parcel 2 Richmonc 1,804 (1,804 N/A N/A
Highwoods Distribution Cente Richmonc 581 6,332 (581) (6,337) 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Common Richmonc 521 4,30( 521 4,300 4,821 1,032 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Five Richmonc 80€ 6,00« 80¢€ 6,00¢ 6,81( 1,577 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods On Richmonc (2) 1,84¢ 10,47: 1,84¢ 10,47112,31% 3,00¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plazi Richmonc 90¢ 5,81( 90¢ 5,81C 6,71¢ 46C 2000 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Twc Richmonc (4) 78€ 6,37¢ 78¢€ 6,37¢ 7,161 1,29( 1997 5-40 yrs.
Innsbrook Centr Richmonc 914 6,76¢ (914) (6,76¢) 1989 5-40 yrs.
Innslake Cente Richmonc (1) 844 6,56( 844 6,56( 7,40¢ 55¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Liberty Mutual Richmonc 2,837 1,20¢ 4,82¢ 74C 1,20t 5,56¢ 6,77C 1,147 1990 5-40 yrs.
Markel Americar Richmonc (10) 1,372 (1,372) — 1998 5-40 yrs.
Mercer Plaz: Richmonc 1,55¢ 12,35( (1,55€) (12,350) 1984 5-40 yrs.
North Park Richmonc 2,168 8,65¢ 1,018 2,167 9,67211,83¢ 2,06t 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Shore Commons Richmonc (4) 1,34« 12,80: 1,344 12,80:14,147 1,311 2002 5-40 yrs.
North Shore Commons—Land Richmonc 2,067 2,067 2,067 N/A N/A
North Shore Commons—Land Richmonc 1,907 1,90Z 1,90z N/A N/A
North Shore Commons—Land Richmonc 1,261 1,261 1,261 N/A N/A
One Shockoe Pla: Richmonc 15,42¢ 15,42¢15,42¢ 3,12¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Richmonc 181 181 181 N/A N/A
Sadler & Cox Lanc Richmonc 1,827 1,821 1,821 N/A N/A
Stony Point F Lant Richmonc 2,79 25 2,81¢ 2,81t N/A N/A
Stony Point | Richmonc 1,38¢ 11,63( 1,50¢ 1,38¢ 13,13€¢14,52( 2,608 1990 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Richmonc 2,22¢ 12,77¢ 2,22¢ 12,77¢15,00( 2,42¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Richmonc 1,19( 10,24: 1,19( 10,24:11,43% 1,04¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park Richmonc 541 2,16¢ 414 541 2,58C 3,121 65C 1991 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park Richmonc 264 1,05¢ 84 264 1,142 1,40¢ 26¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place / Richmonc (4) 202 811 18¢ 20z 1,00C 1,20: 287 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place | Richmonc (4) 232 931 16€ 232 1,09¢ 1,33z 232 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place ! Richmonc (4) 23t 94C 201 23t 1,141 1,37¢ 332 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place [ Richmonc (4) 21¢g 872 232 21¢ 1,108 1,32: 36¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Point Richmonc (4) 1,08¢ 4,50( 75¢ 1,08¢ 5,25¢ 6,347 1,362 1990 5-40 yrs.
Virginia Mutual Richmonc 1,301 6,03¢ (15)) 1,301 5,88t 7,18¢ 50¢& 1996 5-40 yrs.
Waterfront Plazi Richmonc 58¢ 2,347 87t 58t 3,222 3,807 99z 1988 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Richmonc (1) 35¢ 1,431 88 35¢ 1,51¢ 1,877 33z 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore | Richmonc (1) 54¢ 2,181 17¢ 54k 2,36( 2,90¢ 471 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Il Richmonc (1) 961 4,68( 961 4,68( 5,641 1,08¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
South Florida
The 1800 Eller Drive Buildin South Florid: 9,82 837 10,66(10,66( 2,03t 1983 5-40 yrs.
Tampa, FL
380 Park Plac Tamp: 1,50¢ 8,22 1,50¢ 8,227 9,731 997 N/A N/A
Anchor Glass Tamp: (3) 1,56( 8,871 1,351 1,56( 10,22¢11,78¢ 231 1988 5-40 yrs.
Atrium Tampi 1,351 9,302 2,72¢ 1,351 12,03113,38:2 2,181 1989 5-40 yrs.
Bay View Office Centre Tampi 1,30¢ 5,964 (1,304 (5,969 1982 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Garden Tamp: 447 4,82t (5) 447 4,82( 5,267 71€ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Gardens Tampi 1,32¢ 7,101 134 332 1,462 7,437 8,89t 1,40¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Office Building Tamp: 93t 4,512 78¢ 93t 5,301 6,23¢ 1,037 1982 5-40 yrs.
Bay Vista Retai Tamp: 282 1,17¢ 137 288 1,31F 1,59¢ 23€ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Bayshore Tampi (3) 1,46( 9,24¢ 1,16< 1,46( 10,41:11,87¢ 162 1990 5-40 yrs.
Brookwood Day Care Cent Tamp: 61 347 (6]) (347 1986 5-40 yrs.
Countryside Plac Tamp: 8432 3,731 (84%) (3,719 12 12 1 1988 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center Tampi 3,172 12,76¢ (70) 3,17: 12,69¢15,86¢ 4,187 1982 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center || Tamp: 1,19( 7,601 64€ 1,19( 8,24¢ 9,43¢ 921 1983 5-40 yrs.
Cypress Center |—Land Tampi 3,08( 30C 3,08( 30C 3,38( 47 N/A N/A
Cypress Commor Tampi (4) 1,211 11,47 1,04% 1,211 12,52:13,73¢ 3,37¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
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2003 Building & Building & Building & Date of
Encumberance Improvements Improvements Improvements Depreciation Construction is Computec
Description City Land Land Land Total
Cypress Wes Tampi 1,942 61t 5,09¢ 924 61F 6,022 6,637 1,17¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Feathersound Corporate Cente Tampi 2,10¢ 80C 7,442 82¢ 80C 8,271 9,071 1,56¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Firemans Fund Buildin Tamp: (4) 50C 4,197 47 50C 4,24( 4,74( 692 1982 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plazi Tampi (10) 54& (545) — 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve Energy Pl Tampi 50C 50C 50C 71 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve Tamp: 1,61¢ 25,77¢ 1,61¢ 25,77¢  27,39¢ 3,387 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve Tampi 27¢€ 1,65( 27¢€ 1,65( 1,92¢ 47C 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve | Tamp: 1,38¢ 22,88: 1,38¢ 22,88: 24,26¢ 2,58¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve I Tamp: 1,63¢ 25,13¢ 1,63¢ 25,13¢  26,77: 2,54 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve Tampi 1,44( 21,057 1,44( 21,050 22,491 1,322 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Preserve '—Land Tamp: 63¢ 63¢ 63¢ N/A N/A
Highwoods Preserve Lar Tampi 1,802 231 2,03t 2,03t N/A N/A
Horizon Tampi 9) 6,23¢ 1,28¢ 7,52t 7,52t 1,102 1980 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe Tamp: (9) 2,00¢ 15,84¢ 12,05¢ 2,00( 27,907 29,907 4,161 1999 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe Il Tampi 9) 2,10C 32,861 2,10( 32,86! 34,96: 5,24: 1986 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside Tampi 9) 7,34¢ 11C 7,45¢ 7,45¢ 1,14% 1978 5-40 yrs.
Northside Square Offic Tamp: 601 3,637 367 601 4,00¢ 4,60t 687 1986 5-40 yrs.
Northside Square Office/Ret: Tampi 80C 2,83¢ 158 80C 2,991 3,791 49¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
One Harbour Plac Tamp: (5) 2,01¢ 25,25 1,18( 2,01¢€ 26,43. 28,44¢ 2,53( 1985 5-40 yrs.
Parkside Tamp: 9) 9,381 82¢ 10,21( 10,21C 1,49¢ 1979 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Tamp: 9) 16,34¢ 1,93¢ 18,28: 18,28: 2,60¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Parking Garag Tamp: 9) 5,61¢ 5,61¢ 5,61¢ 58¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Registry | Tamp: 744 4,22: 644 744 4,86¢€ 5,61( 1,018 1985 5-40 yrs.
Registry Il Tamp: 90¢€ 5,15t 60¢€ 90¢ 5,76: 6,671 1,20¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Registry Squar Tamp: 344 1,95¢ 17¢ 344 2,13: 2,47¢ 42¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Cente Tampi 37t 2,131 24¢€ 37¢ 2,37 2,752 49z 1982 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center Tamp: 34z 1,93¢ 15€ 34z 2,09¢ 2,43¢ 45€ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center Tamp: 29C 1,64¢ 48 29C 1,69: 1,98 33z 1984 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center Tampi 81¢ 4,64t 23¢ 81¢ 4,88: 5,702 95¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center Tampi 1,02¢ 5,82 262 1,02¢ 6,08¢ 7,11C 1,17( 1988 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center ' Tamp: 1,60¢ 9,12¢ 2717 1,60¢ 9,40t 11,01« 1,69¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Business Center \ Tampi 1,51¢ 8,617 42C 1,51¢ 9,037 10,55¢ 1,592 1990 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Industrial Park Lar Tamp: 322 4 327 327 N/A N/A
Sabal Lake Building Tamp: 572 3,24¢ 697 572 3,94% 4,51¢ 73C 1986 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Park Plaz Tampi 611 3,46¢ 41C 611 3,87¢ 4,48¢ 1,007 1987 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Pavilion Tamp: 964 11,93¢ 964 11,93¢ 12,90% 1,84¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Sabal Pavilion | Tampi 561 561 561 N/A N/A
Sabal Tech Centt¢ Tampi 54¢ 3,111 93 54¢ 3,20¢ 3,752 59z 1989 5-40 yrs.
Spectrurr Tamp: 9) 1,45C 14,46 1,88:¢ 1,45( 16,34« 17,79¢ 2,35¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Summit Office Building Tampi 57¢ 2,74¢ (579 (2,749 1988 5-40 yrs.
Tower Place Tampi (3) 2,28C 15,91: 2,262 2,28( 18,17¢ 20,45: 561 1988 5-40 yrs.
USF&G Tamp: 1,36¢€ 7,75¢ 2,25( 1,36¢ 10,00  11,37C 2,541 1988 5-40 yrs.
Watermark 10,14,1 Tampi 4,79 4,79 4,79: N/A N/A
Watermark 1% Tamp: 2,23: 2,23: 2,23: N/A N/A
Westshore Squal Tamp: 2,51¢  1,13( 5,20€ 274 1,13( 5,48( 6,61( 88¢ 1976 5-40 yrs.
671,60: 1,953,06: (55,157 998,06( 616,44« 2,951,12:3,567,56' 534,33

(1) These assets are pledged as collateral for a §13800 first mortgage loa
(2) These assets are pledged as collateral for an 6,600 first mortgage loa
(3) These assets are pledged as collateral for a 0@ first mortgage loal
(4) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $I20@ first mortgage loa
(5) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $20@&first mortgage loal
(6) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $48,0@D0 first mortgage loa
(7) These assets are pledged as collateral for a $4P@EDfirst mortgage loal
(8) These assets are pledged as collateral for a §ILO@Bfirst mortgage loa
(9) These assets are pledged as collateral for a ¥&6@®first mortgage loal
(10) Cost capitalized are offset by dispositi
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC.

NOTE TO SCHEDULE I
(In Thousands)

As of December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001

A summary of activity for Real estate and accumulatd depreciation is as follows

December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Real Estate
Balance at beginning of ye 3,576,31. 3,621,522 3,443,11
Additions
Acquisitions, Development and Improveme 239,22¢ 210,78t 336,67¢
Cost of real estate sold and reti (247,97) (255,99) (158,279
Balance at close of year ( 3,567,56 3,576,31 3,621,520
Accumulated Depreciatic
Balance at beginning of ye 461,97.  377,20: 280,77
Depreciation expens 111,36: 109,95¢ 104,78¢
Real estate sold and retir (38,99)) (25,18) (8,360
Balance at close of year ( 534,33 461,97: 377,20:
(@) Reconciliation of total cost to balance sluagption at December 31, 2003, 2002, and 200THousands
2003 2002 2001
Total per schedule Il 3,567,56 3,576,311 3,621,52
Construction in progress exclusive of land includedchedule 111 6,89¢ 6,42( 100,60t
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 21,81¢ 20,96¢ 19,39¢
Property held for sal (76,13) (182,199 (156,49()
Reclassification adjustment for discontinued opens 454 7,67t
Total real estate assets at ¢ 3,520,15. 3,421,95: 3,592,70!
(b) Reconciliation of total Accumulated Depréitia to balance sheet caption at December 31, 28R, and 2001 (in Thousant
2003 2002 2001
Total per Schedule Il 534,33°  461,97: 377,20:
Accumulated Depreciati—furniture, fixtures and equipme 13,92 9,20¢ 9,64¢
Property held for sal (10,407 (15,499 (8,892
Total accumulated depreciati 537,85 455,68! 377,95¢
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statements (Form S-3 Nos. 333-51678383-51759, 333-61913 and 333-99499-01 and
Form S-8 Nos. 333-38878, 333-12117, 333-29759 83d55901) and related Prospectuses of HighwoodsePtiies, Inc. and in the Registration Statements
(Form S-3 Nos. 333-51671 and 333-99499) and reRtedpectus of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersiipur report dated February 20, 2004, except for

Note 19 as to which the date is March 2, 2004, wvégpect to the consolidated financial statememissahedules of Highwoods Properties, Inc. include
the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year endeddeber 31, 2003.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 10, 2004



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Ronald P. Gibson, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesantain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuncgt® under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this annual repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operastand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this Annual Reg

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 1-14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

(@) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures diesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to Registrant, including its consolidated subsidgrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this annual report is being prepar

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’'s most
recent fiscal year that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the R@ant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatieernal control over financial reporting, to

the Registrar's auditors and the Audit Committee of Regisf's Board of Directors (or persons performing theivajant functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refprahcial information; ans

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a signifioéatn the Registra’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 15, 200

/s/ RONALD P. GIBSON

Ronald P. Gibso
Chief Executive Office



Exhibit 31.z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Highwoods Properties Inc

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesantain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuncgt® under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this annual repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this annual rej

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 1-14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

(@) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures diesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to Registrant, including its consolidated subsidgrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this annual report is being prepar

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’'s most
recent fiscal year that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the R@ant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer ankave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatieernal control over financial reporting, to

the Registrar's auditors and the Audit Committee of Regisf's Board of Directors (or persons performing theivajant functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refprahcial information; ans

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a signifioéatn the Registra’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 15, 200

/s/ TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Steven:
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Traas



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orléte hereof (the “Report”), |, Ronald P. Gibsonig€Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1)  The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2)  The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Comp:

/s/ RONALD P. GIBSON

Ronald P. Gibson
Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 200«



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orléte hereof (the “Report”), |, Terry L. Stevens¢c&/President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdapted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep#2002, that:

1)  The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2)  The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the Comp:

/s/ TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasur
March 15, 200«



